

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

8-1-2014

# The Effect of Acute LPS-Induced Immune Activation and Brain Insulin Signaling Disruption in a Diabetic Model of Alzheimer's Disease

Andrew Scott Murtishaw University of Nevada, Las Vegas, andmurtishaw@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations

Part of the Biological Psychology Commons, Medical Neurobiology Commons, Neuroscience and Neurobiology Commons, and the Neurosciences Commons

#### **Repository Citation**

Murtishaw, Andrew Scott, "The Effect of Acute LPS-Induced Immune Activation and Brain Insulin Signaling Disruption in a Diabetic Model of Alzheimer's Disease" (2014). UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones. 2199.

https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations/2199

This Thesis is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by Digital Scholarship@UNLV with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Thesis in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself.

This Thesis has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.

# THE EFFECT OF ACUTE LPS-INDUCED IMMUNE ACTIVATION AND BRAIN INSULIN SIGNALING DISRUPTION IN A DIABETIC MODEL OF

## ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

by

Andrew Scott Murtishaw

## Bachelor of Arts University of Nevada, Las Vegas 2011

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the

Master of Arts - Psychology

Department of Psychology College of Liberal Arts The Graduate College

University of Nevada, Las Vegas August 2014 Copyright by Andrew Scott Murtishaw, 2014 All Rights Reserved



## THE GRADUATE COLLEGE

We recommend the thesis prepared under our supervision by

## **Andrew Scott Murtishaw**

entitled

## The Effect of Acute LPS-Induced Immune Activation and Brain Insulin Signaling Disruption in a Diabetic Model of Alzheimer's Disease

is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts - Psychology Department of Psychology

Jefferson Kinney, Ph.D., Committee Chair

Laurel Pritchard, Ph.D., Committee Member

Joel Snyder, Ph.D., Committee Member

Frank Van Breukelen, Ph.D., Graduate College Representative

Kathryn Hausbeck Korgan, Ph.D., Interim Dean of the Graduate College

August 2014

## ABSTRACT

## The Effect of Acute LPS-Induced Immune Activation and Brain Insulin Signaling Disruption in a Diabetic Model of Alzheimer's Disease

by

Andrew Scott Murtishaw

Dr. Jefferson Kinney, Examination Committee Chair Assistant Professor of Psychology University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder marked by progressive cognitive impairments and pathological hallmarks that include amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles, and neuronal loss. Several well-known mutations exist that lead to early-onset familial AD (fAD). However, these cases only account for a small percentage of total AD cases. The vast majority of AD cases are sporadic in origin (sAD) and are less clearly influenced by a single mutation but rather some combination of genetic and environmental risk.

The etiology of sAD remains unclear but numerous risk factors have been identified that increase the chance of developing AD. Among these risk factors, Type II Diabetes Mellitus (DM) and chronic inflammation of the brain have been implicated as two leading risk factors. Longitudinal studies have identified that patients with T2DM have nearly twice the risk of developing AD. DM is a common metabolic disorder that affects a quarter of the elderly population with symptoms that include insulin dysregulation and altered glucose metabolism. Numerous studies link insulin resistance in the brain with an increased risk of AD. Intracerebroventricular (ICV) administration of the diabetogenic drug streptozotocin (STZ) leads to brain insulin resistance and several

AD-like pathologies including progressive deterioration of memory, increased  $A\beta$  load and hyperphosphorylated tau. STZ has been proposed to be a relevant animal model of sAD.

Additionally, neuroinflammation has been implicated in playing a fundamental role in the progression of the neuropathological changes observed in AD brains. Neuroinflammation is typically thought to be a result of one or more of the other AD pathologies and serves to rapidly progress the disease. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is capable of mounting an immune response through the activation of Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4). Studies involving transgenic models routinely activate the immune system by administering LPS to exacerbate AD-like deficits to better understand the role of neuroinflammation in AD.

The majority of AD models rely on genetic mutations and provide valuable information regarding the role of A $\beta$  and tau pathologies but do not represent the prevailing sAD. Considerable research has been conducted to help elucidate the risk factors associated with sAD, including DM and neuroinflammation. However, there is a lack of research regarding the role of neuroinflammation in this particular model of sAD. The purpose of this study was to investigate the effects of a one-time immune activation in the STZ model on learning and memory and proteins associated both with AD hallmarks and with various neurotransmitter systems. Results indicated that an acute inflammatory response played a beneficial role in spatial learning and in several of the investigated proteins. These data may help shed light on the role of brain inflammation in AD.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2 REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	4
Amyloid β Hypothesis	4
Tau Hypothesis	14
Cholinergic Hypothesis	22
Diabetes Mellitus Risk Factor	23
Neuroinflammation Risk Factor	28
Experimental Hypotheses and Implications	32
CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
Subjects	35
Surgery	35
Immune Activation	36
Treatment Groups	36
Behavioral Testing	36
Open Field	37
Novel Object Recognition	37
Morris Water Maze	38
Tissue Collection	39
SDS-PAGE (Western Blots)	40
Statistical Analyses	41
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	42
Temperatures	42
Weights	42
Open Field	45
Novel Object Recognition	46
Morris Water Maze	47
SDS-PAGE (Western Blots)	50
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	57
BIBLIOGRA	69
VITA	07
V11A	

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Experimental Timeline	
Figure 2	Temperature Data	
Figure 3	Weight Data	
Figure 4	Open Field Data	
Figure 5	Novel Object Recognition Data	
Figure 6	Morris Water Maze Data: Hidden and Visible Training	49
Figure 7	Morris Water Maze Data: Probe Trial	
Figure 8	Western Blot Data: Aß Oligomers	
Figure 9	Western Blot Data: ChAT, pTau, PP2A, pGSK-38	
Figure 10	Western Blot Data: Glutamatergic Related Proteins	
Figure 11	Western Blot Data: GABAergic Related Proteins	
Figure 12	Western Blot Data: Inflammatory Related Proteins	

#### CHAPTER 1

## INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that currently affects nearly 5.2 million people in the United States and is expected to triple to 13.8 million by 2050 as the life expectancy continues to increase <sup>1</sup>. Worldwide estimates are even more staggering with a current incident rate of 35.6 million and a 2050 projection of nearly 115 million individuals <sup>2</sup>. Symptoms of AD include progressive memory loss, cognitive decline as well as behavioral perturbations <sup>3,4</sup>. Behavioral alterations include anxiety, psychoses, confusion and apathy <sup>4</sup>. Pathological hallmarks of this disorder include amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs), and neuronal loss <sup>5-9</sup>.

The average age of AD onset is 65 years and is typically referred to as either lateonset AD (LOAD) or sporadic AD (sAD). A small percentage of AD, 1-5%, occurs earlier and is referred to as early-onset AD (EOAD), also known as familial AD (fAD). Several well-studied genetic mutations exist that lead to fAD, including mutations in the *amyloid precursor protein, presenilin 1* and *presenilin 2* genes. Mutations in these genes all lead to the same outcome, increased A $\beta$  peptides that result in amyloid plaque deposition. sAD accounts for the vast majority of AD cases (99%) and is thought to develop due to a number of risk factors. Two of the leading age-related risk factors for developing sAD include Type II Diabetes Mellitus (DM) <sup>10-13</sup> and chronic inflammation of the brain <sup>14,15</sup>.

Numerous studies have established high comorbidity between AD and DM <sup>16-20</sup> and have demonstrated links between insulin resistance in the brain and AD <sup>21-24</sup>. Patients with DM have nearly double the risk of developing AD, making it one of the top risk

factors <sup>16,17,25</sup>. Several mechanisms indicate overlap between AD and DM. In particular, insulin is capable of regulating the activity of GSK3- $\beta$ , which is responsible for phosphorylating tau at multiple sites that are characteristic of the NFTs seen in AD <sup>26-29</sup>.

Neuroinflammation has been implicated in exacerbating AD pathologies and rapidly accelerating the disease progression<sup>14,30</sup>. A growing body of research indicates that chronic inflammation facilitates both tau phosphorylation and A $\beta$  deposition <sup>31-33</sup>. Neuroinflammation has also been implicated in the worsening of learning and memory deficits seen in both normal aging and AD <sup>34-36</sup>, and is likely related to the above pathologies<sup>37,38</sup>. There are benefits of short-term inflammation in the brain, including microglia that degrade A $\beta$  and remove the debris of dead and dying cells, reducing the likelihood of further cell loss <sup>39-41</sup>. Neuroinflammation can become neurotoxic, however, when the response becomes chronic and uncontrolled, leading to increased A $\beta$  and senile plaque production, neuronal injury, and cell death <sup>30,42</sup>.

Considerable progress has been made investigating each of the above risk factors, DM and neuroinflammation, as they each relate to AD. However, there have been no investigations capitalizing on the combination of the above risk factors to investigate their interplay with each other, leading to behavioral and pathological characteristics of AD. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the effects of neuroinflammation in a DM animal model of AD. A widely accepted diabetic model of AD, utilizing streptozotocin (STZ) to disrupt insulin production and signaling in the brain, is often used to investigate the role that DM plays in the development of sAD. The below experiment investigated the effect of acute brain inflammation in this diabetic model of sAD by inducing an inflammatory response with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a potent immune activator. We examined learning and memory in multiple hippocampally-dependent tasks, including the Morris water maze (MWM) and novel object recognition (NOR), to assess whether onetime immune activation was sufficient to exacerbate deficits exhibited in this DM model of AD. We also examined hippocampal protein levels of A $\beta$ , phosphorylated tau (pTau), and numerous other neurotransmitter specific proteins to determine if alterations in these proteins occurred.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### **REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE**

## Amyloid β Hypothesis

Amyloid plaques, also known as senile plaques, are one of the defining pathological hallmarks of AD. Senile plaques were first described in 1907 by Alois Alzheimer and have been central to the postmortem diagnosis of AD to date <sup>43</sup>. Amyloid plaques accumulate extracellularly, resulting in cell damage and neuronal loss.

The A $\beta$  peptide was first purified from the brains of AD and Down's syndrome individuals in 1984 <sup>44</sup>, leading to the isolation of A $\beta$  from senile plaques the following year, providing the groundwork that A $\beta$  forms the core of amyloid plaques<sup>8</sup>. The current leading hypothesis, the amyloid cascade hypothesis, posits that early A $\beta$  deposition not only leads to the formation of amyloid plaques but the formation of NFTs, neurodegeneration and cognitive decline <sup>45,46</sup>.

Early observations that individuals with Down's syndrome, a disorder due to three copies of chromosome 21, often develop dementia similar in nature to Alzheimer's disease and develop virtually identical amyloid plaques, initially drew the focus towards chromosome 21 as a potential locus for AD development <sup>47</sup>. This focus on chromosome 21 lead to the discovery of the *amyloid precursor protein (APP)* gene, which is responsible for the protein, amyloid precursor protein (APP), that is eventually broken down into A $\beta$  peptides <sup>48-51</sup>.

APP is a transmembrane protein containing a large extracellular N-terminal domain, a hydrophobic transmembrane domain and a relatively short intracellular C-terminal domain <sup>52,53</sup>. Due to alternative splicing during posttranslational modification,

there are three major APP isoforms: 695, 751 and 770 (referring to the number of amino acid residues). The isoforms containing 751 and 770 amino acids are widely expressed in non-neuronal cells but appear to be present in neurons as well, whereas the 695 amino acid isoform is more commonly found in neurons than in other cell types <sup>54</sup>. The physiological function of APP remains largely unknown despite extensive research, although it appears to be involved in cellular processes such as long-term potentiation (LTP). LTP is a mechanism widely believed to be integral to learning and memory processes by enhancing the magnitude of excitatory postsynaptic potentials thus resulting in increased synaptic efficiency <sup>55-57</sup>. Additionally, APP has been proposed to play a role in cellular adhesion due to its ability to form homodimers and colocalization with proteins known to be involved with cellular coupling, such as  $\beta1$  integrins <sup>58,59</sup>.

APP undergoes a series of enzymatic events during degradation. Membrane bound APP is degraded at the plasma membrane but APP has been localized to other areas of the neuron such as the trans-Golgi network, endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria <sup>60</sup>. APP degradation is primarily carried out by enzymes called secretases  $^{61,62}$ . Each individual secretase ( $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -,  $\gamma$ -) cleaves APP at different cleavage sites and thus, depending on which secretase exerts its activity and in which order, can result in different proteolytic fragments of various sizes.

Each secretase is an assembly of unique enzymes, allowing them to exert differential effects on APP proteolysis. Enzymes associated with  $\alpha$ -secretase are associated with members of the ADAM (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase) family, which are known to target and cleave extracellular protein domains <sup>63,64</sup>.  $\beta$ -secretase activity has been linked to  $\beta$ -site APP-cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1), which also targets

extracellular protein regions  $^{65,66}$  while  $\gamma$ -secretase is composed of numerous enzymes, including presentiin 1 or 2  $^{67,68}$ .

APP is subject to two possible degradation pathways, a non-amyloidgenic (nonpathogenic) pathway which involves  $\alpha$ -secretase and  $\gamma$ -secretase cleavage or a amyloidgenic (pathogenic) pathway involving  $\beta$ -secretase and  $\gamma$ -secretase activity <sup>69</sup>. For APP to be degraded via the more prevalent non-amyloidgenic pathway,  $\alpha$ -secretase first cleaves APP at a site approximately 83 amino acids away from the C-terminus directly within the sequence of A $\beta$ . This cleavage by  $\alpha$ -secretase results in a short, membrane retained C-terminus fragment (CTF) of 83 amino acids (C83) and a larger N-terminal soluble ectodomain fragment (sAPP $\alpha$ ). CTF is further cleaved by  $\gamma$ -secretase forming yet smaller fragments, p3 and APP intracellular domain (AICD). In this non-amyloidgenic pathway, all of the cleavage byproducts are easily removed and managed by microglia and other phagocytic cells  $^{70}$ . The initial cleavage of APP within the A $\beta$  sequence prevents the formation of A $\beta$  peptides <sup>71</sup>. Alternatively, in the amyloidgenic pathway of APP processing, APP is cleaved by  $\beta$ -secretase at a site 99 amino acids away from the Cterminus resulting in an alternative CTF (C99) that is retained in the membrane and an alternative N-terminal soluble ectodomain fragment (sAPP $\beta$ ). The site of  $\beta$ -secretase activity begins just prior to the first amino acid residue of A $\beta$ , leaving the entire A $\beta$ sequence intact within the C99 fragment. The A $\beta$  peptide is formed when  $\gamma$ -secretase further cleaves the C99 fragment releasing the A $\beta$  fragment <sup>66,71</sup>.

Furthermore, depending on the site of cleavage,  $\gamma$ -secretase can produce A $\beta$  peptides of various sizes. The majority of A $\beta$  produced are 40 amino acids long (A $\beta_{40}$ )

though a slightly longer variant of 42 amino acids (A $\beta_{42}$ ) can be formed <sup>72</sup>. Research supports the idea that amyloid plaques are predominately comprised of the longer variant, A $\beta_{42}$  <sup>72,73</sup>.

The majority of APP proteolysis occurs at the plasma membrane but, because APP is also found in other cellular structures, degradation can occur intracellularly as well. A $\beta$  is also produced in both endosomes and the trans-Golgi network where all three secretases can be found but where  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -secretase seem to be more abundant, leading to an increased intracellular amyloidgenic processing <sup>74,75</sup>.

Aβ peptides appear to be part of normal brain physiology. For instance, Aβ is implicated in regulating synaptic function <sup>76</sup>. Increased neuronal activity, particularly NMDA receptor activation, appears to promote an increased production of Aβ by inhibiting α-secretase while simultaneously stimulating β-secretase cleavage of APP, which in turn depresses excessive activity in a negative feedback manner <sup>77</sup>. It has been proposed that as neurons lose sensitivity to this Aβ negative feedback, the elevated activity remains unchecked, leading to excitotoxicity and a further elevation of Aβ levels which can form neurotoxic fibrils <sup>78-81</sup>. Supporting the theory that elevated neuronal activity increases Aβ production, patients with temporal lobe epilepsy can develop large amounts of plaques in seizure focal areas as early as 30 years of age <sup>82,83</sup>. Furthermore, areas of the brain that tend to show the greatest amount of Aβ plaques exhibit the highest amount of resting baseline metabolic activity in both healthy and epileptic brains <sup>84,85</sup>.

Not only is APP important for LTP, as mentioned earlier, it appears that  $A\beta$  peptides may play a vital role as well. In vitro studies have shown that endogenous, low level  $A\beta$  is necessary for the induction, but not maintenance, of LTP within the

hippocampus <sup>86</sup>. Furthermore, Puzzo et al. demonstrated that  $A\beta_{42}$  is vital for both reference and associative memory.

While there appears to be a physiological role for  $A\beta$ , the balance of  $A\beta$  production to degradation, as well as the ratio of  $A\beta_{40}$  to  $A\beta_{42}$ , appears to be crucial for the development of both amyloid plaques and of AD onset. While both  $A\beta_{40}$  and  $A\beta_{42}$  are the primary constituents in amyloid plaques, a common finding in AD patients is a shift towards an increased  $A\beta_{42}/A\beta_{40}$  ratio <sup>73,87,88</sup>. This shift towards greater  $A\beta_{42}$  is particularly important because  $A\beta_{42}$  appears to be the more toxic form of A $\beta$  monomers due to its early deposition in amyloid plaques and the ability to aggregate into fibrils more readily than  $A\beta_{40}$  <sup>73,87</sup>. Differences in the initial aggregation of the two monomeric  $A\beta$  species, referred to as  $A\beta$  oligomers ( $A\beta_0$ ), have been observed. For example, when  $A\beta_{40}$  starts to aggregate, the resulting oligomers are more compact than those formed by  $A\beta_{42}$  oligomers. Interactions of the  $A\beta_{42}$  N-termini appear to allow the conformation of the oligomers to remain relatively loose due to their increased amino acid length thus freeing up the C-termini, a site necessary for protofibril and fibril formations <sup>89</sup>.

It is these A $\beta$  fibrils, characterized by a distinctive cross- $\beta$  structure, that form the dense amyloid plaques within the brain and accumulate along the walls of cerebral blood vessels <sup>90,91</sup>. Fibrillation is a complex pathway leading up to A $\beta$  fibrillogenesis; A $\beta$  fibrils are preceded by a number of intermediate structures that include A $\beta$  dimers and trimers, A $\beta$ o and protofibrils <sup>92,93</sup>. It has been proposed that because monomeric A $\beta$  is produced under normal physiological condition and may serve a functional role that the aggregation of A $\beta$  is required for the peptide to become neurotoxic <sup>94</sup>.

When referring to  $A\beta$ , the term "soluble" refers to any  $A\beta$  that is soluble in an aqueous buffer and remains soluble after high-speed centrifugation, indicating that it is not part of the fibrillar  $A\beta$ <sup>95</sup>. Thus, insoluble  $A\beta$  simply refers to  $A\beta$  fibrils and  $A\beta$  plaques that are not soluble in an aqueous solution. Soluble  $A\beta$ o are assemblies of  $A\beta$  monomers ranging anywhere from dimers to 24-mers, though larger  $A\beta$ o have been reported <sup>96,97</sup>.

Despite amyloid plaques being considered a pathological hallmark of AD, insoluble A $\beta$  plaques do not correlate well to neuronal death, synaptic loss, or cognitive impairments <sup>97,98</sup>. Soluble A $\beta$ o, on the other hand, do appear to correlate well with disease progression and severity of dementia <sup>75,98-100</sup>. Soluble A $\beta$ o are becoming increasingly accepted as an additional pathological hallmark separate from amyloid plaques <sup>60</sup>. Brains and CSF of patients with AD show increased levels of soluble A $\beta$ o as high as 70-fold compared to controls <sup>101,102</sup>. Elevated levels of soluble oligomers appear to be specific to brain regions associated with cognitive impairments in AD brain such as the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus but are not detectable in the cerebellum <sup>103,104</sup>.

The neurotoxicity of A $\beta$ o is becoming increasingly well researched. *In vitro* studies have shown that soluble A $\beta$ o, in the form of dimers and trimers, has the ability to reduce spine density of neurons at relatively low concentrations and induce long-term depression <sup>105</sup>. Low-weight A $\beta$ o bind predominately to post-synaptic structures in the hippocampus resulting in changes in spine shape and reductions in spine density <sup>104</sup>. Complimenting these studies, Ono et al. <sup>106</sup> demonstrated that A $\beta$  dimers are three times more damaging than monomers, while trimers and tetramers are almost 13-fold more neurotoxic *in vitro*. Mice expressing a variant of human APP linked to AD (Tg2576)

were found to have significantly elevated levels of 12-mers (~56 kD), which correlated highly with spatial learning impairments <sup>107</sup>. A $\beta$ o of various sizes can disrupt membrane stability and allow aberrant ion flow, such as Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx which can lead to excitotoxicity <sup>108,109</sup>

As mentioned, the amyloid cascade hypothesis (ACH) is currently the leading hypothesis for the development of AD. The ACH, established in 1992, posits that A $\beta$  fibril formation leads to the neuronal death, memory loss, and dementia seen in the disease <sup>45</sup>. Due to the overwhelming research highlighting that A $\beta$  fibrils and plaques do not correlate well to severity of dementia, the ACH has been modified to propose that the small, soluble A $\beta$ o is driving the memory loss and dementia severity <sup>60,110</sup>. Specifically, the updated ACH implicates that early memory loss is due to synaptic failure rather than neuronal death and that this synaptic failure is driven by the A $\beta$ o rather than the fibrils <sup>103,110</sup>.

As the role of A $\beta$  in AD moves away from the damaging effects of extracellular A $\beta$  deposition (A $\beta$  plaques) and more towards intracellular accumulation of A $\beta$  initiating pathological processes, the possibility that intracellular A $\beta$  could be found within a neuron was initially met with skepticism. However, numerous studies have provided evidence that intracellular A $\beta$  does in fact exist within the human brain <sup>111-113</sup>. Furthermore, A $\beta_{42}$  has been demonstrated to be the primary A $\beta$  monomer located within neurons <sup>112</sup>. Accumulations of intraneuronal A $\beta_{42}$  have been shown to precede both NFTs and amyloid plaque formation in AD brains as well as the plaque formation in young Down's syndrome patients <sup>112,114</sup>. Neurons in brain regions susceptible to AD

pathologies, such as the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, appear to be particularly prone to accumulating  $A\beta_{42}$  peptides <sup>92</sup>.

Numerous animal models of AD lend support to the theory of early intraneuronal A $\beta_{42}$  leading to other AD-like pathologies. Double transgenic mice harboring both human APP and PS1 mutation display typical plaque formation seen in AD brains, but these plaques are preceded by intraneuronal accumulation of A $\beta_{42}$  <sup>115</sup>. Similarly, transgenic mice with Arctic and Swedish mutations (explained below) show strong correlations between intracellular A $\beta_{42}$  and cognitive impairments which both precede amyloid plaque formation <sup>116</sup>. Additionally, triple transgenic (3xTg-AD) mice (expressing mutations in PS1, APP, and tau), which are known to progressively develop both amyloid plaques and NFTs, exhibit synaptic dysfunction before plaques and NFTs and is correlated strongly with the accumulation of intraneuronal A $\beta$  levels <sup>117</sup>.

Genetic causes of fAD have been extensively studied in the last few decades. Specific mutations in three genes (*APP*, *PS1* and *PS2*) are all known to cause fAD. The common denominator in each of these genes is that they all affect either the metabolism or stability of A $\beta$ , or both. All APP mutations that are observed in fAD alter the processing of APP and thus lead to the overproduction of A $\beta_{42}$  <sup>118</sup>. One of the more common APP mutations, the Swedish mutation (APPswe), is a double mutation that resides on APP, prior to the A $\beta$  region, which leads to increased cleavage by  $\beta$ -secretase resulting in increased A $\beta$  production <sup>119</sup>. Another APP mutation, the Arctic mutation (APParc) leads to a particularly aggressive form of fAD with accelerated A $\beta$  production and increased A $\beta$  o and protofibril formation <sup>120-122</sup>. APParc is located near the  $\alpha$ -secretase cleavage site and affects APP processing by slightly altering the localization of

APP to areas of the cell, like endosomes and the trans-Golgi network, that favor proteolytic processing by  $\beta$ -secretase <sup>123</sup>.

Numerous other APP mutations have been identified including the London mutation which lies just outside the A $\beta$  domain and shifts production towards A $\beta_{42}$  <sup>124</sup>, the Flemish and Dutch mutations which lie within the A $\beta$  sequence close to  $\alpha$ -secretase cleavage site impairing enzymatic cleavage and thus shifting APP processing towards the amyloidgenic pathway <sup>125,126</sup>. In all, ~25 specific mutations occurring on *APP* are known to cause fAD <sup>127</sup>. Interestingly, there is one mutation located near the  $\beta$ -secretase site impairing amyloidgenic processing of APP in an Icelandic study that has shown to be protective against age related cognitive decline and AD <sup>128</sup>.

Presenilin mutations account for the greatest number of fAD cases. There have been to date, over 180 pathogenic mutations in *PSN1* (housed on chromosome 14), accounting for nearly 50% of fAD cases while 13 mutations in *PSN2* (located on chromosome 1) accounts for just 1% of all fAD cases <sup>129</sup>. The first mutations in both the *PSN1* and *PSN2* genes were discovered in 1995 <sup>130-132</sup>. As previously covered, PSN1 and PSN2 are proteins that comprise the components of the catalytic core of  $\gamma$ -secretase. PSN1 mutations lead to particularly aggressive early-onset AD with severe cognitive impairments that can begin as early as age 30 and often give rise to atypical symptoms such as ataxia and spastic paraparesis <sup>127</sup>. One particularly aggressive *PSN1* mutation, L166P, generally manifests during adolescence and results in exceptionally high Aβ<sub>42</sub> production <sup>133</sup>. As with APP mutations, PSN mutations generally lead to an increased Aβ<sub>42</sub>/Aβ<sub>40</sub> ratio. PSN mutations are most commonly the result of missense mutations of single amino acid substitutions throughout the PSN proteins <sup>134-136</sup>. *PSN2* mutations tend to be relatively rare and have a later age of fAD onset compared to *PSN1* mutations <sup>137</sup>.

The genetics of sAD appears to be much more complex than fAD. The vast majority of sAD occurs with no family history of AD and is likely to be an interaction of genetic susceptibility of multiple gene with the environment. To date, there is only one proven genetic risk factor associated with sAD, the  $\varepsilon$ 4 allele of the apolipoprotein (APOE) gene <sup>138,139</sup>.

APOE is a lipoprotein that is expressed in many organs, with the highest expression occurring in the liver followed by the brain <sup>140</sup>. In the brain, APOE is produced primarily by astrocytes and microglial cells and is a key lipoprotein in the regulation of lipid metabolism by directing transportation, distribution and delivery from one cell or tissue type to another through APOE receptors <sup>141,142</sup>. The *APOE* gene is located on chromosome 19 and contains four exons that make up the APOE protein. APOE is has three possible alleles ( $\epsilon 2$ ,  $\epsilon 3$ ,  $\epsilon 4$ ) that differ only by two single nucleotide polymorphisms on exon 4 <sup>127</sup>.

APOE  $\varepsilon$ 3 is the most common form of the allele and is present in a range of nearly 50-90% of the population, while  $\varepsilon$ 4 and  $\varepsilon$ 2 are expressed far less in the population, 3.35% and 1-5% respectively<sup>140</sup>. APOE  $\varepsilon$ 3 appears to confer no risk to developing AD, whereas APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 has been repeatedly implicated as a genetic risk factor for developing sAD <sup>143-144,145</sup>. APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 has been found to be present in as high as 50% of patients with sAD and the presence of one copy of the allele increases chances of developing AD by three times, while carrying two copies increases that risk to nearly 12 times <sup>143</sup>.

The mechanism by which APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  increases the risk of developing AD is not entirely understood despite the recent intensity of research directed towards it. *In vitro* and in-vivo animal studies indicate that APOE plays a role in the conversion of monomeric A $\beta$  into oligomers as well as a role in A $\beta$  fibrillogenesis <sup>146-148</sup>.

Animal models that express human APOE have demonstrated that the various isoforms can have differing effects on A $\beta$  accumulation with  $\epsilon 4 > \epsilon 3 > \epsilon 2^{-149,150}$ . APOE  $\epsilon 4$  is neither necessary nor sufficient for the development of AD and is thus only considered a risk factor and not causal as the genetic mutations linked to fAD. Polymorphisms in APOE alleles cannot be used alone for diagnosis or for presymptomatic diagnosis such as genetic testing of the known mutations that cause fAD <sup>151</sup>.

The vast majority of AD research has been directed at understanding the role that  $A\beta$  plays in the development of the disease. While amyloid plaques have long been considered the pathological hallmark of AD, there is still debate on their causative nature due to the lack of strong correlation with dementia severity. Given that the leading hypothesis, the ACH, has been revised to accommodate earlier  $A\beta$  products such as the oligomers and protofibrils, which do correlate well with dementia severity, there is little doubt that  $A\beta$  peptides play a role in AD pathogenesis.

## Tau Hypothesis

Another major neuropathological hallmark of AD is the presence of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs). Tau was first discovered in 1975 as a microtubule-associated binding protein that directly affected the way that tubulin was able to polymerize into microtubules <sup>152</sup>. Not until the mid 1980's were several laboratories able to identify that NFTs, seen so prominently in AD brains, were primarily composed of tau

14

<sup>7,153</sup>. A considerable amount of research has been conducted in unraveling the role that tau plays in both a healthy brain and in AD pathology.

Microtubules, composed of tubulin subunits, are the primary support structures in eukaryotic cells <sup>154</sup>. Microtubules help maintain cell morphology, establish cellular polarity and neurite outgrowth in differentiating neurons <sup>155,156</sup>. In neurons, microtubules not only give structural stability to the cell but also serve as transportation tracts for nutrients, neurotransmitters and various organelles such as mitochondria <sup>157,158</sup>. Tau has been shown to bind to microtubules to facilitate the assembly and stability of the tubulin subunits <sup>159</sup>.

The tau gene is located on chromosome 17 and contains a total of 15 exons that can be alternatively spliced to form six possible tau isoforms, ranging from 352-441 amino acids <sup>160</sup>. Tau mRNA is readily expressed in neurons, particularly within the axon <sup>161</sup> but has also been found in oligodendrocytes, which support neurons by wrapping axons to form the myelin sheath <sup>162</sup>. During development, only the shortest isoform of tau is expressed while the adult brain expresses all six isoforms, suggesting that tau is developmentally regulated <sup>163</sup>. Tau is composed of either three or four microtubulebinding domains, depending on the isoform, which is a result of alternative splicing of exon 10, located on the carboxy-terminal one-third of the protein <sup>164</sup>. The other region, the amino-terminal, comprising two-thirds of the molecule, is referred to as the flanking domain (or projection domain) and varies by isoform depending on how exons 2 and 3 are spliced, resulting in a differing number of amino acids in the terminal end of tau <sup>161,165</sup> Tau is a phosphoprotein, meaning that function is regulated by the addition and removal of phosphate groups, which primarily occurs on the projection domain. <sup>166</sup>. The addition of phosphate groups, performed by proteins called kinases, lessens tau's affinity for tubulin and thus reduces the binding to microtubules <sup>167</sup>. Phosphatases remove the phosphate groups which restore tau's affinity for microtubule binding <sup>168</sup>. While tau binding has been found to provide stability to the assembled microtubules, this binding interferes with the ability of the motor protein kinesin to also bind to the microtubules <sup>169</sup>. Kinesin, like other motor proteins, bind to microtubules and "walk" along the tracts with vesicles to deliver cargo vesicles to various parts of the cell <sup>170,171</sup>. The interplay of constantly phosphorylating tau to allow kinesin to pass and dephosphorylating tau to provide microtubule stability is a key aspect to a healthy functioning neuron. This balance between kinase and phosphatase appears to be disrupted in AD <sup>172,173</sup>.

Tau is found to be abnormally hyperphosphorylated in the brains of AD patients, about three- to four-fold higher than control brains <sup>7,167,174</sup>. Tau hyperphosphorylation leads to tau disassociation from microtubules and disassembly of microtubules, which leads to impaired axonal transport and cell death <sup>153,174</sup>. *In vitro* studies have shown that tau phosphorylation can occur on up to 85 residues, typically a serine or threonine amino acid; however, only about 10 sites have been identified in post-mortem control brains due to the fact that tau extracted from post-mortem tissue becomes rapidly dephosphorylated <sup>175,176</sup>. There are currently ~45 known sites of tau hyperphosphorylation in AD brains, a number that far exceeds the number of identifiable sites in healthy brains <sup>102,166</sup>. Theoretically, this abnormal phosphorylation could be due to decreased phosphatase activity, increased kinase activity, or a combination of the two.

*In vitro* studies have shown that more than a dozen different kinases and almost all known phosphatases are able to regulate tau phosphorylation <sup>165,177,178</sup>. *In vivo* studies indicate that the most important kinases involved in tau phosphorylation include mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK), GSK3- $\beta$ , cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5), cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA) and calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMK-II) which collectively are known to phosphorylate all sites implicated in AD <sup>179</sup>.

GSK3-β is a kinase that has been emerging as a key player in AD research, as it serves a role in regulating tau phosphorylation in both normal physiology and pathological condition. GSK3-β has been proposed to occur via both primed and unprimed phosphorylation. Primed phosphorylation occurs when GSK3-β activity follows phosphorylation by another kinase, allowing GSK3-β to recognize the newly phosphorylated residue <sup>180</sup>. Primed GSK3-β phosphorylation typically occurs at threonine-231 and affects the ability for tau to bind to microtubules. Cdk has been implicated as a kinase that can prime tau for further phosphorylation by GSK3-β <sup>181</sup>. Unprimed phosphorylation occurs independent of other kinase activity at sites serine-386 and serine-404 <sup>182,183</sup>. All of these sites are commonly hyperphosphorylated in AD <sup>179</sup>.

Protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A), one of the major tau phosphatases, appears to work against the kinase activities of MAPK, GSK3- $\beta$  and CaMK-II <sup>184,185</sup>. Calcineurin, also known is PP2B, is capable of dephosphorylating several sites of hyperphosphorylation and has been shown to have impaired function in AD brains <sup>186</sup>. Calcieneurin is the most abundant phosphatase found in the brain, particularly in the cortex and hippocampus, both areas heavily disrupted in AD progression <sup>187,188</sup>. Hyperphosphorylation affects the processing of tau in several ways. Firstly, the conformational changes that follow the phosphorylation of tau hinder the degradation by proteases thus making hyperphosphorylated tau more resistant to proteolysis than unphosphorylated tau <sup>178,189</sup>. Secondly, the hyperphosphorylation is essential for the self-aggregation of tau protein into paired-helical filaments (PHFs), which in turn makes up the characteristic NFTs seen in AD <sup>7,190</sup>. Hyperphosphorylation of tau results in a conformational change of increased  $\alpha$ -helices in the secondary structure, which is found to be considerably increased in the tau isolated from PHFs <sup>191-193</sup>. PHFs also demonstrate a characteristic  $\beta$ -sheet structure that is thought to be necessary in its formation<sup>194</sup>. Electron microscopy studies indicate that PHF appear as two hyperphosphorylated tau proteins wound together in a left-hand helical sense and the excessive phosphorylation is the only detectable posttranslational modification between normal tau and PHF-tau <sup>195</sup>.

Numerous investigations have established that PHFs are cytotoxic and likely contribute to the neurodegeneration in AD <sup>196,197</sup>. The cytotoxicity of PHF could be due to the hyperphosphorylation itself or the formation of the aberrant aggregates, though it is likely a combination of both. *In vitro* studies have shown that hyperphosphorylated tau is capable of inducing apoptotic pathways resulting in cellular death <sup>198</sup>. The self-aggregation of PHFs and formation of NFTs typically occur intracellularly. There is also an inverse correlation between extracellular tangles and the number of surviving neurons in areas of the AD brain with typically high intracellular NFTs <sup>199,200</sup>. This suggests that the intracellular NFTs precede the cell death and the extracellular NFTs are a result of cell lysis. Abnormal aggregations of hyperphosphorylated tau also attract normal tau and other microtubule-associated proteins (MAPs), specifically MAP1B and MAP2, to the

tangles which lead to the further destabilization of microtubules as well as morphological changes in the cell that lead to disruptions in transport delivery and synaptic contacts 201,202

Another form of tau, truncated tau, is known to be a major component of PHF <sup>203</sup>. Truncated tau, occurring when the carboxy terminus is cleaved typically at residue 391, has been shown to aggregate much faster and to a greater extent than wild-type tau with an intact carboxy tail <sup>204,205</sup>. Tau truncation at E<sup>391</sup> occurs throughout the AD progression but is particularly prevalent during the later stages <sup>206,207</sup>. Additionally, at least two other forms of truncated tau, cleaved at D<sup>25</sup> and D<sup>421</sup>, have been identified to be more abundant in the brains of AD patients <sup>208,209</sup>.

Various members of the caspase family, including caspase-3, have been found to cleave tau at all three truncation sites <sup>210-212</sup>. Caspases are proteases that are induced during apoptosis and are a key participant in the proteolytic cascade leading to cell death<sup>213</sup>. In neurons, caspase-3 is considered the major "killer caspsase" <sup>213</sup>. Caspase-3 is elevated in AD brains and has been found to be critical for A $\beta$ -induced apoptosis <sup>211,214,215</sup>. Though some studies indicate that tau truncation becomes more prevalent as the disease progresses, at least two studies indicate that truncation is an early event of NFTs formation as a result of accumulating A $\beta$  peptides <sup>216,217</sup>. Because evidence suggests that A $\beta$  accumulation typically proceeds NFTs formation in AD brains <sup>112,218</sup> and that A $\beta$ -induced neurodegeneration rarely occurs without the presence of NFTs in 3xTg mice <sup>117,219,220</sup>, truncated tau may be an early step in NFTs formation as intracellular A $\beta$ o activate caspases.

Abnormal tau phosphorylation, amounts of tau, splicing of tau and even mutations in the tau gene can lead to a number of disorders, collectively called tauopathies <sup>165</sup>. Tauopathies includes diseases such as AD, Down's syndrome and Pick's disease. Several mutations in the tau gene were discovered in 1998 in frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17 (FTDP-17), a related but distinct tauopathy, providing the first direct evidence that neurodegeneration could be linked, in part, to abnormal tau <sup>221-223</sup>. There have now been 25 identified mutations associated with FTDP-17 and tend to be missense mutations that occur in the microtubule-binding domain, which leads to decreased tau affinity for microtubules, alters binding to other proteins that bind to the region, and leads to increased self-aggregation <sup>221,224-226</sup>.

Several transgenic lines of mice have been established attempting to model the abnormal tau seen in AD. One of the more promising lines appears to contain the mutation P301L, a mutation based on one identified in FTDP-17 patients that is located in the microtubule-binding domain and reduces the affinity of tau for microtubules <sup>227,228</sup>. Mice expressing the P301L mutation experience an age-dependent progression of tau pathology similar to that seen in various tauopathies including excessive extractable PHF-like tau aggregates, deficits in spatial reference memory, forebrain atrophy, and hippocampal neuronal loss <sup>229-231</sup>.

Unlike A $\beta$  plaques, which do not correlate well with severity of dementia, tau aggregates and NFTs do correlate well with dementia severity, cognitive decline, and regional progression of AD <sup>5,232,233</sup>. The earliest noticeable neuronal loss in AD brains occurs within the entorhinal cortex of the hippocampus, which is also where NFTs are first observed. A $\beta$  plaques, on the other hand, are not found within the hippocampus until

late stages of the disease <sup>234</sup>. Tau pathology in the AD brain appears to follow a very specific pattern: starting in the entorhinal cortex, then other areas of the hippocampus, followed by the anterior temporal cortex and finally spreading into other cortical regions with the motor and sensory cortex typically being the last areas affected <sup>235,236</sup>. Severity of dementia strongly correlates with the progression of NFTs through the various brain regions <sup>236</sup>.

Unfortunately, there are limitations to the tau hypothesis. NFTs can be seen in non-demented individuals, similar to amyloid plaques in healthy individuals <sup>237</sup>. Additionally, animal models of tauopathies do not develop typical Aβ pathology, global neuronal loss, or the typical progression of NFTs through the discrete brain regions <sup>229</sup>. Despite considerable progress investigating both of the above pathologies neither is sufficient to account for all the symptoms observed in AD

Unraveling the role that  $A\beta$  pathology and tau pathology have in AD development and progression will undoubtedly be key to understanding the disease. The interplay of how these two pathologies interact is already beginning to unfold. The previously discussed ACH is essentially a serial model, which posits that  $A\beta$  plaques leads to NFTs, leading to cellular death and neuronal loss, and has already been amended to account for  $A\beta o$  and other intracellular  $A\beta$  species playing a causal role. More recently a dual pathway model has been proposed suggesting that increased  $A\beta$  load and increased hyperphosphorylated tau and NFTs can be linked by common upstream mechanisms, resulting in synaptic and cellular loss<sup>238</sup>.

APOE has been proposed as one of those common upstream mechanisms. As discussed above with regards to its role in A $\beta$  pathology, carrying the APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 allele is

21

also strongly associated with an NFTs load <sup>239</sup>. There is a strong correlation between increased tau levels found in the CSF of AD patients with APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 and the degree of cognitive decline <sup>240,241</sup>. Interestingly, one study indicated that young individuals with at least one APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4 allele, but showing no signs of dementia or cognitive impairments, had significantly higher NFTs in the entorhinal cortex than age matched controls indicating the importance of the  $\varepsilon$ 4 allele in the early stages of pathological development, particularly in early NFTs formation preceding cognitive impairments<sup>242</sup>.

## Cholinergic Hypothesis

Cholinergic cell loss is another characteristic feature found in the brains of patients with AD. The neuronal loss seen in AD typically begins in the basal forebrain before spreading to the hippocampus and other regions of the cortex <sup>243,244</sup>. Reductions in enzymes responsible for the production and degradation of ACh, primarily choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) and aceytlcholinesterase (AChE), are reduced in postmortem analyses of AD brains, which indicate that there is an overall reduction in cholinergic signaling in the cortex and hippocampus <sup>245,246</sup>. Investigations of post-mortem tissue from patients recently diagnosed with AD indicate that there is a selective disruption to the cholinergic neurotransmitter system, whereas brains from later stage AD patients demonstrate disruptions to multiple other neurotransmitter systems <sup>247,248</sup>. Additionally, the degree of cholinergic loss correlates well with the severity of dementia seen in AD patients <sup>246,249</sup>.

The reason for the selective cholinergic perturbations is currently unknown but has lead to considerable research investigating the reason that cholinergic systems appear to be disrupted first as well as towards treatments that potentiate the cholinergic system. Early attempts focused primarily on replacing ACh precursors, such as choline and lecithin but ultimately failed to increase cholinergic activity nor did they improve AD deficits <sup>250</sup>. Alternative approaches investigated elevating cholinergic tone by blocking enzymatic breakdown of ACh using AChE inhibitors (AChEI). AChEI were introduced in 1997 and have demonstrated promise in slowing the progression of AD deficits compared to other investigational therapies. AChEI work by delaying the degradation of ACh released within the synaptic cleft by AChE, thereby enhancing cholinergic transmission. AChE inhibitors do not prevent the progression of the disease, but can slow the progression of symptoms for mild to moderate AD patients <sup>251-254</sup>.

The cholinergic hypothesis is not able to account for all the deficits and pathological markers seen in AD but has provided valuable insight into the some of the mechanisms that underlie the disease. Investigations into other contributing mechanisms, such as risk factors like Diabetes Mellitus and neuroinflammation, particularly as they relate to sAD, will no doubt continue to provide valuable insight into understanding the disease development and progression.

#### Diabetes Mellitus Risk Factor

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a common metabolic disorder affecting nearly 40-50% of the elderly population. DM exhibits characteristic symptoms of hyperglycemia, impaired insulin secretion and insulin resistance. Mild to severe cognitive impairments have been reported in patients with both Type I- and Type II-DM <sup>255-257</sup>. Additionally, the effects of DM on the brain and cognition are most pronounced in aging brains and could be due to the interaction between DM and a normally aging brain <sup>256,258</sup>

Numerous studies have shown high levels of AD and DM comorbidity <sup>16,17,20,25</sup>. The lifetime risk for patients with TII-DM is thought to be around 38% in developing AD <sup>259</sup> though certain populations have been reported to have nearly double the risk <sup>17,25</sup>. Interestingly, there is an increased risk for developing DM by racial ethnicity with African-Americans and Hispanic-Americans developing DM at nearly double, 1.9 and 1.6 respectively, compared to Caucasian-Americans <sup>260,261</sup>. This increased risk for DM by racial ethnicity with a particularly telling as this pattern is almost perfectly mirrored by the racial incident rates of AD <sup>262,263</sup>.

Because DM is a complex metabolic disorder with a varied symptomology that includes hyperglycemia, abnormal insulin signaling, cardiovascular disease and weight abnormalities, it is difficult to tease apart exactly which factors associated with DM could lead to an increased risk of AD. One factor that is increasingly implicated is insulin dysregulation and resistance. Numerous studies now link insulin resistance in the brain with increased risk of AD <sup>11,18,21,22,24</sup>.

The role of insulin in the periphery as it relates to glucose metabolism and disorders such as DM is well-studied but within the brain the role of insulin signaling is less well characterized <sup>264,265</sup>. Increasing evidence indicates that insulin is involved in several brain mechanisms independent of its glucoregulatory role including neuromodulatory roles, neurotrophic and metabolic functions, synaptic plasticity, and memory consolidation <sup>22,266-269</sup>.

The main source of insulin in the brain is produced by the pancreatic beta cells and is known to cross the blood brain barrier through transendothelial passage into the brain capillaries <sup>270</sup>. The insulin transporters are unevenly distributed throughout the brain, with areas such as the olfactory bulb showing the highest transport rate <sup>271</sup>. The brain is also capable of producing a small amount of insulin as evidenced from insulin mRNA found in areas such as the hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex, thalamus and olfactory bulb <sup>270,272-274</sup>. Insulin receptors (IR) are also widely distributed throughout the brain and are found particularly densely in the hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, hypothalamus and olfactory bulbs <sup>275</sup>.

Two types of IR have been identified in the mammalian brain: a neuron specific type and a peripheral type, which is also found on glial cells. Investigations of these receptors have elucidated that differences exist between IR found in brain and those in the periphery. For example, the neuron specific brain type IR is not down-regulated by insulin, whereas the peripheral type IR is down-regulated upon insulin binding <sup>276</sup>. Both IR types contain an  $\alpha$ -subunit and a  $\beta$ -subunit. Insulin binds to the extracellular IR  $\alpha$ -subunit, which induces autophosphorylation of the intracellular  $\beta$ -subunit leading to receptor activation<sup>277</sup>. IR located in non-brain tissue are almost structurally identical to IR located within the brain, with the main difference being the downstream targets activated once the receptor has bound insulin <sup>278</sup>.

Insulin binding is capable of regulating the activity of multiple kinases responsible for tau phosphorylation <sup>279</sup>. Insulin receptor activity involves a cascade that includes Akt and GSK-3, each of which has the capacity to impact the phosphorylation state of tau. Akt is a protein that is activated via insulin signaling and inhibits GSK-3 activity by phosphorylating GSK-3 <sup>280</sup>. Though originally identified for its role in glucose metabolism, GSK-3 is found throughout the body with the highest levels being in the brain <sup>281,282</sup>. Two forms of GSK-3 have been identified, GSK-3α and GSK-3β <sup>283</sup>. GSK-

 $3\beta$  is capable of phosphorylating tau at multiple sites that are characteristic of the PHF seen in AD <sup>28,29</sup>. Interestingly, Aβ peptides have been shown to activate GSK3-β and promote the hyperphosphorylation of tau, indicating a point of overlap between the two major pathologies in AD <sup>284,285</sup>. Other evidence suggests that PS1 binds both GSK3-β and tau, serving as the means to bring the two proteins into close proximity, linking both the amyloid and tau hypotheses <sup>286</sup>. Increasing PS1 via transfection experiments not only increases the PS1/ GSK3-β binding interaction but also levels of phosphorylated tau <sup>286</sup>. All of the above highlight that alterations in insulin signaling has the potential to impact both Aβ processing and tau phosphorylation.

As previously discussed, APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  is implicated in playing an important role in the development of AD and also has ties to DM. One study by Luchsinger et al <sup>13</sup> found that patients with DM and APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  were 3.8 times more likely to develop AD, while DM patients without the APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  allele were 1.8 times more likely to develop AD. Another study demonstrated that DM patients with one APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  allele have an increased impairment of insulin sensitivity compared to controls while DM patients with two APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  have an even greater impairment <sup>287</sup>. Post-mortem studies have shown that brains of DM+AD patients who also had at least one APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  allele had greater amyloid plaque deposition and NFTs than those without the APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  allele <sup>288</sup>.

In addition to the links between insulin receptor function and AD, insulin degrading enzyme (IDE) is known to be a major degrading enzyme for extracellular amyloid peptides  $^{289,290}$  and is upregulated by the presence of insulin  $^{291}$ . IDE mRNA levels are reduced in patients with sAD within the hippocampus while patients with sAD+APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 have a reduction in IDE mRNA levels of nearly 50%  $^{292,293}$ .

An animal model has been developed to mimic DM as a risk factor for developing sAD, utilizing compound called streptozotocin a (2-Deoxy-2methylnitrosaminocarbonylamino-D-glucopyranose; STZ). When given systemically, STZ generates a cytotoxic product that is selective for pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells<sup>278</sup>. STZ enters the cell via glucose transporter (GLUT2), where it alkylizes DNA, which triggers activation of ADP-ribosylation leading to NAD<sup>-+</sup> and ATP depletion, and ultimately leading to cell death resulting in a model DM<sup>294,295</sup>. STZ has been found to exert its effects via several mechanisms including inhibition of insulin synthesis, suppression of insulin responsive cells with GLUT2 and a decrease in the ability of IR to autophosphorylate itself<sup>294-296</sup>.

In order to study the effects of STZ on the brain without causing systemic DM, STZ can be administered directly into the brain intracerebroventricularly (ICV). ICV administration of STZ induces a state of brain specific insulin dysregulation by inhibiting IR tyrosine kinase activity which is thought to be responsible for IR autophosphorylation  $^{278,297-300}$ . This model produces profound cognitive impairments including deficits in spatial learning, active avoidance, inhibitory avoidance, reference memory, and working memory  $^{298,301-303}$ . STZ has also been shown to increase various epitopes of hyperphosphorylated tau and increase the amounts of truncated tau  $^{278,304,305}$ . Rodent pups administered STZ exhibited striking neuronal loss, cerebral atrophy, and structures that resemble senile plaques in the brain, which is a particularly interesting finding since rats do not typically develop senile plaques even in other models of AD  $^{306}$ . APP, A $\beta_{42}$  and various A $\beta$ o have all been demonstrated to be increased following STZ administration and appear to be mediated through increased GSK-3 $\beta$  activity  $^{307-309}$ . While not a perfect

model of sAD, STZ-induced insulin dysregulation does show deficits associated with sAD and is helping to elucidate the mechanisms of DM and insulin dysregulation as a risk factor.

#### Neuroinflammation Risk Factor

Recent studies point to the involvement of neuroinflammatory response playing a fundamental role in the progression of the neuropathological changes observed in AD. There have been reports of immune-related proteins and cells located within and near amyloid plaques in AD brains since the 1980's <sup>310-312</sup>. In the 1990's, several large observational and epidemiological studies were published suggesting that anti-inflammatory approaches, such as long-term anti-inflammatory treatment for rheumatoid arthritis, may be protective against developing AD, which has demonstrated as much as a six-fold sparing of AD <sup>313-316</sup>. A seminal study published in 2001 <sup>317</sup> demonstrated that NSAIDs had the ability to prevent, or at least retard, the age of onset of AD by reducing the risk to 0.2%. This lead to human trials and transgenic animal studies with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) that demonstrated that NSAIDs can reduce AD pathology <sup>318</sup>.

These epidemiological studies, retrospective observational studies and clinical trials all support the role that neuroinflammation plays, shedding light on another risk factor for developing sAD. Unlike other risk factors and genetic causes, neuroinflammation is not typically thought to be causal in nature but rather a result of one or more of the other AD pathologies and serves to rapidly progress the disease <sup>319,320</sup>. Meaning that chronic brain inflammation itself may not be sufficient to develop AD, but rather, when neuroinflammation is present, the course of the disorder, namely cognitive
decline and pathological hallmarks, are exacerbated both in the magnitude and the pace at which AD progresses.

The brain was originally considered an "immune privileged" organ in early neuroscience approaches. Due to the lack of lymph nodes and the blood brain barrier, it was thought that the brain was not susceptible to inflammation or immune-activation. It is now well accepted that brain is fully capable of mounting an innate immune response. Inflammation that occurs within the brain differs from inflammation occurring within the periphery. The classical signs of inflammation such as swelling, redness, heat and pain are typically not seen in the brain but rather characterized by an increase in size and shape of microglia<sup>14,321</sup>.

Microglia are considered the first line of defense for the CNS against foreign objects and pathogens and are characterized by their ability to mount a rapid response to even the slightest change <sup>321</sup>. Microglia typically exist in a resting state, characterized by a distinct ramified morphology, where they constantly monitor the brain environment. Upon activation they demonstrate a rapid change in morphology to an amoeboid-like cell with engorged processes <sup>322,323</sup>. Activated microglia are able to express a wide range of proteins involved with a mounted immune response including major histocompatibility complex II (MHC II), pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, compliment factors, reactive oxygen factors, proteases and C-reactive proteins <sup>14,70,321</sup>.

Cytokines in particular are small, nonstructural proteins secreted from a variety of both immune and non-immune cells, including neurons and glial cells <sup>324</sup>. Cytokines have diverse roles which can include either the stimulation or inhibition of cell proliferation, apoptosis, and inflammatory responses <sup>324</sup>. Cytokines consist of several classes including

interleukins (ILs), interferons (IFNs) and tumor necrosis factors (TNFs)  $^{325,326}$ . Cytokines can generally be classified into proinflammatory (IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ ) or antiinflammatory (IL-1ra, IL-4, IL-10); IL-6 can be either proinflammatory or antiinflammatory depending on the amount and condition in which it was released  $^{324}$ . There are numerous studies reporting increased levels of numerous proinflammatory cytokines including IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$  in AD brains, blood, and CSF  $^{15,321}$ .

Brain inflammation appears to be a double-edged sword, with a neuroprotective role when a limited acute-phase response occurs but with a detrimental role when a chronic response is mounted <sup>30,327</sup>. The benefits of short term inflammation in the brain are significant and include microglia that degrade A $\beta$ , remove the debris of dead and dying cells which reduces the likelihood of further cell loss, regulate brain development, and enhance neuronal survival <sup>39-41,328-330</sup>. However, neuroinflammation can become neurotoxic when the response becomes chronic and uncontrolled leading to increased A $\beta$  and senile plaque production, neuronal injury, and even cell death <sup>42</sup>. Chronically activated glial cells can kill adjacent neurons by secreting toxic products such as reactive towards the neuronal loss seen in AD <sup>42,70,331,332</sup>. In disease states such as AD, Parkinson's disease and Prion disease, brain inflammation is a chronic rather than acute response characterized by an increase in not only the number and size of microglia but a sustained activation that does not readily terminate <sup>327,333</sup>.

Early stage AD appears to exhibit a significant increase of activated microglia, before severe cognitive decline appears or neuronal loss is evident  $^{334,335}$ . Prior to development of symptoms, microglia are found clustered at the site of aggregated A $\beta$   $^{336}$ .

Furthermore, amyloid plaques contain several proteins associated with the inflammatory response including activated compliment proteins and pro-inflammatory cytokines <sup>337</sup>.

Because AD and other neurodegenerative disorders increase in prevalence with age, it is interesting to note that normal aging in the brain is accompanied with an increased number of activated microglia, particularly those that overexpress IL-1 $\beta$ <sup>338,339</sup>. Studies following microglial activity throughout the rodent lifespan reveal a progressive increase of microglial activation with age <sup>340-342</sup>.

Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity, both in animal models and in vitro studies, tends to be progressive in nature, which parallels the progression in AD and other neurodegenerative diseases <sup>343-345</sup>. To demonstrate the neurotoxic role of overactivated microglia, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is often used in animal studies. LPS, derived from the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria, is capable of mounting an immune response through the activation of Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)<sup>346</sup>. Toll-like receptors are among the most well studied pattern recognition receptors (PRR), which are proteins that are expressed by cells of the innate immune system to recognize infectious agents and markers of cellular stress <sup>347,348</sup>. There are currently 12 known TLRs and microglia have been identified expressing TLRs 1-9 <sup>348,349</sup>. LPS studies have demonstrated that only in the presence of microglia is there a neurotoxic effect indicating that microglia are necessary for the initiation of neuronal damage to occur <sup>350,351</sup>. LPS activation of TLR4 has also demonstrated a progressive loss of neurons, particularly dopaminergic neurons <sup>352,353</sup>. TLR4 activation has also been shown to have a neuroprotective role by promoting myelin repair and removing myelin debris in an animal model of brain injury following LPS administration <sup>354</sup>.

Additional support for the neuroinflammatory hypothesis is that head trauma and traumatic brain injury are environmental risk factors that have long been associated with AD <sup>355</sup>. In deceased patients, there is an increase of A $\beta$  deposits 1-3 weeks post-injury in the cerebral cortex and it has been demonstrated that elevated IL-1 levels are directly responsible for this increased APP production and A $\beta$  load <sup>355-357</sup>. IL-1 induces an increase of A $\beta$  deposits, which in turn increase cytokine levels through microglial activation, thus creating a vicious, self-propagating cycle known as reactive microgliosis <sup>358-360</sup>. Overexpression of IL-1 has also been shown to increase IL-6 production, stimulate iNOS activity, and additional IL-1 production, further adding to the self-propagating cycle <sup>361</sup>. Additionally, both IL-1 and IL-6 overproduction have been shown to stimulate the activation of cdk5 and kinase p38, both known to hyperphosphorylate tau <sup>362,363</sup>. Reactive microgliosis is proposed to be one of the ways that neuroinflammation is implicated in accelerating the disease progression in AD brains <sup>41,336,364</sup>.

Neuroinflammation appears to be initiated by  $A\beta$  pathology but serves a role in exacerbating both further  $A\beta$  production as well as tau hyperphosphorylation and NFTs formation. This dual role suggests that neuroinflammation could be a key link to the two leading AD pathologies, amyloid plaques and NFTs, as a risk factor for developing and progressing both types of AD.

# Experimental Hypotheses and Implications

The vast majority of animal models of AD rely on genetic mutations that occur in fAD and provide valuable information regarding the role of A $\beta$  and tau pathologies in the disease. These genetic models, however, do not represent the prevailing sporadic, late-onset AD. Considerable research has been conducted to help elucidate some of the risk

factors involved with sAD development, including DM (STZ) and neuroinflammation (LPS). Studies involving transgenic models of AD routinely activate the immune system to exacerbate AD-like deficits to better understand the role that neuroinflammation plays in AD. While considerable research has been invested in the STZ model of AD, an investigation of neuroinflammation in this particular model has yet to be conducted. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to begin a series of investigations on the effects of neuroinflammation in the DM animal model of AD. The necessary first step in these investigations was to determine whether an acute inflammatory response may be capable of altering AD like deficits in the DM animal model.

In order to disrupt insulin signaling in the brain, STZ-ICV was administered to adult male rats at a dose of 25 mg/mL (8µL per ventricle) consistent with the literature to induce a diabetic-like state within the brain. One week following surgery, animals received an immune challenge with a single administration of lipopolysaccharide (1 mg/mL, i.p.). Two weeks following the LPS challenge, animals began behavioral testing. Learning and memory were evaluated in the novel object recognition and Morris water maze tasks. We hypothesized that not only would the DM (STZ-treated animals) show learning and memory deficits but that the DM animals that received an immune challenge (STZ/LPS) would show more pronounced deficits in these tasks.

Following behavioral testing, we investigated protein changes consistent with those seen in AD. Specifically we evaluated A $\beta$ o, phosphorylated tau, receptor subunits of various neurotransmitter systems, and related proteins. We predicted that the DM animals (STZ) would show an increase in these particular protein markers and that the combination of STZ+LPS would further exacerbate these changes.

Hypothesis 1: We hypothesized that STZ, administered ICV, would replicate previous findings that lead to impairments in learning and memory, increased pTau, and increased A $\beta$  peptides, consistent with AD. Furthermore, we anticipated alterations to various neurotransmitter systems that have been implicated in AD.

Implications for Hypothesis 1: If central infusion of STZ produces behavioral and AD-like pathological features, we add to the literature that suggests that 1) insulin signaling in the brain plays a role in learning and memory and 2) the disruption of insulin signaling in the brain leads to outcomes that are seen in AD, namely A $\beta$  and tau pathologies, which may underlie DM as a risk factor for AD. Furthermore, replication of STZ-induced deficits allows us to investigate the role of inflammation (see Hypothesis 2) in this DM model.

Hypothesis 2: We hypothesize that by acutely activating the immune system via LPS in the STZ-model of AD, we will see an exacerbation of learning and memory deficits, as well as further elevations of both  $A\beta$  and tau pathologies.

Implications for Hypothesis 2: If we see an exacerbation of AD-like deficits, both behavioral and histopathological, in STZ-treated animals that also received LPS (STZ/LPS), then this experiment will add support that immune activation, even one-time, may be detrimental in a brain that is already at risk due to altered insulin signaling. If no further deficits are detected, then an acute immune activation is insufficient to have a profound negative affect on patients with DM. The possibility exists that acute immune activation will have no long term affects on this model of sAD but is a necessary first step in understanding the role of the immune system when combined with DM as risk factors.

### CHAPTER 3

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Subjects

44 male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=11 per group) approximately 8 weeks in age and weighing 200-250 g were purchased from Taconic (Oxnard, CA). Rats were pair-housed in a temperature ( $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C) and humidity controlled facility until surgeries, after which they were individually housed with food and water available *ad libitum*. Lights were maintained on a 12:12 light/dark cycle, lights on at 7:00 am. All procedures were approved by the University of Nevada, Las Vegas Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and carried out in accordance with NIH guidelines for the appropriate care and use of animals.

### Surgery

Surgeries were performed under aseptic conditions. Anesthesia was a cocktail of ketamine (71 mg/kg) and dexmedetomidine (0.3 mg/kg) administered intraperitonealy (i.p.), as previously described <sup>365,366</sup>. Bilateral intracerebroventricular infusions were performed by lowering a guide cannula into each lateral ventricle using the coordinates 0.7 mm posterior and 1.5 mm lateral and 3.5 mm ventral to the surface of the skull <sup>367</sup>. Using a 25  $\mu$ L Hamilton syringe attached to a cannula and line, drugs were slowly infused at a rate of 1  $\mu$ L every 10 seconds followed by 1 minute before removing the cannula. Burr holes were covered with dental acrylic, and the wound sutured closed. Atipamezole (0.5 mg/kg) was administered to reverse the effects of the anesthetic following the completion of the surgery. Upon ambulation, rats were administered an analgesic of Buprenorphine (0.05 mg/kg; i.p.) and then returned to the colony room.

Buprenorphine (0.05 mg/kg; i.p.) was administered for an additional two days to alleviate post-operative pain. Animals were individually housed following surgery and monitored for any post-operative complications.

# Immune Activation

One week following the last surgery, animals received either saline or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and were monitored for 4 hours for symptoms of general malaise and immune activation. Weights and temperatures were monitored every twentyfour hours following LPS administration, until there was no longer a difference in temperature, followed by a final temperature reading one week after return of temperature to baseline.

### Treatment Groups

Streptozotocin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was dissolved in artificial cerebral spinal fluid (ACSF) to a concentration of 25 mg/mL. Animals received a bilateral ICV infusion of 8  $\mu$ L (per ventricle) of either ACSF or STZ. One week following surgery, animals received either saline (1 mg/mL; i.p.) or LPS (1 mg/kg; i.p.).

#### **Behavioral Testing**

One week following immune activation, animals were handled three times prior to the start of behavioral testing to reduce any possible anxiety in order to produce consistent data. Three weeks following STZ infusion, behavioral testing began consisting of open field (OF), novel object recognition (NOR), and Morris water maze (MWM). A simple timeline is provided below to show the basic outline of this experiment.



Figure 1. Experimental Timeline.

# Open Field

Animals were placed in a large open chamber for five minutes to measure overall ambulatory activity and anxiety-like behavior. A tracking system (Smart, San Diego Instruments, San Diego, CA) was mounted above the chamber in order to track movement of the animal. Analyzed data included time spent in perimeter and overall distance traveled.

# Novel Object Recognition

After introduction to the chamber during the open field task, NOR testing began 24 hours later. NOR consisted of a training day (Day 1) and a testing day (Day 2). During training, a pair of two identical objects (Object A) was placed in opposite corners of the chamber and animals were allowed to freely explore for five minutes, while the time spent exploring objects was recorded. Objects (Lego or PCV cylinder) were counterbalanced across groups as well as corner placements. 24 hours later, a long-term memory test was conducted consisting of a novel object (Object B) paired with an original object (Object A). Both NOR days were recorded by the tracking system and data analyzed included total time spent investigating object(s) and novel object preference. Manual scoring of object investigation time was conducted by multiple observers to ensure accurate data. Object investigation was defined as direct contact with the object or sniffing of the object within 2 cm of the animal's head.

#### Morris Water Maze

The Morris water maze task was conducted in a circular tank, 1.8 m in diameter and 76 cm in height, made of white polyethylene 4.7 mm in thickness (San Diego Instruments). Tap water, 48 cm deep, was maintained at a temperature of 25°C and made opaque by the addition of white non-toxic paint (Fresco Tempera Paint, Rich Art Color Company, Northvale, NJ), and changed every other day. The escape platform, a square platform 10 cm in diameter made of clear plastic, was placed in the center of one of the four quadrants (target quadrant), 30 cm from the inside wall of the maze and 1.5 cm below the surface of the water. For visible platform training, a large black and white cover was attached to the top of the platform and protruded 2 cm above the water.

Trials were recorded and captured using the video tracking system (Smart) recorded from a Sony Handycam camera connected to a Cobalt Instruments computer. Data collected for each trial consisted of a track of the animal, which includes the latency and distance traveled to locate the platform, speed of swimming, and thigmotaxis. On the probe trial the tracking system also recorded the amount of time subjects spent in each of the four quadrants of the maze, as well as the number of times the animal's path crossed over the previous platform location and its analogous location in each quadrant.

For the MWM procedure, subjects were taken individually from the colony room to a dedicated testing room containing the water maze, a computer desk, a table with the heating cage, and large geometric shapes positioned on each of the four walls, all serving as distal spatial cues. The rat was placed into the maze at one of three randomized locations, in the center of a quadrant that did not contain the escape platform (non-target quadrant). The rat was allowed to swim in the maze until it reached the hidden platform and placed its forepaws on the platform. If after 60 seconds the animal did not locate the hidden platform, it was guided to the platform by the experimenter. The rat was given 20 seconds on the platform to orient to distal spatial cues and then placed under a heat lamp for a total of 30 seconds between trials.

Three additional trials were conducted in an identical fashion, for a total of four training trials per day. Following the fourth trial, the animal was dried and returned to its home cage. The training trials for the hidden platform were conducted until control subjects reached a latency criterion of less than 15 seconds (4-trial group mean). A probe trial was conducted twenty-four hours following achievement of this criterion. For the probe trial, the rat was placed in the maze in the same fashion as during training, but the escape platform was absent. The single probe trial was 60 seconds in duration, after which the rat was dried and returned to its home cage.

The day after completion of the probe trial, a two-day visible platform training protocol was employed. A visible platform that extends above the surface of the water (intra-maze cue) was placed into the maze instead of the hidden platform. Four trials per day were conducted for each animal in the same fashion as during the hidden platform training, with the exception that the platform location was changed on each trial. Visible platform training was conducted in order to detect any deficits in visual ability and motor function.

# **Tissue Collection**

Animals were humanely euthanized via carbon dioxide asphyxiation the day following completion of MWM. Brains were quickly removed and the cortex,

39

hippocampus, and cerebellum were dissected out and flash frozen in dry ice. The dissected tissue was stored at -80° C until SDS/PAGE.

### SDS-PAGE (Western Blots)

Tissue was homogenized in a non-denaturing lysis buffer consisting of 1X RIPA buffer (Cell Signaling; 20 mM Tris-HCL pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCL, 1 mM Na<sub>2</sub> EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 2.5 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 mM  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate, 1 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, and 1 µg/ml leupeptin), 1 mM DTT, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 20 µg/ml aprotinin and 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS). Lysates were centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C, the supernatant were collected, and a protein assay to determine concentration was performed using the biciconinic acid method (BCA; Pierce, Rockford, IL). Samples (20 µg) were separated on 12-16% SDS-PAGE gels, depending on the protein of interest. Proteins were then electro-transferred to nitropure 45 micron nitrocellulose membranes, which were blocked in 5% milk in PBS with 0.05% and 0.1% sodium azide for two hours.

Individual membranes were then probed overnight at 4° C with one of the following primary antibodies diluted in 5% milk in PBS with 0.2% Tween (rabbit anti-amyloid oligomer 1:500, Millipore; goat anti-ChAT, 1:1,000, Millipore; rabbit anti-GABAB1, 1:2000, Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-GABAB2, 1:1000, Cell Signaling; mouse anti-GAD65, 1:2000, BD Pharmingen; rabbit anti-GIRK2, 1:1,000, Abcam; rabbit anti-GluR4, 1:1000, Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-IL-6, 1:250, Abcam; rabbit anti-NMDAR1 (NR1), 1:1000, Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-NMDA2A (NR2A), Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-NMDA2RB (NR2B), 1:1000, Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-NMDA2A (NR2A), Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-NMDA2RB (NR2B), 1:1000, Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-Phospho-GSK-3β, 1:500,

Cell Signaling; rabbit anti-phospho-Tau (pSer<sup>404</sup>), 1:1000, Sigma; rabbit anti-PP2A, 1:1,000, Cell Signaling; mouse anti-tau-5, 1:8,000, Millipore; mouse anti-TNFR1, 1:1000, ProteinTech; mouse or rabbit anti- $\beta$ -actin, 1:20,000, ProteinTech). Detection of specific binding was performed by incubation with IRDye near-infrared secondary antibodies (1:5000 or 1:10,000, LiCor Biosciences, Lincoln, NE) for two hours at room temperature. Following washes in PBS+tween, membranes were imaged on an Odyssey CLx Infrared Imaging System (LiCor) and an average intensity was obtained for each sample. Each sample was run in duplicate with  $\beta$ -actin or tau to normalize protein levels.

# Statistical Analyses

Differences in rectal temperature or weight were analyzed by one-way between subjects analysis of variance (ANOVA) with group as the factor. Open field data were analyzed by one-way between subjects ANOVA with group as the factor. The performance index (PI) of each group for NOR testing was analyzed by paired sampled t-tests compared to chance levels. MWM hidden and visible platform training data were analyzed by a repeated measures analysis of variance (RM-ANOVA) with days as the within subjects factor and group as the between subjects factor. Probe trial data were analyzed by one-way ANOVA with percent time in quadrant or annulus crossings as the factor. Western blot data were analyzed by one-way between subjects ANOVA with group as the factor. Tukey post-hoc comparisons of treatment groups were performed following any significant ANOVA to determine points of significance.

### **CHAPTER 4**

# RESULTS

### Temperatures

Immediately prior to LPS administration, no differences in baseline temperature were found ( $F_{3,38}$ =0.552, p>0.05; see figure 2). Twenty-four hours following LPS, both LPS treated groups experienced significantly elevated temperatures ( $F_{3,38}$ =25.185, p<0.001; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs LPS p<0.001, controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.001; see figure 2). Temperatures remained elevated forty-eight hours later for both groups administered LPS ( $F_{3,38}$ =17.691, p<0.001; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs LPS p<0.001; they post-hoc: controls vs LPS p<0.001, controls vs LPS p<0.001, see figure 2). By the third day after LPS, there was still a significant difference ( $F_{3,38}$ =4.165, p<0.05, see figure 2) but Tukey post-hoc comparisons did not reveal any significant differences between controls and the other treatment groups. By ten days later, all signs of a mounted fever response had completely disappeared ( $F_{3,38}$ =0.848, p>0.05, see figure 2).

### Weights

Weights were tracked along with temperatures to determine if LPS had any effect on body weight. Baseline weights prior to the administration of LPS revealed no differences ( $F_{3,38}$ =1.296, p>0.05; see figure 3). This baseline was established one week following surgery, indicating that STZ infusion had no immediate effect on weights. Immediately following immune activation, a significant difference in weights emerged with STZ/LPS having a lower body weight than controls ( $F_{3,38}$ =3.044, p<0.01; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.01, see figure 3). Additionally, Tukey post-hoc analysis revealed that STZ-treated animals had significantly higher weights than STZ/LPS (p<0.05, see figure 3).



**Figure 2.** Temperature Data. Prior to LPS administration (Pre-LPS), no significant differences ( $\pm$  SEM) existed between treatment groups. Following LPS injection, LPS- and STZ/LPS-treated animals had significantly elevated temperatures for 48 hours, after which temperatures began to return to baseline. \* = significantly different than controls (p<0.05).



**Figure 3.** Weight Data. Prior to LPS administration, no significant differences in average weight ( $\pm$  SEM) were noted. Following LPS injection, STZ/LPS experienced a significantly lowered body weight. \* = significantly different than controls (p<0.05). # = STZ significantly different than STZ/LPS

Other than the transient increase in temperature, one-time LPS administration alone did not have any additional effects in measures of open field, spatial learning in MWM, or Western blots. We analyzed controls versus LPS-treated animals and found no additional significant differences. No differences were observed during open field in distance traveled ( $F_{1,19}=3.716$ , p>0.05) or time spent in perimeter ( $F_{1,19}=2.072$ , p>0.05). No differences were observed in Day 1 NOR exploration time ( $F_{1,19}=0.046$ , p>0.05), Day 2 Performance Index compared to controls ( $F_{1,19}=0.022$ , p>0.05), and performance in Day 2 Performance Index was above chance levels, similar to controls ( $t_{10}$ =4.545, p<0.01). No differences were observed in the MWM in hidden training latency (F<sub>1.57</sub>=1.531, p>0.05), hidden training speed (F<sub>1,57</sub>=0.256, p>0.05), hidden training thigmotaxis ( $F_{1.57}$ =1.409, p>0.05), visible training latency ( $F_{1.82}$ =0.058, p>0.05), visible training speed ( $F_{1,82}=0.351$ , p>0.05), and visible training thigmotaxis ( $F_{1,82}=3.169$ , p>0.05). The LPS-treated animals demonstrated a selective search during the MWM probe by spending significantly more time in the target quadrant (F<sub>3,40</sub>=26.125, p<0.05; Tukey post-hocs of target quadrant versus each quadrant p<0.01) and in annulus crossings (F<sub>3,40</sub>=18.052, p<0.001), indicating that acute immune activation did not impair any measure of learning and memory observed in this study. No significant differences between controls and LPS in levels of total oligometric species ( $F_{1,18}=3.765$ , p>0.05) nor in the individual oligometric species analyzed (7mer (F<sub>1,18</sub>=0.234, p>0.05), 8mer  $(F_{1,18}=0.197, p>0.05)$ , 9mer  $(F_{1,18}=0.573, p>0.05)$ , 10mer  $(F_{1,18}=2.056, p>0.05)$ , 11mer  $(F_{1,18}=3.957, p>0.05), 12mer (F_{1,18}=0.049, p>0.05), 16mer (F_{1,18}=0.045, p>0.05), 18mer$  $(F_{1,18}=0.974, p>0.05)$ , 20mer  $(F_{1,18}=0.505, p>0.05)$ , 22mer  $(F_{1,18}=0.082, p>0.05)$ , 24mer  $(F_{1,18}=0.052, p>0.05)$ , 26mer  $(F_{1,18}=1.473, p>0.05)$ ). Additionally, there were no

differences in levels of tau ( $F_{1,18}=0.000$ , p>0.05), pTau Ser404 ( $F_{1,18}=0.081$ , p>0.05),  $pGSK-3\beta$  ( $F_{1,18}=0.34$ , p>0.05), NR1 ( $F_{1,18}=0.528$ , p>0.05), NR2A ( $F_{1,18}=1.228$ , p>0.05), NR2B ( $F_{1,18}=0.127$ , p>0.05), GluR4 ( $F_{1,18}=0.34$ , p>0.05), GABA<sub>B1a</sub> ( $F_{1,18}=0.193$ , p>0.05), GABA<sub>B1b</sub> ( $F_{1,18}=0.05$ , p>0.05), GABA<sub>B2</sub> ( $F_{1,18}=0.594$ , p>0.05), GAD65 ( $F_{1,18}=0.67$ , p>0.05), ChAT ( $F_{1,18}=0.308$ , p>0.05), PP2A ( $F_{1,18}=0.004$ , p>0.05), GIRK2 ( $F_{1,18}=0.955$ , p>0.05), IL-6 ( $F_{1,18}=0.002$ , p>0.05), and TNFR1 ( $F_{1,18}=0.758$ , p>0.5).

Because the control group and LPS-treated animals were statistically indistinguishable from one another in all behavioral tasks and protein level analyses, LPS was removed from all further analyses to remove additional variance. Analysis of controls vs LPS alone was necessary to cut down costs and excessive use of animals in future experiments by ensuring that a one-time LPS injection did not result in any long-lasting measurable changes. Studies that administer LPS to transgenic AD models typically do not include an LPS-alone group <sup>368-372</sup>, however, we wanted to verify that we would be able to eliminate this particular group from this study and any future acute inflammatory studies by confirming that an acute LPS administration was indeed statistically indistinguishable from controls. All analyses conducted below include only controls, STZ, and STZ/LPS.

# Open Field

Open field testing was conducted to both measure overall exploratory behavior and to determine if any differences in anxiety-like behavior exists. No differences were observed in the time that the animals spent in the perimeter of the arena ( $F_{2,27}=0.41$ , p>0.05; see figure 4a). Additionally, no differences were observed in the overall distance that the animals traveled throughout the arena ( $F_{2,27}=2.165$ , p>0.05; see figure 4b).



Figure 4. Open Field Data. No significant differences were observed in (a) the percent time spent ( $\pm$  SEM) in the perimeter of the open field arena or (b) the total distance travelled ( $\pm$  SEM).

# Novel Object Recognition

On the first day of novel object recognition (NOR), animals were placed into the same arena used for open field with two identical objects (either identical Lego blocks or identical PVC cylinders). No significant differences were observed in the total amount of time that animals spent investigating the identical objects ( $F_{2,27}$ =0.014, p>0.05; see figure 5a). Twenty-four hours later, animals were exposed to one of the objects from the previous day and a novel object (one of the objects that wasn't previously presented). The controls spent significantly more time with the novel object than chance levels would predict ( $t_9$ =2.268, p<0.05, see figure 5b). STZ and STZ/LPS failed to investigate the novel object more than chance levels ( $t_9$ =-.985; p>0.05 and  $t_9$ =-1.742; p>0.05, respectively, see figure 5b). Additional analysis regarding the novel object performance index showed that STZ and STZ/LPS spent significantly less time with the novel object compared to controls ( $F_{3,37}$ =6.592, p<0.01; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.05, controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.01, see figure 5b).



Figure 5 Novel Object Recognition Data. (a) Day one NOR, no significant differences were observed in the Day 1 total exploration ( $\pm$  SEM) of two Object A. (b) Day two NOR, controls spent significantly more time with the novel object (Object A) than the old object (Object B) than chance levels. STZ and STZ/LPS spent significantly less time exploring the novel object compared to controls. # = significantly greater than chance levels (p<0.05). \* = significantly different than controls (p<0.05).

#### Morris Water Maze

Latency to locate the hidden platform across successive days was measured for six consecutive days. STZ and STZ/LPS exhibited significantly longer latencies to find the hidden platform ( $F_{2,121}$ =10.613, p<0.001; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p=0.01, controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.01, see figure 6a). The overall distance traveled to locate the platform was significantly longer for the STZ group alone ( $F_{2,89}$ =4.559, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.05, see figure 6b). However, it should be noted that technical difficulties arose with the tracking system on Day 5 of hidden training and distance data of the path length of 8 animals was lost, potentially influencing these data. No differences were identified in swim speed during hidden platform training ( $F_{2,89}$ =1.064; p>0.05, see figure 6c). Thigmotaxis, the time spent swimming in the outer perimeter of the maze, was significantly elevated for STZ during hidden training ( $F_{2,89}$ =10.227; p=0.001; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.001, see figure 6d).

Twenty-four hours after the completion of the last day of hidden training, a probe trial was conducted. The STZ group failed to demonstrate a selective search as measured by spending significantly more time in the target quadrant (where the platform was previously located) compared to all the other non-target quadrants ( $F_{3,36}$ =6.442, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc: target vs adjacent left p<0.05, target vs opposite p>0.05, target vs adjacent right p<0.05, see figure 7a). Controls and STZ/LPS displayed a selective search during the probe trial (Controls:  $F_{3,36}$ =15.427, p<0.001, Tukey post-hoc: target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs opposite p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.001, targe

Annulus crossings, the number of times that the animal crosses the location where the hidden platform was previously located as well as the analogous location in each of the three non-target quadrants, is another measure of probe trial performance. Similarly to time spent in target quadrant, STZ failed to demonstrate a selective search when annulus crossings were analyzed ( $F_{3,36}=2.468$ , p>0.05, see figure 7b). Controls and STZ/LPS displayed a selective search during the probe trial when annulus crossings were measured (Controls:  $F_{3,36}=7.382$ , p<0.001, Tukey post-hoc: target vs adjacent left p<0.01, target vs opposite p<0.01, target vs adjacent right p<0.001; STZ/LPS:  $F_{3,40}=8.789$ , p=0.000; Tukey post-hoc: target vs adjacent left p<0.001, target vs opposite p<0.001, target vs adjacent right p<0.000, see figure 7b).

Following the probe trial, visible platform training was performed to assess visuomotor abilities. Significant differences were found in the latency to find the visible platform in the STZ/LPS group ( $F_{2,121}$ =6.058, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs

STZ/LPS p<0.01, see figure 6a). Due to the difference in visible latency, a forepaw reach was performed but no differences in basic visual function were observed. Path length to locate the visible platform was also elevated in STZ/LPS ( $F_{2,121}$ =6.313, p<0.01; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.01, see figure 6b). No differences were observed in swim speed during visible training ( $F_{2,89}$ =1.064, p>0.05; see figure 6c). Thigmotaxis was significantly elevated for both STZ and STZ/LPS during visible training ( $F_{2,121}$ =11.647, p<0.001; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.001, controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.001, see figure 6d).



**Figure 6** Morris Water Maze Data: Hidden and Visible Training. (a) Mean latency ( $\pm$ SEM) to find the platform. STZ and STZ/LPS had significantly longer latencies in hidden training, while STZ/LPS had a significantly longer visible latency. (b) Mean path length ( $\pm$ SEM) to find the platform. STZ showed a longer path length during hidden training; STZ/LPS demonstrated a longer path length during visible training. (c) Mean swim speed ( $\pm$ SEM) yielded no significant differences. (d) Percent thigmotaxis ( $\pm$ SEM). STZ displayed a significant increase in thigmotaxis during hidden training. Both STZ and STZ/LPS displayed a significant increase in perimeter swimming during visible training. \* = Significantly different than controls (p<0.05)



**Figure 7** Morris Water Maze Data: Probe Trial. (a) Mean proportion time spent in target quadrant compared to the other non-target quadrants. Controls and STZ/LPS displayed selective searches while STZ failed to demonstrate a selective search. (b) Mean number of annulus crossings in target quadrant compared to analogous areas in non-target quadrants. Controls and STZ/LPS displayed a selective search while STZ did not demonstrate a selective search. \* Target quadrant is significantly different than all three non-target quadrants (p<0.05).

### SDS-PAGE (Western Blots)

Protein levels of the three major pathological hallmarks: A $\beta$  deposition, hyperphosphorylated tau and cholinergic loss were examined in the hippocampus. To explore the effects on A $\beta$ , oligomeric A $\beta$  was probed. A $\beta$  oligomers can be identified in these western blots starting at 7mer and increasing up to 24mer. STZ and STZ/LPS groups showed significant elevations when all oligomeric species were combined (F<sub>2,387</sub>=26.209, p<0.001; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.001, controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.001, see figure 8a). Post-hoc analysis also revealed that while both STZ and STZ/LPS were significantly elevated, there was a significant difference between the STZ group and the STZ/LPS group in total oligomeric A $\beta$  species (Tukey post-hoc: STZ vs STZ/LPS p<0.05, see figure 8a). Analysis of individual oligomeric species indicated a significant increase for both STZ and STZ/LPS, including the 11mer (F<sub>2,27</sub>=5.816,

p<0.01; Tukey post-hoc Controls vs STZ p<0.05, Controls vs. STZ/LPS p<0.05), and 16mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =8.943, p<0.01; Tukey post-hoc Controls vs STZ p<0.05, Controls vs. STZ/LPS p<0.05). Interestingly, only STZ alone showed significantly elevated levels of 10mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =3.828, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc Controls vs STZ p<0.05) and 22mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =4.985, p=0.014; Tukey post-hoc Controls vs STZ p<0.05), indicating that the acute immune response may have prevented the increase in certain Aβ oligomeric species observed in the STZ alone group. No differences were observed in 7mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =2.399, p>0.05), 8mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =1.252, p<0.05), 9mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =2.872, p>0.05), 12mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =2.476, p>0.05), 18mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =1.793; p<0.05), 20mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =2.518, p<0.05), 24mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =0.504, p>0.05) and 26mer ( $F_{2,27}$ =1.046, p=0.365). Please refer to Table 1 below, for a complete summary of oligomeric species.

Oligomer	STZ	STZ/LPS	F value	p value
8mer	1.76 (±.14)	1.37 (±.47)	1.252	>0.05
9mer	2.35 (±.13)	1.55 (±.36)	2.872	>0.05
10mer	2.90 (±.26)**	1.73 (±.40)	3.828	<0.05*
11mer	1.64 (±.15)**	1.75 (±.23)**	5.816	<0.01*
12mer	1.46 (±.10)**	1.26 (±.22)	2.476	>0.05
16mer	1.76 (±.13)**	1.50 (±.15)**	8.943	<0.001*
18mer	1.45 (± .23)	1.78 (± .42)	1.793	>0.05
20mer	1.7 (± .25)	1.47 (± .29)	2.518	>0.05
22mer	2.04 (±.27)**	1.61 (± .27)	4.985	<0.05*
24mer	1.07 (±.14)	1.17 (± .14)	0.504	>0.05

**Table 1** A $\beta$  Oligomers. Western blot data from the hippocampus showing mean A $\beta$  oligomers (±SEM). Values shown are proportion to controls, which is set at 1. STZ and STZ/LPS showed elevated levels for species 11mer and 16mer. STZ showed further increases for 10mer and 22mer.

Levels of choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) were also evaluated to determine if

there were alterations to cholinergic signaling. No differences were found in levels of

ChAT between any of the groups ( $F_{2,27}=1.23$ , p>0.05, see figure 9a).



**Figure 8** Western Blot Data: A $\beta$  Oligomers (a) Total oligomers were elevated for both STZ and STZ/LPS. STZ/LPS experienced significantly less of an increase compared to STZ. (b) 10mer, a representative species of those significantly elevated in STZ but not in STZ/LPS. (c) Representative western blot of A $\beta$  oligomers. (d) 16mer, a representative species of those significantly elevated in STZ and STZ/LPS. \* = significantly different than controls (p<0.05). # = STZ significantly different than STZ/LPS (p<0.05).

Evaluation of phosphorylated tau, specifically at the Serine 404 phosphorylation site, revealed significantly elevated levels in the hippocampus of both STZ and STZ/LPS ( $F_{2,27}$ =8.83, p<0.01; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.01, controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.01, see figure 9b). The amount of phosphorylated tau was investigated as a ratio to overall tau levels (pTau/Tau). Because overall tau levels served as the housekeeping protein, we also analyzed overall tau levels separately to ensure there was not a baseline bias when calculating pTau/Tau. Analysis of overall tau levels did not reveal any significant differences ( $F_{2,27}$ =0.063, p>0.05, data not shown).



**Figure 9.** Western Blot Data: ChAT, pTau, PP2A, pGSK-3 $\beta$ . (a) Proportion (±SEM) and representative blot of ChAT. No differences were observed. (b) Proportion (±SEM) and representative blot of pTau/Tau. Levels of pTau were significantly elevated in both STZ/ and STZ/LPS. (c) Proportion (±SEM) and representative blot of PP2A. No differences were observed. (d) Proportion (±SEM) and representative blot of pGSK-3 $\beta$ . There was a non-significant trend towards a decrease in both STZ and STZ/LPS. \* = significantly different than controls (P<0.05).

Evaluations of both a phosphatase, responsible for dephosphorylation of tau, and kinase, involved in tau phosphorylation, were conducted to investigate potential mechanisms behind the elevated pTau levels. GSK-3 $\beta$ , a kinase that phosphorylates tau at almost every known phosphorylation site, is itself inactivated when phosphorylated. We examined phosphorylated GSK-3 $\beta$  and found non-significant decrease (F<sub>2,27</sub>=1.805, p>0.05, see figure 9d) indicating that a reduction in the amount of inactive phosphorylated GSK-3 $\beta$  would signify higher amounts of non-phosphorylated GSK-3 $\beta$ . This could account for the increased phosphorylated tau levels seen previously. Protein

phosphatase 2 (PP2A) is known to remove dephosphorylate tau. No significant differences were found in PP2A levels ( $F_{2,27}=1.096$ , p>0.05, 9c).



**Figure 10** Western Blot Data: Glutamatergic Related Proteins. (a) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of NR2A receptor subunit. Expression of NR2A in STZ was significantly reduced. (b) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of NR2B receptor subunits. No significant differences were observed. (c) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of NR1 receptor subunit. Expression of NR1 in STZ/LPS was significantly reduced. (d) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of GluR4. No significant differences were observed. \* = significantly different that controls (p<0.05).

Protein levels of multiple specific receptor subtypes related to glutamatergic signaling were also analyzed in an effort to determine connections between the behavioral and biochemical changes. The evaluation of the NR2A subunit of NMDA receptors revealed a significant reduction in STZ ( $F_{2,27}$ =4.751, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.05, see figure 10a). There was also a significant decrease of the NR1 receptor subunit in the hippocampus for STZ/LPS ( $F_{2,27}$ =4.192, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc

Controls vs STZ/LPS p<0.05, see figure 10b). No differences were observed in hippocampal NR2B subunit levels ( $F_{2,27}$ =1.637, p>0.05, see figure 10c). Additionally, the AMPA receptor subunit GluR4 did not show any differences between groups ( $F_{2,27}$ =0.324, p>0.05, see figure 10d).

Examinations of multiple receptors and proteins related to GABAergic signaling were conducted. Examination of the GABA<sub>B1a</sub> subunit revealed a significant increase in the STZ group ( $F_{2,30}$ =3.813, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.05, see figure 11a). Levels of GABA<sub>B1b</sub> were also significantly elevated for the STZ group ( $F_{2,30}$ =3.656, p<0.05; Tukey post-hoc: controls vs STZ p<0.05, see figure 11a), Additionally, Tukey post-hoc revealed that GABA<sub>B1b</sub> levels were significantly different between STZ and STZ/LPS (Tukey post-hoc: STZ vs STZ/LPS p<0.05, see figure 11a). Evaluation of the GABA<sub>B2</sub> receptor did not reveal any significant differences in any of the groups, despite a trend towards an increase in the STZ group ( $F_{2,27}$ =3.081, p>0.05, see figure 11b). No differences were found in levels of GIRK2, an inwardly-rectifying potassium channel regulated by GABA<sub>B</sub> ( $F_{2,27}$ =0.436, p>0.05, see figure 11d). Similarly, no differences were detected in GAD65 levels ( $F_{2,27}$ =0.537, p>0.05, see figure 11c).

Several inflammatory markers were also investigated to determine if there were any lasting changes to the immune response. Examination of interleukin-6 did not yield any significant differences ( $F_{2,27}$ =1.224, p>0.05, see figure 12a). The evaluation of tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 (TNFR1), a receptor for TNF- $\alpha$ , did not reveal any differences between treatment groups ( $F_{2,27}$ =0.334, p=0.719, see 12b).



**Figure 11** Western Blot Data: GABAergic Related Proteins. (a) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of GABA<sub>B1a</sub> and GABA<sub>B1b</sub> receptor subunits. There was a significant elevation of GABA<sub>B1a</sub> and GABA<sub>B1b</sub> in STZ. Additionally, expression of GABA<sub>B1b</sub> was significantly different between STZ and STZ/LPS. (b) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of GABA<sub>B2</sub>. A non-significant increase was observed for STZ. (c) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of GABA<sub>B2</sub>. A non-significant increase was observed for STZ. (c) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of GAD65. No significant differences were observed. (d) Proportion ( $\pm$ SEM) and representative blot of GIRK2. No significant differences were observed. \* = significantly different than controls (p<0.05). # = STZ significantly different than STZ/LPS (p<0.05).



**Figure 12** Western Blot Data: Inflammatory Related Proteins. (a) Proportion (±SEM) and representative blot of IL-6. No significant differences were observed. (b) Proportion (±SEM) and representative blot of TNFR1. No significant differences were observed.

### **CHAPTER 5**

### DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION, AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The above study was designed to investigate the effects of an acute inflammatory response in a diabetic model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Specifically, we found that the infusion of STZ-ICV (Hypothesis 1) led to an impairment in non-spatial (NOR) and spatial (MWM) learning, alterations in several pathological hallmarks of AD, and disruptions to both glutamatergic and GABAergic signaling. Further, we hypothesized that a one-time administration of LPS to STZ-ICV animals (STZ/LPS) would further exacerbate the STZ-induced deficits (Hypothesis 2), however, we saw a subtle improvement in spatial learning, a reduction in A $\beta$  levels compared to the diabetic alone model, and restoration of several NMDA and GABA receptor subunits.

The diabetic model of AD utilizes streptozotocin, a diabetogenic compound. It has been reported that STZ-ICV disrupts glucose utilization through an insulin-dependent mechanism and targets myelin in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus<sup>302</sup>, leading to memory and protein changes similar to those found in sAD. In this study, STZ induced both learning and memory deficits, as well as an increase in several pathological features of AD without any differences in weight.

Temperatures and weights were tracked following LPS injection to determine if an immune response was induced. Indeed, following LPS administration, temperatures were significantly elevated in both LPS-treated groups (LPS and STZ/LPS) for the first 48 hours and then began to return to baseline after 72 hours. One week later, temperatures had completely returned to baseline levels. This temperature data supports other studies showing that following LPS administration, fever peaks between 6-8 hours and then

gradually returns to baseline <sup>373,374</sup>. Additionally, body weights decreased slightly in the STZ/LPS treatment group immediately following LPS but began to return to normal after a week, completely returning to normal body weights by the end of the experiment. Literature supports that LPS has a pyrogenic effect, attributable weight loss, and induces the release of numerous proinflammatory cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 <sup>375,376</sup>. More importantly, peripheral LPS induces neuroinflammation by increasing brain cytokine levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 <sup>377-380</sup> and activating microglia <sup>381,382</sup>. We can thus assume, based upon the weight loss and increased body temperatures following LPS administration, cytokine levels were elevated in both plasma and in the brain and that microglia were activated throughout the brain.

Animals were tested in the open field for locomotor deficits and anxiety-like behavior. Because no differences we observed in this task, any differences observed in the learning and memory tasks (NOR and MWM) cannot be attributed to differences in either exploratory behavior or motoric abilities.

The same testing arena used for OF was also used for NOR, the first learning and memory task. On the first day of NOR, also referred to as the familiarization phase, the subject was placed in the arena with two identical objects (A+A or B+B) and allowed to freely explore for 5 minutes. No differences were observed in exploration time, indicating that no treatment group showed a preference for one object over the other which would suggest a bias towards one side of the chamber (place preference). Additionally, regardless of which objects were presented during Day 1 (A+A or B+B) there was no difference in total time spent investigating the objects (object preference). Twenty-four hours later, animals were placed back in the arena with one old object and one novel

object (A+B). STZ and STZ/LPS exhibited significant reductions in their preference for exploring the novel object. NOR is one way of testing recognition memory in rodents, which has been shown to be mostly dependent upon the perirhinal cortex and hippocampus <sup>383,384</sup>. Previous work demonstrates that the perihinal cortex initially encodes basic information about familiarity or novelty of an object but decays relatively quickly, while the hippocampus encodes object memory through information about the experience of interacting with the object and maintains strong novel object preference after long delays <sup>383</sup>.

Studies have shown that NMDA receptor 1 subunit (NR1) knockout-mice in the CA1 region of the hippocampus significantly impaired object recognition <sup>385</sup>. While analysis only revealed a strong trend rather than a significant reduction of NR1 in STZ and a significant reduction in STZ/LPS, NR1 levels in the hippocampus was one of the few receptor subunits (GABAergic or glutamatergic) that showed large alterations in both STZ and STZ/LPS. This reduction in hippocampal NR1 protein levels might explain the NOR impairments seen in this experiment by both STZ and STZ/LPS. In this non-spatial, hippocampal-dependent task, both STZ and STZ/LPS failed to investigate the novel object more than the familiar object, suggesting that the one-time immune activation did not play a significant role in improving or further impairing learning in this simple task. Deficits in object recognition is commonly seen in patients with AD <sup>386</sup> and used to validate transgenic models of AD <sup>387-389</sup>.

Spatial learning and memory results from the Morris water maze yielded interesting findings. During the hidden platform training, the animals learn to locate and navigate towards a platform located just beneath the surface of the water. In this experiment, STZ

and STZ/LPS had significantly longer latencies to locate the hidden platform indicating that both groups experienced impairments in spatial learning. Furthermore, path length data suggests that the STZ/LPS animals may have taken a more direct route in their search strategy as the significant impairment seen in latency is no longer evident. There are multiple search strategies that an animal can adopt; the most efficient search strategy is to immediately orient to the extramaze cues and swim directly to the hidden platform. Another strategy, albeit less efficient, is for the subject to swim the perimeter of the maze until a specific location or cue is found and then orient itself toward the hidden platform <sup>390</sup>. Indeed, we see that the STZ group had significantly elevated thigmotaxis, whereas the STZ/LPS-treated animals did not explore the perimeter of the maze while orienting themselves to the same degree.

Even more compelling than the hidden platform latency impairments for both STZ and STZ/LPS are the probe trial data. In two different measures of probe performance, time spent in target quadrant and annulus crossings, STZ does not produce a statistically significant selective search, further indicating impairment in this spatial learning task. However, in both probe trial measures STZ/LPS demonstrated a selective search, performing at equivalent levels to the control animals. The difference between the two groups could be due to the difference in search strategies as previously discussed. STZ demonstrated a search strategy of swimming along the perimeter slightly longer than the other groups before finally locating the target location. Thigmotaxis, the amount of time spent swimming along the perimeter of the maze, can be measured to look for anxietylike behavior in this task. However, open field data demonstrated no differences in overall anxiety or exploratory behavior, allowing us to interpret the increased perimeter swimming time simply as a difference in search strategy <sup>391,392</sup>.

It is not entirely clear why in two hippocampal-dependent tasks, one non-spatial (NOR) and one spatial (MWM), the simpler non-spatial task revealed deficits in both STZ and STZ/LPS, but a subtle, yet significant, improvement for STZ/LPS in the more difficult spatial task, while the STZ did not experience that same benefit. It is possible that in the more complex MWM task, considerably more brain regions than just the hippocampus, including the amygdala, thalamus, locus coeruleus, basal forebrain, are recruited in order to carry out this cognitive task <sup>393</sup>.

One possible mechanism that may underlie the learning impairments discussed above is the differing presence of  $A\beta$  oligomers between treatment groups. As mentioned above in the introduction, research regarding the role of  $A\beta$  in AD has focused primarily on the presence of large aggregated amyloid plaques. Recent research, however, suggests that early AD memory loss can be better explained by the presence of small, soluble forms of A $\beta$  including monomers, dimers, and smaller oligomers <sup>394</sup>. Central administration of oligomeric A<sup>β</sup> results in MWM deficits in both hidden training and the probe trial  $^{395}$ . Lesne and colleagues found that infusion of AB 12mer (which they term A $\beta$ \*56) did not affect subjects ability to find the hidden platform in the MWM across days  $^{107}$ . Furthermore, they found that infusion of A $\beta$  12mer two hours prior to the probe trial resulted in impairments in probe performance. We saw an overall increase in total A $\beta$  oligometric in both STZ and STZ/LPS that may have impaired performance during the hidden training for both groups. Additionally, we saw an elevation of certain oligomers only in STZ, including 10mer and 22mer, which may give rise to the probe performance deficits seen only in STZ and not in STZ/LPS.

Additionally, NMDA receptors have been extensively studied because of their critical role in spatial learning. NMDA receptors are composed of subunits NR1, NR2 and NR3. Functional NMDA receptors contain one NR1 subunit and another one of several possible subunits, including NR2 (2A, 2B, 2C or 2D) or NR3. In the above experiment, there is a marked decrease in the NR2A receptor subunit in STZ animals. The use of NMDA receptor antagonists results in deficits in both hidden training and probe trial performance <sup>396,397</sup>. The reduction of NMDA receptor subunit NR2A in the STZ group could be a possible explanation for the impaired hidden and probe performance, especially due to the fact that STZ/LPS did not experience a decrease in NR2A levels and demonstrated a selective probe search. Furthermore, AB oligomers initially disrupt NMDA receptor function but ultimately results in the removal of NMDA receptors from dendrites <sup>398,399</sup>. Specifically, the NR1 subunit is a necessary component to the receptor complex or necessary for the assembly of the receptor complex that binds oligomers and allows for dendritic targeting of neurons <sup>400,401</sup>. NMDA receptors aren't themselves thought to bind A $\beta$  oligomers but rather act as a key player in the process, thus the endocytosis of NMDA receptors is likely an attempt to avoid further oligomeric targeting of the dendrites. In the above study, STZ treatment results in an elevation of oligomeric species, which likely targets dendrites via NMDA receptors, followed by the compensatory reduction in NMDA receptors, which ultimately manifests as cognitive disruptions in hippocampal-dependent learning tasks.

Postmortem studies of AD brains have revealed an increase in the  $GABA_{B1a}$  receptor subunit during the Braak stages III and IV <sup>402</sup>. Braak staging was first described in 1991 and is used to describe the degree and distribution of NFTs in AD brains. Braak

found that NFTs followed a characteristic pattern of distribution. In stages I and II, NFTs are limited to the transentorhinal cortex. Stages III and IV are marked by NFTs in the entorhinal cortex and limbic system. In the final stages, V and VI, NFTs are found throughout all cortical areas. Iwakiri and colleagues <sup>402</sup> found that the increase in GABA<sub>B1a</sub> subunits during Braak III and IV was transient, followed by reductions in GABA<sub>B1a</sub> in the later Braak stages. These alterations in GABA<sub>B1a</sub> suggest that GABA<sub>B1a</sub> expression changes with progression of NFTs in the hippocampus and cortex, contributing to the hippocampal circuitry dysfunction seen in AD patients. The elevated levels of GABA<sub>B1a</sub> exhibited in the STZ animals may mirror this transient increase of GABAergic tone seen in post-mortem AD brains.

It has been hypothesized that decreased function of NMDA receptors reduces activation of GABAergic neurons, lowering overall inhibitory drive, and thus leading to the symptoms seen in schizophrenia <sup>403</sup>. Building off of this hypothesis, it is entirely possible that the decrease in NMDA receptors found on GABAergic neurons are resulting in less activation of these inhibitory neurons. Neurons downstream from the GABAergic interneurons have not yet been affected like the GABAergic neurons that express the NMDA receptors and thus increase GABA receptors to compensate for a decrease in GABAergic tone. As previously discussed, oligomeric Aβ initially causes an increase in NMDA activity that ultimately leads to a decrease in NMDA receptor subunits <sup>398</sup>. Further, over-activation of excitatory amino acid receptors, namely NMDA receptors, leads to a compensatory activation of inhibitory tone in an attempt to counter the excessive excitatory activity <sup>402</sup>. Thus, the increase in GABAergic signaling in the STZ-treated animals could be a result of increased Aβ oligomers, which would first increase

NMDA activity causing the compensatory activation of inhibitory tone before internalizing the NMDA receptors. It is possible that the time course of the experiment captured the brief window of increased compensatory GABAergic tone before being downregulated following internalization of NMDA receptors, which might be the same small, transient window that Iwakiri and colleagues found elevated  $GABA_{B1a}$  in the earlier Braak stages prior to reductions in  $GABA_{B1a}$  levels.

It is possible that the increase in GABA<sub>B</sub> receptors seen in the STZ may be due to an entirely different mechanism that hasn't been explored yet. It has been shown that an increase in TNF $\alpha$  leads to the endocytosis of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors and an overall decrease in inhibitory synaptic strength <sup>404</sup>. IL-1 $\beta$  has been shown to reduce GABA inhibition in the hippocampus, though these studies utilized patch clamp recordings and didn't investigate whether GABA receptors were being removed from the synapse <sup>405,406</sup>. LPS triggers the release of several cytokines, including both IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$ , which may lead to the decrease of GABA receptor subunits (elevated due to STZ-treatment), bringing expressed levels back to levels that mirror controls in the STZ/LPS group.

We found elevated levels of tau phosphorylated at site Threonine 231 in both STZtreated groups. This finding is consistent with other STZ studies demonstrating an increase in pTau levels at numerous phosphorylation sites  $^{278,304,305}$ . Additionally, LPS has been shown to increase the amount of phosphorylated tau through numerous kinases including GSK-3 $\beta$  and cdk5  $^{28,29,368}$ . The amount of phosphorylated tau following STZ did not seem to be affected by subsequent treatment with LPS, suggesting that microglia activation played no role in either the rescue nor the exacerbation of tau pathology.

Additionally, we were interested to see if either STZ-treatment, alone or with
subsequent treatment with LPS, led to long-lasting changes in immune-related markers. We looked at levels of IL-6, a proinflammatory cytokine, which is released by LPSinduced activation of microglia cells and repeatedly reported elevated in patients with AD. No changes were noted in IL-6 levels in any treatment groups. We also investigated levels of TNFR1, one of two possible receptors for TNF $\alpha$ . TNFR1 promotes the activation of transcription factor nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B), which in turn promotes further production of proinflammatory cytokines <sup>407</sup>. We found no differences in expression of TNF1. Thus, the immune activation via LPS was indeed transient and did not cause long-lasting changes to these markers of immune function.

In the above studies, we hypothesized that an acute inflammatory response would be sufficient to mount a microglia response resulting in exacerbated behavioral and pathological changes when combined with STZ. As has been thoroughly described above, we did not see further deficits in the STZ/LPS but rather a subtle rescue in spatial learning during the MWM probe, significantly less elevated A $\beta$  oligomers, and restorations of the alterations of several NMDA- and GABA-receptor subunits that were changed in the STZ group. Lowered levels of A $\beta$  oligomers following immune activation may initially seem counterintuitive to the neuroinflammation hypothesis that an inflammatory response exacerbates and progresses AD pathologies, including A $\beta$ products. However, we know that an acute inflammatory response in the brain, when microglia are activated and then return to a resting state, is beneficial and plays a neuroprotective role. Indeed, numerous studies demonstrate that activated microglia will phagocytose and degrade A $\beta$  through activation of TLRs (TLR2, TLR4, and TLR9) <sup>408-</sup> <sup>410</sup>. Furthermore, inactive TLR4 in APPswe/PSEN1dE9 mice exhibited increased hippocampal A $\beta$  burden than mice with an intact TLR4 gene <sup>410</sup>. Intrahippocampal infusion of LPS into APP+PS1 transgenic mice resulted in activated microglia and resulted in a reduction of A $\beta$  load in the hippocampus <sup>411,412</sup>. Quinn and colleagues <sup>413</sup> demonstrated that seven days following intraperitoneal injection of LPS resulted in dramatic reductions of amyloid deposition in the cortex of Tg2576 mice (transgenic mice that carry the APP Swedish mutation). In the present study, it is clear that the overall elevation of total oligomers is markedly less when TLR4 is activated by LPS following STZ-treatment, presumably through microglia-mediated phagocytosis.

Our study set out to examine the role that insulin signaling perturbation plays in the development of AD-like deficits, both separately and in tandem with an inflammatory response, as neuroinflammation is implicated in accelerating the disease. Rather than an exacerbation of cognitive deficits and pathological markers, we saw benefits to spatial learning and several proteins that were restored following an acute inflammatory response in the STZ-treated animals. This finding, while initially surprising, compliments existing literature suggesting a brief immune activation that is quickly attenuated can play a beneficial role by activating microglia that can remove and degrade Aβ peptides. To our knowledge, this is one of only a few studies to investigate an immune response in the STZ-model, as it pertains to AD. These results help elucidate the role that the immune response may play in the pathogenesis of AD and pave the way for future studies to better understand the interplay of microglia and immune-related proteins with the disrupted insulin signaling seen in patients with DM. The interplay of inflammation in the brain and DM may elucidate common pathways and proteins between the two risk factors that, in turn, may lead to studies investigating potential therapeutic options.

Additional studies are necessary to determine when an inflammatory response shifts from being neuroprotective, as seen in the present study, to a neurotoxic role. Examination of chronic LPS injections following STZ-treatment may shed light on when this shift may occur, allowing us to create a timeline of beneficial microglia activation versus detrimental microglia activity. Additionally, a chronic LPS study would benefit from collecting whole brains and probing for activated microglia, by using an antibody for Iba1, to determine the extent of microglia activation that is occurring and in what regions of the brain.

Furthermore, limitations to the present study include the lack of data regarding insulin signaling. We cannot rule out that microglia activation may have partially restored insulin signaling or blocked some activity of STZ on insulin receptor signaling. Recent evidence suggests that fractalkine, a CXC3 chemokine that mediates interactions between neurons and microglia, plays an essential role in insulin signaling <sup>414</sup>. In future studies, examination of proteins related to insulin signaling should be included to support or rule out this possibility. Additionally, we found no differences in immune markers several weeks following the initial LPS treatment. Thus, it would be useful in a future study to remove brains shortly after the LPS administration to determine what cytokines and other immune related proteins, including fractalkines, were altered during that brief period that may have played a beneficial role.

Of particular interest for possible future studies would be to examine DM as a risk factor in a more translational approach by administrating STZ systemically rather than ICV. Peripheral STZ targets insulin producing cells in the pancreas and might be a better model of Type 1 DM. Furthermore, Type II DM is more often implicated as a risk factor than T1DM and can be induced by feeding rats high-fat chow. While both of these approaches would be extremely useful in creating models that can be easily translated to the human population, disrupting insulin signaling directly in the brain (STZ-ICV) allows for the elucidation of the role that brain insulin plays in normal functioning and when disrupted, its role in AD. Regardless of the route that insulin disruption is created (high-fat diet, peripheral STZ, STZ-ICV), understanding the intricate relationship that the nervous system has with the immune system is critical to our understating of AD and other neurological disorders.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Hebert LE, Weuve J, Scherr PA, Evans DA. Alzheimer disease in the United States (2010-2050) estimated using the 2010 census. *Neurology*. 2013.
- 2. Wortmann M. Dementia: a global health priority highlights from an ADI and World Health Organization report. *Alzheimers Res Ther.* 2012;4(5):40.
- 3. Heese K, Akatsu H. Alzheimer's disease--an interactive perspective. *Curr Alzheimer Res.* 2006;3(2):109–121.
- 4. Terry BM, Katzman RR. Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Ann Neurol*. 1983;14(5):497–506.
- 5. Arriagada PV, Growdon JH, Hedley-Whyte ET, Hyman BT. Neurofibrillary tangles but not senile plaques parallel duration and severity of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 1992;42(3 Pt 1):631–639.
- 6. Glenner GG, Wong CW. Alzheimers-Disease Initial Report of the Purification and Characterization of a Novel Cerebrovascular Amyloid Protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1984;120(3):885–890.
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung Y-C, Quinlan M, Wisniewski HM, Binder LI. Abnormal Phosphorylation of the Microtubule-Associated Protein τ (Tau) in Alzheimer Cytoskeletal Pathology. In: Vol 83. 1986:4913–4917.
- 8. Masters CL, Simms G, Weinman NA, Multhaup G, McDonald BL, Beyreuther K. Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1985;82(12):4245.
- 9. Terry RD, Masliah E, Salmon DP, Butters N, DeTeresa R, Hill R, Hansen LA, Katzman R. Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. *Ann Neurol*. 1991;30(4):572–580.
- Cheng D, Noble J, Tang MX, Schupf N, Mayeux R, Luchsinger JA. Type 2 diabetes and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. 2011;31(6):424–430.
- 11. Gasparini L, Netzer WJ, Greengard P, Xu H. Does insulin dysfunction play a role in Alzheimer's disease? *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 2002;23(6):288–293.
- 12. Haan MNM. Therapy Insight: type 2 diabetes mellitus and the risk of late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Clin Pract Neurol*. 2006;2(3):159–166.
- Luchsinger JA, Reitz C, Honig LS, Tang MX, Shea S, Mayeux R. Aggregation of vascular risk factors and risk of incident Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*. 2005;65(4):545–551.
- 14. Akiyama H, Barger S, Barnum S, Bradt B, Bauer J, Cole GM, Cooper NR, Eikelenboom P, Emmerling M, Fiebich BL. Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2000;21(3):383–421.
- 15. Hensley K. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease: mechanisms, pathologic consequences, and potential for therapeutic manipulation. *J Alzheimers Dis*. 2010;21(1):1–14.
- Arvanitakis Z, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Evans DA, Bennett DA. Diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer disease and decline in cognitive function. *Arch Neurol*. 2004;61(5):661–666.
- 17. Leibson CL, Rocca WA, Hanson VA, Cha R, Kokmen E, O'Brien PC, Palumbo PJ. Risk of dementia among persons with diabetes mellitus: A population-based

cohort study. Am J Epidemiol. 1997;145(4):301-308.

- 18. Matsuzaki T, Sasaki K, Tanizaki Y, Hata J, Fujimi K, Matsui Y, Sekita A, Suzuki SO, Kanba S, Kiyohara Y, Iwaki T. Insulin resistance is associated with the pathology of Alzheimer disease The Hisayama Study. *Neurology*. 2010;75(9):764–770.
- Ott A, Stolk RP, Hofman A, VANHARSKAMP F, Grobbee DE, Breteler M. Association of diabetes mellitus and dementia: The Rotterdam study. *Diabetologia*. 39:1392–1397.
- 20. Peila R, Rodriguez BL, Launer LJ. Type 2 Diabetes, APOE Gene, and the Risk for Dementia and Related Pathologies: The Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. *Diabetes*. 2002;51(4):1256–1262.
- 21. Craft SS, Peskind EE, Schwartz MWM, Schellenberg GDG, Raskind MM, Porte DD. Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma insulin levels in Alzheimer's disease: relationship to severity of dementia and apolipoprotein E genotype. *Neurology*. 1998;50(1):164–168.
- Frölich L, Blum-Degen D, Bernstein HG, Engelsberger S, Humrich J, Laufer S, Muschner D, Thalheimer A, Türk A, Hoyer S, Zöchling R, Boissl KW, Jellinger K, Riederer P. Brain insulin and insulin receptors in aging and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm.* 1998;105(4-5):423–438.
- 23. Kuusisto J, Koivisto K, Mykkänen L, Helkala EL, Vanhanen M, Hänninen T, Kervinen K, Kesäniemi YA, Riekkinen PJ, Laakso M. Association between features of the insulin resistance syndrome and Alzheimer's disease independently of apolipoprotein E4 phenotype: cross sectional population based study. *BMJ*. 1997;315(7115):1045–1049.
- 24. Münch G, Schinzel R, Loske C, Wong A, Durany N, Li JJ, Vlassara H, Smith MA, Perry G, Riederer P. Alzheimer's disease synergistic effects of glucose deficit, oxidative stress and advanced glycation endproducts. *J Neural Transm*. 1998;105(4):439–461.
- 25. Ott A, Stolk RP, Van Harskamp F, Pols H, Hofman A, Breteler M. Diabetes mellitus and the risk of dementia The Rotterdam Study. *Neurology*. 1999;53(9):1937–1937.
- Asuni AA, Hooper C, Reynolds CH, Lovestone S, Anderton BH, Killick R. GSK3α exhibits β-catenin and tau directed kinase activities that are modulated by Wnt. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2006;24(12):3387–3392.
- Cho J-H, Johnson GVW. Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3β Phosphorylates tau at both primed and unprimed sites differential impact on microtubule binding. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(1):187–193.
- 28. Lovestone SS, Reynolds CHC, Latimer DD, Davis DRD, Anderton BHB, Gallo JMJ, Hanger DD, Mulot SS, Marquardt BB, Stabel SS. Alzheimer's disease-like phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau by glycogen synthase kinase-3 in transfected mammalian cells. *Curr Biol.* 1994;4(12):1077–1086.
- 29. Muñoz-Montaño JR, Moreno FJ, Avila J, Díaz-Nido J. Lithium inhibits Alzheimer's disease-like tau protein phosphorylation in neurons. *FEBS Letters*. 1997;411(2-3):183–188.
- 30. Mrak RER, Sheng JGJ, Griffin WSW. Glial cytokines in Alzheimer's disease: review and pathogenic implications. *Hum Pathol*. 1995;26(8):816–823.

- 31. Buxbaum JD, Oishi M, Chen HI, Pinkas-Kramarski R, Jaffe EA, Gandy SE, Greengard P. Cholinergic agonists and interleukin 1 regulate processing and secretion of the Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid protein precursor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89(21):10075–10078.
- 32. Griffin WS, Sheng JG, Roberts GW, Mrak RE. Interleukin-1 expression in different plaque types in Alzheimer's disease: significance in plaque evolution. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. 1995;54(2):276.
- 33. Sheng JG, Mrak RE, Griffin WS. Glial-neuronal interactions in Alzheimer disease: progressive association of IL-1alpha+ microglia and S100beta+ astrocytes with neurofibrillary tangle stages. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. 1997;56(3):285–290.
- 34. Hein AM, O'Banion MK. Neuroinflammation and Cognitive Dysfunction in Chronic Disease and Aging. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol*. 2012;7(1):3–6.
- 35. McGeer PL, Akiyama H, ITAGAKI S, McGeer EG. Immune system response in Alzheimer's disease. *Can J Neurol Sci.* 1989;16(4 Suppl):516.
- 36. Ownby RL. Neuroinflammation and Cognitive Aging. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* 2010;12(1):39–45. doi:10.1007/s11920-009-0082-1.
- 37. Lee JW, Lee YK, Yuk DY, Choi DY, Ban SB, Oh KWK Hong JT. Neuroinflammation induced by lipopolysaccharide causes cognitive impairment through enhancement of beta-amyloid generation. *J Neuroinflammation*. 2008;5:37–37.
- 38. Varnum MMM, Ikezu TT. The classification of microglial activation phenotypes on neurodegeneration and regeneration in Alzheimer's disease brain. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)*. 2012;60(4):251–266.
- 39. Ard MD, Cole GM, Wei J, Mehrle AP, Fratkin JD. Scavenging of Alzheimer's amyloid beta-protein by microglia in culture. *J Neurosci Res.* 1996;43(2):190–202.
- 40. Fetler L, Amigorena S. Brain under surveillance: The microglia patrol. *Science*. 2005;309(5733):392–393.
- 41. Streit WJ, Walter SA, Pennell NA. Reactive microgliosis. *Progress in Neurobiology*. 1999;57(6):563–581.
- 42. Halliday G, Robinson SR, Shepherd C, Kril J. Alzheimer's disease and inflammation: a review of cellular and therapeutic mechanisms. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* 2003;27(12):1–8.
- 43. Alzheimer A. About a peculiar disease of the cerebral cortex. By Alois Alzheimer, 1907 (Translated by L. Jarvik and H. Greenson). 1987:3–8.
- 44. Glenner GG, Wong CW. Alzheimer"s disease and Down"s syndrome: sharing of a unique cerebrovascular amyloid fibril protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1984;122(3):1131–1135.
- 45. Hardy JA, Higgins GA. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Science*. 1992;256(5054):184–185.
- 46. Selkoe DJ. The molecular pathology of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*. 1991;6(4):487–498.
- 47. Olson MI, Shaw CM. Presenile dementia and Alzheimer's disease in mongolism. *Brain*. 1969;92(1):147–156.
- 48. Goldgaber D, Lerman MI, McBride OW, Saffiotti U, Gajdusek DC.

Characterization and chromosomal localization of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of Alzheimer's disease. *Science*. 1987;235(4791):877–880.

- 49. Kang JJ, Lemaire HG, Unterbeck A, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Grzeschik KH, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K. The Precursor of Alzheimers-Disease Amyloid-A4 Protein Resembles a Cell-Surface Receptor. *Nature*. 1987;325(6106):733–736.
- 50. Robakis NK, Ramakrishna N, Wolfe G, Wisniewski HM. Molecular cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding the cerebrovascular and the neuritic plaque amyloid peptides. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1987;84(12):4190–4194.
- 51. Tanzi RE, Gusella JF, Watkins PC, Bruns GA, George-Hyslop PS, Van Keuren ML, Patterson D, Pagan S, Kurnit DM, Neve RL. Amyloid beta protein gene: cDNA, mRNA distribution, and genetic linkage near the Alzheimer locus. *Science*. 1987;235(4791):880–884.
- 52. De Strooper B, Annaert W. Proteolytic processing and cell biological functions of the amyloid precursor protein. *J Cell Sci.* 2000;113 (Pt 11):1857–1870.
- 53. Vetrivel KS, Thinakaran G. Amyloidogenic processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein in intracellular compartments. *Neurology*. 2006;66(2 Suppl 1):S69–S73.
- 54. Haass C, Hung AY, Selkoe DJ. Processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein in microglia and astrocytes favors an internal localization over constitutive secretion. *J Neurosci*. 1991;11(12):3783–3793.
- 55. Dawson GR, Seabrook GR, Zheng H, Smith DW, Graham S, O'dowd G, Bowery BJ, Boyce S, Trumbauer ME, Chen HY. Age-related cognitive deficits, impaired long-term potentiation and reduction in synaptic marker density in mice lacking the [beta]-amyloid precursor protein. *NSC*. 1999;90(1):1–13.
- 56. Seabrook GR, Smith DW, Bowery BJ, Easter A, Reynolds T, Fitzjohn SM, Morton RA, Zheng H, Dawson GR, Sirinathsinghji DJS, Davies CH, Collingridge GL, Hill RG. Mechanisms contributing to the deficits in hippocampal synaptic plasticity in mice lacking amyloid precursor protein. *FEBS Letters*. 1999;38(3):349–359.
- 57. Teyler TJ, DiScenna P. Long-term potentiation. *Annu Rev Neurosci*. 1987;10(1):131–161.
- 58. Soba P, Eggert S, Wagner K, Zentgraf H, Siehl K, Kreger S, Löwer A, Langer A, Merdes G, Paro R, Masters CL, Müller U, Kins S, Beyreuther K. Homo- and heterodimerization of APP family members promotes intercellular adhesion. *EMBO J.* 2005;24(20):3624–3634.
- 59. Yamazaki T, Koo EH, Selkoe DJ. Cell surface amyloid beta-protein precursor colocalizes with beta 1 integrins at substrate contact sites in neural cells. *J Neurosci*. 1997;17(3):1004–1010.
- 60. Klein WL, Krafft GA, Finch CE. Targeting small Aβ oligomers: the solution to an Alzheimer's disease conundrum? *Trends Neurosci*. 2001;24(4):219–224.
- Shoji M, Golde TE, Ghiso J, Cheung TT, Estus S, Shaffer LM, Cai X-D, McKay DM, Tintner R, Frangione B, Younkin SG. Production of the Alzheimer Amyloid β Protein by Normal Proteolytic Processing. *Science*. 1992;258(5):126–129.
- 62. Sisodia SS, Price DL. Role of the beta-amyloid protein in Alzheimer's disease. *FASEB J.* 1995;9(5):366–370.

- 63. Allinson TMJ, Parkin ET, Turner AJ, Hooper NM. ADAMs family members as amyloid precursor protein ?-secretases. *J Neurosci Res*. 2003;74(3):342–352. d
- 64. Edwards DR, Handsley MM, Pennington CJ. The ADAM metalloproteinases. *Mol Aspects Med.* 2008;29(5):258–289.
- 65. Hussain I. Identification of a Novel Aspartic Protease (Asp 2) as β-Secretase. *FEBS Letters*. 1999;14(6):419–427.
- 66. Vassar R, Bennett BD, Babu-Khan S, Kahn S, Mendiaz EA, Denis P, Teplow DB, Ross S, Amarante P, Loeloff R, Luo Y, Fisher S, Fuller J, Edenson S, Lile J, Jarosinski MA, Biere AL, Curran E, Burgess T, Louis JC, Collins F, Treanor J, Rogers G, Citron M. Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. *Science*. 1999;286(5440):735–741.
- 67. Steiner H, Winkler E, Edbauer D, Prokop S, Basset G, Yamasaki A, Kostka M, Haass C. PEN-2 is an integral component of the gamma-secretase complex required for coordinated expression of presenilin and nicastrin. *J Biol Chem*. 2002;277(42):39062–39065.
- 68. Wolfe MS, Xia WM, Ostaszewski BL, Diehl TS, Kimberly WT, Selkoe DJ. Two transmembrane aspartates in presenilin-1 required for presenilin endoproteolysis and gamma-secretase activity. *Nature*. 1999;398(6727):513–517.
- 69. De Strooper B. Proteases and proteolysis in Alzheimer disease: a multifactorial view on the disease process. *Physiol Rev.* 2010;90(2):465–494.
- 70. Moore. Neuroinflammation and anti-inflammatory therapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2002;54(12):30–30.
- 71. Zheng. The amyloid precursor protein: beyond amyloid. *Mol Neurodegener*. 2006;1(1):5–5.
- Younkin SG. The role of Aβ42 in Alzheimer's disease. *J Physiol (Paris)*.
   1998;92(3):289–292.
- 73. Jarrett JT, Berger EP, Lansbury PT. The carboxy terminus of the beta amyloid protein is critical for the seeding of amyloid formation: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemistry*. 1993;32(18):4693–4697.
- Kinoshita A, Fukumoto H, Shah T, Whelan CM, Irizarry MC, Hyman BT.
   Demonstration by FRET of BACE interaction with the amyloid precursor protein at the cell surface and in early endosomes. *J Cell Sci*. 2003;116(Pt 16):3339–3346.
- 75. LaFerla FM, Green KN, Oddo S. Intracellular amyloid-β in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Reviews, Neuroscience*. 2007;8(7):499–509.
- 76. Cirrito JR, Yamada KA, Finn MB, Sloviter RS, Bales KR, May PC, Schoepp DD, Paul SM, Mennerick S, Holtzman DM. Synaptic Activity Regulates Interstitial Fluid Amyloid-β Levels In Vivo. *Neuron*. 2005;48(6):913–922. d
- 77. Lesné S, Ali C, Gabriel C, Croci N, MacKenzie ET, Glabe CG, Plotkine M, Marchand-Verrecchia C, Vivien D, Buisson A. NMDA receptor activation inhibits α-secretase and promotes neuronal amyloid-β production. *J Neurosci*. 2005;25(41):9367–9377.
- Kamenetz F, Tomita T, Hsieh H, Seabrook G, Borchelt D, Iwatsubo T, Sisodia S, Malinow R. APP Processing and Synaptic Function. *Neuron*. 2003;37(6):925– 937.

- 79. Lambert MP, Barlow AK, Chromy BA, Edwards C, Freed R, Liosatos M, Morgan TE, Rozovsky I, Trommer B, Viola KL. Diffusible, nonfibrillar ligands derived from Aβ1–42 are potent central nervous system neurotoxins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1998;95(11):6448–6453.
- Walsh DM, Hartley DM, Kusumoto Y, Fezoui Y, Condron MM, Lomakin A, Benedek GB, Selkoe DJ, Teplow DB. Amyloid beta-protein fibrillogenesis. Structure and biological activity of protofibrillar intermediates. *J Biol Chem*. 1999;274(36):25945–25952.
- 81. Zoghbi HY, Gage FH, Choi DW. Neurobiology of disease. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 2000;10(5):655–660.
- Gouras GK, Relkin NR, Sweeney D, Munoz DG, Mackenzie IR, Gandy S. Increased apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 in epilepsy with senile plaques. *Ann Neurol*. 1997;41(3):402–404.
- 83. Mackenzie IRA, Miller LA. Senile Plaques in Temporal-Lobe Epilepsy. *Acta Neuropathol*. 1994;87(5):504–510.
- 84. Buckner RL, Snyder AZ, Shannon BJ, LaRossa G, Sachs R, Fotenos AF, Sheline YI, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, Morris JC, Mintun MA. Molecular, structural, and functional characterization of Alzheimer's disease: evidence for a relationship between default activity, amyloid, and memory. *J Neurosci*. 2005;25(34):7709–7717.
- Raichle ME, MacLeod AM, Snyder AZ, Powers WJ, Gusnard DA, Shulman GL. A default mode of brain function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98(2):676–682.
- 86. Puzzo D, Privitera L, Fa M, Staniszewski A, Hashimoto G, Aziz F, Sakurai M, Ribe EM, Troy CM, Mercken M, Jung SS, Palmeri A, Arancio O. Endogenous Amyloid-beta is Necessary for Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity and Memory. *Ann Neurol.* 2011;69(5):819–830.
- 87. Iwatsubo T, Odaka A, Suzuki E, Mizusawa H, Nukina N, Ihara Y. Visualization of a-Beta-42(43) and a-Beta-40 in Senile Plaques with End-Specific a-Beta Monoclonals Evidence That an Initially Deposited Species Is a-Beta-42(43). *Neuron*. 1994;13(1):45–53.
- Mori H, Takio K, Ogawara M, SELKOE D. Mass-Spectrometry of Purified Amyloid-Beta Protein in Alzheimers-Disease. *J Biol Chem*. 1992;267(24):17082–17086.
- 89. Roychaudhuri R, Yang M, Hoshi MM, Teplow DB. Amyloid beta-protein assembly and Alzheimer disease. *J Biol Chem*. 2009;284(8):4749–4753.
- 90. Fändrich M. On the structural definition of amyloid fibrils and other polypeptide aggregates. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2007;64(16):2066–2078.
- 91. Jakob Roetne R, Jacobsen H. Alzheimer's disease: from pathology to therapeutic approaches. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*. 2009;48(17):3030–3059.
- 92. Cavallucci V, D'Amelio M, Cecconi F. Aβ toxicity in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurobiol*. 2012;45(2):366–378.
- 93. Fändrich M, Schmidt M, Grigorieff N. Recent progress in understanding Alzheimer's @b-amyloid structures. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2011;36(6):8–8.
- 94. Lorenzo A, Yankner BA. Beta-amyloid neurotoxicity requires fibril formation and is inhibited by congo red. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 1994;91(25):12243–12247.

- 95. Sakono M, Zako T. Amyloid oligomers: formation and toxicity of Aβ oligomers. *FEBS Journal*. 2010;277(6):1348–1358.
- 96. Glabe CG. Structural classification of toxic amyloid oligomers. *J Biol Chem*. 2008;283(44):29639–29643.
- 97. Haass C, Selkoe DJ. Soluble protein oligomers in neurodegeneration: lessons from the Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2007;8(2):101–112..
- 98. McLean CA, Cherny RA, Fraser FW, Fuller SJ, Smith MJ, Beyreuther K, Bush AI, Masters CL. Soluble pool of Abeta amyloid as a determinant of severity of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol.* 1999;46(6):860–866.
- 99. Giannakopoulos P, Herrmann FR, Bussiere T, Bouras C, Kövari E, Perl DP, Morrison JH, Gold G, Hof PR. Tangle and neuron numbers, but not amyloid load, predict cognitive status in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 2003;60(9):1495–1500.
- 100. Ferreira ST, Vieira MNN, De Felice FG. Soluble protein oligomers as emerging toxins in alzheimer's and other amyloid diseases. *TBMB*. 2007;59(4):332–345.
- 101. Georganopoulou DG, Chang L, Nam J-M, Thaxton CS, Mufson EJ, Klein WL, Mirkin CA. Nanoparticle-based detection in cerebral spinal fluid of a soluble pathogenic biomarker for Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102(7):2273–2276.
- 102. Gong Y, Chang L, Viola KL, Lacor PN, Lambert MP, Finch CE, Krafft GA, Klein WL. Alzheimer's disease-affected brain: presence of oligomeric A beta ligands (ADDLs) suggests a molecular basis for reversible memory loss. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003;100(18):10417–10422.
- 103. Lacor PN, Buniel MC, Chang L, Fernandez SJ, Gong Y, Viola KL, Lambert MP, Velasco PT, Bigio EH, Finch CE. Synaptic Targeting by Alzheimer's-Related Amyloid β Oligomers. J Neurosci. 2004;24(45):10191–10200.
- 104. Lacor PN, Buniel MC, Furlow PW, Clemente AS, Velasco PT, Wood M, Viola KL, Klein WL. Aβ Oligomer-Induced Aberrations in Synapse Composition, Shape, and Density Provide a Molecular Basis for Loss of Connectivity in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Neuroscie*. 2007;27(4):796–807.
- 105. Shankar GM, Bloodgood BL, Townsend M, Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ, Sabatini BL. Natural oligomers of the Alzheimer amyloid-β protein induce reversible synapse loss by modulating an NMDA-type glutamate receptor-dependent signaling pathway. *J Neurosci*. 2007;27(11):2866–2875.
- 106. Ono K, Condron MM, Teplow DB. Structure-neurotoxicity relationships of amyloid beta-protein oligomers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2009;106(35):14745–14750.
- 107. Lesné S, Koh MT, Kotilinek L, Kayed R, Glabe CG, Yang A, Gallagher M, Ashe KH. A specific amyloid-β protein assembly in the brain impairs memory. *Nature*. 2006;440(7082):352–357.
- 108. Kawahara M, Kuroda Y. Molecular mechanism of neurodegeneration induced by Alzheimer's beta-amyloid protein: channel formation and disruption of calcium homeostasis. *Brain Res Bull*. 2000;53(4):389–397.
- 109. Valincius G, Heinrich F, Budvytyte R, Vanderah DJ, McGillivray DJ, Sokolov Y, Hall JE, Lösche M. Soluble Amyloid Ab-Oligomers Affect Dielectric

Membrane Properties by Bilayer Insertion and Domain Formation: Implications for Cell Toxicity. *Biophys J.* 2008;95(10):17–17. d

- 110. Hardy J, Selkoe DJ. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science*. 2002;297(5580):353–356.
- 111. D'andrea MR, Nagele RG, Wang H-Y, Peterson PA, Lee D. Evidence that neurones accumulating amyloid can undergo lysis to form amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Histopathology*. 2001;38(2):120–134.
- 112. Gouras GK, Tsai J, Naslund J, Vincent B, Edgar M, Checler F, Greenfield JP, Haroutunian V, Buxbaum JD, Xu H. Intraneuronal Aβ42 accumulation in human brain. *Am J Pathol*. 2000;156(1):15–20.
- 113. Nagele RG, D'andrea MR, Anderson WJ, Wang H-Y. Intracellular accumulation of  $\beta$ -amyloid 1–42 in neurons is facilitated by the  $\alpha$ 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in Alzheimer's disease. *NSC*. 2002;110(2):199–211.
- 114. Gyure KA, Durham R, Stewart WF, Smialek JE, Troncoso JC. Intraneuronal Aβamyloid precedes development of amyloid plaques in Down syndrome. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2001;125(4):489–492.
- 115. Wirths O, Multhaup G, Czech C, Blanchard V, Moussaoui S, Tremp G, Pradier L, Beyreuther K, Bayer TA. Intraneuronal Abeta accumulation precedes plaque formation in beta-amyloid precursor protein and presenilin-1 double-transgenic mice. *Neurosci Lett.* 2001;306(1-2):116–120.
- 116. Knobloch M, Konietzko U, Krebs DC, Nitsch RM. Intracellular Ab and cognitive deficits precede beta-amyloid deposition in transgenic arcAb mice. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2007;28(9):10–10.
- 117. Oddo S, Caccamo A, Shepherd JD, Murphy MP, Golde TE, Kayed R, Metherate R, Mattson MP, Akbari Y, LaFerla FM. Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. *Neuron*. 2003;39(3):409–421.
- 118. Citron M, Olsterdorf T, Haass C, McConlogue L, Hung AY, Seubert P, Vigopelfrey C, Lieberburg I, Selkoe DJ. Mutation of the Beta-Amyloid Precursor Protein in Familial Alzheimers-Disease Increases Beta-Protein Production. *Nature*. 1992;360(6405):672–674.
- 119. Haass C, Lemere CA, Capell A, Citron M, Seubert P, Schenk D, Lannfelt L, Selkoe DJ. The Swedish mutation causes early-onset Alzheimer's disease by βsecretase cleavage within the secretory pathway. *Nature medicine*. 1995;1(12):1291–1296.
- 120. Johansson AS, Berglind-Dehlin F, Karlsson G, Edwards K, Gellerfors P, Lannfelt L. Physiochemical characterization of the Alzheimer's disease-related peptides A beta 1-42Arctic and A beta 1-42wt. *FEBS J.* 2006;273(12):2618– 2630.
- 121. Nilsberth C, Westlind-Danielsson A, Eckman CB, Condron MM, Axelman K, Forsell C, Stenh C, Luthman J, Teplow DB, Younkin SG. The'Arctic'APP mutation (E693G) causes Alzheimer's disease by enhanced Aβ protofibril formation. *Nat Neurosci.* 2001;4(9):887–893.
- 122. Murakami K, Irie K, Morimoto A, Ohigashi H, Shindo M, Nagao M, Shimizu T, Shirasawa T. Synthesis, aggregation, neurotoxicity, and secondary structure of various A beta 1-42 mutants of familial Alzheimer's disease at positions 21-23.

Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002;294(1):5–10.

- 123. Sahlin C, Lord A, Magnusson K, Englund H, Almeida CG, Greengard P, Nyberg F, Gouras GK, Lannfelt L, Nilsson LN. The Arctic Alzheimer mutation favors intracellular amyloid β production by making amyloid precursor protein less available to α-secretase. J Neurochem. 2007;101(3):854–862.
- 124. Suzuki N, Cheung TT, Cai XD, Odaka A, Otvos L, Eckman C, Golde TE, Younkin SG. An increased percentage of long amyloid beta protein secreted by familial amyloid beta protein precursor (beta APP717) mutants. *Science*. 1994;264(5163):1336–1340.
- 125. Hendriks L, van Duijn CM, Cras P, Cruts M, van Hul W, Van Harskamp F, Warren A, McInnis MG, Antonarakis SE, Martin JJ. Presenile dementia and cerebral haemorrhage linked to a mutation at codon 692 of the beta-amyloid precursor protein gene. *Nat Genet*. 1992;1(3):218–221.
- 126. van Broeckhoven C, Haan J, Bakker E, Hardy JA, van Hul W, Wehnert A, Vegter-van der Vlis M, Roos RAC. Amyloid β Protein Precursor Gene and Hereditary Cerebral Hemorrhage with Amyloidosis (Dutch). *Science*. 1990;248(4):1120–1122.
- 127. Alonso Vilatela ME, López-López M, Yescas-Gómez P. Genetics of Alzheimer's Disease. *Arch Med Res.* 2012;43(8):622–631.
- 128. Jonsson T, Atwal JK, Steinberg S, Snaedal J, Jonsson PV, Bjornsson S, Stefansson H, Sulem P, Gudbjartsson D, Maloney J, Hoyte K, Gustafson A, Liu Y, Lu Y, Bhangale T, Graham RR, Huttenlocher J, Bjornsdottir G, Andreassen OA, Jönsson EG, Palotie A, Behrens TW, Magnusson OT, Kong A, Thorsteinsdottir U, Watts RJ, Stefansson K. A mutation in APP protects against Alzheimer's disease and age-related cognitive decline. *Nature*. 2012;488(7409):96–99.
- 129. Weggen S, Beher D. Molecular consequences of amyloid precursor protein and presenilin mutations causing autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Res Ther.* 2012;4(2):9–9.
- 130. Levy-Lahad E, Wasco W, Poorkaj P, Romano DM, Oshima J, Pettingell WH, Yu CE, Jondro PD, Schmidt SD, Wang K. Candidate gene for the chromosome 1 familial Alzheimer's disease locus. *Science*. 1995;269(5226):973–977.
- 131. Rogaev EI, Sherrington R, Rogaeva EA, Levesque G, Ikeda M, Liang Y, Chi H, Lin C, Holman K, Tsuda T. Familial Alzheimer"s disease in kindreds with missense mutations in a gene on chromosome 1 related to the Alzheimer"s disease type 3 gene. *Nature*. 1995;376(6543):775–778.
- 132. Sherrington R, Rogaev EI, Liang Y, Rogaeva EA, Levesque G, Ikeda M, Chi H, Lin C, Li G, Holman K, Tsuda T, Mar L, Foncin JF, Bruni AC, Montesi MP, Sorbi S, Rainero I, Pinessi L, Nee L, Chumakov I, Pollen D, Brookes A, Sanseau P, Polinsky RJ, Wasco W, Da Silva HA, Haines JL, Perkicak-Vance MA, Tanzi RE, Roses AD, Fraser PE, Rommens JM, George-Hyslop PH. Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*. 1995;375(6534):754–760.
- 133. Moehlmann T, Winkler E, Xia X, Edbauer D, Murrell J, Capell A, Kaether C, Zheng H, Ghetti B, Haass C. Presenilin-1 mutations of leucine 166 equally affect the generation of the Notch and APP intracellular domains independent of their

effect on Aβ42 production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2002;99(12):8025–8030.

- 134. Aplin AE, Gibb GM, Jacobsen JS, Gallo JM, Anderton BH. In vitro phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of the amyloid precursor protein by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta. *J Neurochem*. 1996;67(2):699–707.
- 135. Cruts M, Theuns J, Van Broeckhoven C. Locus specific mutation databases for neurodegenerative brain diseases. *Hum Mutat*. 2012.
- 136. Duff K, Eckman C, Zehr C, Yu X, Prada CM, Perez-tur J, Hutton M, Buee L, Harigaya Y, Yager D, Morgan D, Gordon MN, Holcomb L, Refolo L, Zenk B, Hardy J, Younkin S. Increased amyloid-beta42(43) in brains of mice expressing mutant presenilin 1. *Nature*. 1996;383(6602):710–713.
- 137. Cruts M, van Duijn C, Backhovens H, Van den Broeck M, Wehnert A, Serneels S, Sherrington R, Hutton M, Hardy J, St George-Hyslop PH, Hofman A, van Broeckhoven C. Estimation of the genetic contribution of presenilin-1 and -2 mutations in a population based study of presenile Alzheimer disease. *Hum Mol Genet*. 1998;7(1):43–51.
- 138. Kamboh MI. Molecular Genetics of Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease. *Ann Human Genet*. 2004;68(4):381–404.
- Verghese PB, Castellano JM, Holtzman DM. Diabetes mellitus and risk of dementia in the Kungsholmen project - A 6-year follow-up study. *Lancet Neurol*. 2004;10(3):1181–1186.
- Mahley RW, Rall SC. Apolipoprotein E: far more than a lipid transport protein. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet*. 2000;1:507–537. doi:10.1146/annurev.genom.1.1.507.
- 141. Kim J, Basak JM, Holtzman DM. The Role of Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuron*. 2009;63(3):287–303.
- 142. Mahley RW. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology. *Science*. 1988;240(4852):622–630.
- 143. Corder EH, Saunders AM, Risch NJ, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel DE, Gaskell PC, Rimmler JB, Locke PA, Conneally PM, Schmader KE. Protective effect of apolipoprotein E type 2 allele for late onset Alzheimer disease. *Nat Genet*. 1994;7(2):180–184.
- 144. Harwood DG, Barker WW, Loewenstein DA, Ownby RL, George-Hyslop PS, Mullan M, Duara R. A cross-ethnic analysis of risk factors for AD in white Hispanics and white non-Hispanics. *Neurology*. 1999;52(3):551–551.
- 145. Quiroga P, Calvo C, Albala C, Urquidi J, Santos JL, Pérez H, Klaassen G. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism in elderly Chilean people with Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroepidemiology*. 1999;18(1):48–52.
- Castaño EM, Prelli F, Wisniewski T, Golabek A, Kumar RA, Soto C, Frangione B. Fibrillogenesis in Alzheimer's disease of amyloid beta peptides and apolipoprotein E. *Biochem J.* 1995;306(Pt 2):599.
- 147. Ma J, Yee A, Brewer HB, Das S, Potter H. Amyloid-associated proteins alpha 1antichymotrypsin and apolipoprotein E promote assembly of Alzheimer betaprotein into filaments. *Nature*. 1994;372(6501):92–94.
- 148. Wisniewski T, Castaño EM, Golabek A, Vogel T, Frangione B. Acceleration of Alzheimer's fibril formation by apolipoprotein E in vitro. *Am J Pathol.* 1994;145(5):1030–1035.

- 149. Bales KR, Liu F, Wu S, Lin S, Koger D, DeLong C, Hansen JC, Sullivan PM, Paul SM. Human APOE isoform-dependent effects on brain β-amyloid levels in PDAPP transgenic mice. *J Neurosci*. 2009;29(21):6771–6779.
- 150. Holtzman DM, Bales KR, Tenkova T, Fagan AM, Parsadanian M, Sartorius LJ, Mackey B, Olney J, McKeel D, Wozniak D. Apolipoprotein E isoformdependent amyloid deposition and neuritic degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2000;97(6):2892–2897.
- 151. Roses AD. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer's disease A rapidly expanding field with medical and epidemiological consequences. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1996;802(1 Apolipoprotei):50–57.
- 152. Weingarten MD, Lockwood AH, Hwo S-Y, Kirschner MW. A protein factor essential for microtubule assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1975;72(5):1858–1862.
- 153. Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ. Microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1986;83(11):4044–4048.
- 154. Borisy GG, Marcum JM, Olmsted JB, Murphy DB, Johnson KA. Purification of tubulin and associated high molecular weight proteins from porcine brain and characterization of microtubule assembly in vitro. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* 1975;253(1):107–132.
- 155. Drubin DG, Nelson WJ. Origins of Cell Polarity. Cell. 1996;84(3):335–344.
- 156. Li Y, Black MM. Microtubule assembly and turnover in growing axons. J *Neurosci*. 1996;16(2):531–544.
- 157. Goodson H. Motors and membrane traffic. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*. 1997;9(1):18–28.
- 158. Nangaku M, Sato-Yoshitake R, Okada Y, Noda Y, Takemura R, Yamazaki H, Hirokawa N. KIF1B, a novel microtubule plus end-directed monomeric motor protein for transport of mitochondria. *Cell*. 1994;79(7):1209–1220.
- 159. Goode BL, Denis PE, Panda D, Radeke MJ, Miller HP, Wilson L, Feinstein SC. Functional interactions between the proline-rich and repeat regions of tau enhance microtubule binding and assembly. *Mol Biol Cell*. 1997;8(2):353.
- 160. Andreadis A, Brown WM, Kosik KS. Structure and novel exons of the human .tau. gene. *Biochem J.* 1992;31(43):10626–10633.
- 161. Tolnay M, Probst A. Review: tau protein pathology in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. *Neuropath Applied Neurobiol*. 1999;25(3):171–187.
- 162. Tashiro K, Hasegawa M, Ihara Y, Iwatsubo T. Somatodendritic localization of phosphorylated tau in neonatal and adult rat cerebral cortex. *Neuroreport*. 1997;8(12):2797–2801.
- 163. Spillantini MG, Goedert M. Tau protein pathology in neurodegenerative diseases. *Trends Neurosci*. 1998;21(10):428–433.
- 164. Goedert M. The neurofibrillary pathology of Alzheimer's disease. *The Neuroscientist*. 1997;3(2):131–141.
- 165. Avila J, Lucas JJ, Perez M, Hernández F. Role of tau protein in both physiological and pathological conditions. *Physiol Rev.* 2004;84(2):361–384.
- 166. Morishima-Kawashima M, Hasegawa M, Takio K, Suzuki M, Yoshida H, Titani K, Ihara Y. Proline-directed and non-proline-directed phosphorylation of PHF-tau. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270(2):823–829.

- 167. Lindwall G, Cole RD. Phosphorylation Affects the Ability of Tau-Protein to Promote Microtubule Assembly. *J Biol Chem.* 1984;259(8):5301–5305.
- 168. Mandell JW, Banker GA. A spatial gradient of tau protein phosphorylation in nascent axons. *J Neurosci.* 1996;16(18):5727–5740.
- 169. Ebneth A, Godemann R, Stamer K, Illenberger S, Trinczek B, Mandelkow E. Overexpression of tau protein inhibits kinesin-dependent trafficking of vesicles, mitochondria, and endoplasmic reticulum: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *J Cell Biol.* 1998;143(3):777–794.
- 170. Hirokawa N, Sato-Yoshitake R, Yoshida T, Kawashima T. Brain dynein (MAP1C) localizes on both anterogradely and retrogradely transported membranous organelles in vivo. *J Cell Biol*. 1990;111(3):1027–1037.
- 171. Waterman-Storer CM, Gregory J, Parsons SF, Salmon ED. Membrane/microtubule tip attachment complexes (TACs) allow the assembly dynamics of plus ends to push and pull membranes into tubulovesicular networks in interphase Xenopus egg extracts. *J Cell Biol*. 1995;130(5):1161–1169.
- 172. Mandelkow EM, Biernat J, Drewes G, Gustke N, Trinczek B, Mandelkow E. Tau domains, phosphorylation, and interactions with microtubules. *Neurobiol Aging*. 1995;16(3):355–362.
- 173. Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. Phosphorylation of paired helical filament tau in Alzheimer's disease neurofibrillary lesions: focusing on phosphatases. *FASEB J*. 1995;9(15):1570–1576.
- 174. Bramblett GT, Goedert M, Jakes R, Merrick SE, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VMY. Abnormal tau phosphorylation at Ser396 in alzheimer's disease recapitulates development and contributes to reduced microtubule binding. *Neuron*. 1993;10(6):1089–1099.
- 175. Goedert M, Spillantini MG, Potier MC, Ulrich J, Crowther RA. Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding an isoform of microtubule-associated protein tau containing four tandem repeats: differential expression of tau protein mRNAs in human brain. *EMBO J.* 1989;8(2):393–399.
- 176. Hanger DP, Byers HL, Wray S, Leung K-Y, Saxton MJ, Seereeram A, Reynolds CH, Ward MA, Anderton BH. Novel phosphorylation sites in tau from Alzheimer brain support a role for casein kinase 1 in disease pathogenesis. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(32):23645–23654.
- 177. Buée L, Bussière T, Buée-Scherrer V, Delacourte A, Hof PR. Tau protein isoforms, phosphorylation and role in neurodegenerative disorders11These authors contributed equally to this work. *Brain Res Rev.* 2000;33(1):95–130.
- 178. Yamamoto H, Hasegawa M, Ono T, Tashima K, Ihara Y, Miyamoto E. Dephosphorylation of Fetal-Tau and Paired Helical Filaments-Tau by Protein Phosphatase-1 and Protein Phosphatase-2a and Calcineurin. *J Biol Chem*. 1995;118(6):1224–1231.
- 179. Gong CX, Liu F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K. Post-translational modifications of tau protein in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm.* 2005;112(6):813–838.
- 180. Hanger DP, Anderton BH, Noble W. Tau phosphorylation: the therapeutic challenge for neurodegenerative disease. *Trends Mol Med.* 2009;15(3):112–119.
- 181. Li T, Hawkes C, Qureshi HY, Kar S, Paudel HK. Cyclin-Dependent Protein Kinase 5 Primes Microtubule-Associated Protein Tau Site-Specifically for

Glycogen Synthase Kinase  $3\beta$  †. *Biochem J.* 2006;45(10):3134–3145.

- 182. Cho JH, Johnson GVWG. Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta phosphorylates tau at both primed and unprimed sites. Differential impact on microtubule binding. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(1):187–193.
- 183. Frame S, Cohen P, Biondi RM. A Common Phosphate Binding Site Explains the Unique Substrate Specificity of GSK3 and Its Inactivation by Phosphorylation. *Mol Cell*. 2001;7(6):7–7.
- 184. Goedert M, Cohen ES, Jakes R, Cohen P. p42 map kinase phosphorylation sites in microtubule-associated protein tau are dephosphorylated by protein phosphatase 2A1 Implications for Alzheimer's disease. *FEBS Letters*. 1992;312(1):95–99.
- 185. Goedert M, Jakes R, Qi Z, Wang JH, Cohen P. Protein phosphatase 2A is the major enzyme in brain that dephosphorylates tau protein phosphorylated by proline-directed protein kinases or cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. *J Neurochem.* 1995;65(6):2804–2807.
- 186. Gong CX, Singh TJ, Grundkeiqbal I, Iqbal K. Alzheimer's disease abnormally phosphorylated-tau Is dephosphorylated by protein phosphatase-2b (calcineurin). *J Neurochem.* 1994;62(2):803–806.
- 187. Cohen P. The structure and regulation of protein phosphatases. *Ann Rev Biochem.* 1989;58(1):453–508.
- 188. Kuno T, Mukai H, Ito A, Chang CD, Kishima K, Saito N, Tanaka C. Distinct cellular expression of calcineurin A alpha and A beta in rat brain. *J Neurochem*. 1992;58(5):1643–1651.
- 189. Johnson GV, Jope RS, Binder LI. Proteolysis of tau by calpain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1989;163(3):1505–1511.
- 190. Ihara Y, Nukina N, Miura R, Ogawara M. Phosphorylated tau protein is integrated into paired helical filaments in Alzheimers disease. *J Biol Chem.* 1986;99(6):1807–1810.
- 191. Goux WJ. The conformations of filamentous and soluble tau associated with Alzheimer paired helical filaments. *Biochem J.* 2002;41(46):13798–13806.
- 192. Jicha GA, Rockwood JM, Berenfeld B, Hutton M, Davies P. Altered conformation of recombinant frontotemporal dementia-17 mutant tau proteins. *Neuroscience Letters*. 1999;260(3):153–156.
- 193. Minoura K, Tomoo K, Ishida T, Hasegawa H, Sasaki M, Taniguchi T. Amphipathic helical behavior of the third repeat fragment in the tau microtubulebinding domain, studied by (1)H NMR spectroscopy. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2002;294(2):210–214.
- 194. Sadqi M, Hernandez F, Pan U, Perez M, Schaeberle MD, Avila J, Muñoz V. αhelix structure in Alzheimer's disease aggregates of tau-protein. *Biochem J*. 2002;41(22):7150–7155.
- 195. Wischik CM, Crowther RA, Stewart M, Roth M. Subunit ttructure of paired helical filaments in Alzheimers disease. *J Cell Biol*. 1985;100(6):1905–1912.
- 196. Goedert M. Tau protein and the neurofibrillary pathology of Alzheimers disease. *Trends Neurosci.* 1993;16(11):460–465.
- 197. Hanger DP, Hughes K, Woodgett JR, Brion J-P, Anderton BH. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 induces Alzheimer's disease-like phosphorylation of tau:

generation of paired helical filament epitopes and neuronal localisation of the kinase. *Neurosci Lett.* 1992;147(1):58–62.

- 198. Fath T, Eidenmüller J, Brandt R. Tau-mediated cytotoxicity in a pseudohyperphosphorylation model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci*. 2002;22(22):9733–9741.
- 199. Goedert M. Filamentous nerve cell inclusions in neurodegenerative diseases: tauopathies and alpha-synucleinopathies. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 1999;354(1386):1101–1118.
- 200. Pérez M, Valpuesta JM, Medina M, de Garcini EM, Avila J. Polymerization of tau into filaments in the presence of heparin: the minimal sequence required for tau-tau interaction. *J Neurochem.* 1996;67(3):1183–1190.
- 201. Alonso AD, Grundke-Iqbal I, Barra HS, Iqbal K. Abnormal phosphorylation of tau and the mechanism of Alzheimer neurofibrillary degeneration: sequestration of microtubule-associated proteins 1 and 2 and the disassembly of microtubules by the abnormal tau. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94(1):298–303.
- 202. Iqbal K, Zaidi T, Bancher C, Grundke-Iqbal I. Alzheimer paired helical filaments Restoration of the biological activity by dephosphorylation. *FEBS Letters*. 1994;349(1):104–108.
- 203. Wischik CM. Cell biology of the Alzheimer tangle. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 1989;1(1):115.
- 204. Abraha A, Ghoshal N, Gamblin TC, Cryns V, Berry RW, Kuret J, Binder LI. Cterminal inhibition of tau assembly in vitro and in Alzheimer's disease. *J Cell Sci*. 2000;113(21):3737–3745.
- 205. Wischik CM, Lai RY, Harrington CR. Modelling prion-like processing of tau protein in Alzheimer's disease for pharmaceutical development. *Brain Microtubule Associated Proteins: Modifications in Disease*. 1997:185.
- 206. Binder LI, Guillozet-Bongaarts AL, García-Sierra F, Berry RW. Tau, tangles, and Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2005;1739(2-3):216–223.
- 207. García-Sierra F, Ghoshal N, Quinn B, Berry RW, Binder LI. Conformational changes and truncation of tau protein during tangle evolution in Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis.* 2003;5(2):65–77.
- 208. Berry RW, Abraha A, Lagalwar S, LaPointe N, Gamblin TC, Cryns VL, Binder LI. Inhibition of tau polymerization by its carboxy-terminal caspase cleavage fragment. *Biochem J*. 2003;42(27):8325–8331.
- 209. Gamblin TC, Chen F, Zambrano A, Abraha A, Lagalwar S, Guillozet AL, Lu M, Fu Y, García-Sierra F, LaPointe N. Caspase cleavage of tau: linking amyloid and neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*. 2003;100(17):10032–10037.
- 210. Canu N, Dus L, Barbato C, Ciotti MT, Brancolini C, Rinaldi AW, Novak M, Cattaneo A, Bradbury A, Calissano P. Tau cleavage and dephosphorylation in cerebellar granule neurons undergoing apoptosis. *J Neurosci*. 1998;18(18):7061– 7074.
- Selznick LA, Holtzman DM, Han BH, Gokden M, Srinivasan AN, Johnson EM, Roth KA. In situ immunodetection of neuronal caspase-3 activation in Alzheimer disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. 1999;58(9):1020–1026.
- 212. Troy CM, Rabacchi SA, Friedman WJ, Frappier TF, Brown K, Shelanski ML.

Caspase-2 mediates neuronal cell death induced by beta-amyloid. *J Neurosci*. 2000;20(4):1386–1392.

- 213. Cryns V, Yuan JY. Proteases to die for. Genes Dev. 1998;12(11):1551–1570.
- 214. Gervais FG, Xu D, Robertson GS, Vaillancourt JP, Zhu Y, Huang J, LeBlanc A, Smith D, Rigby M, Shearman MS, Clarke EE, Zheng H, Van Der Ploeg LHT, Ruffolo SC, Thornberry NA, Xanthoudakis S, Zamboni RJ, Roy S, Nicholson DW. Involvement of Caspases in Proteolytic Cleavage of Alzheimer's Amyloidβ Precursor Protein and Amyloidogenic Aβ Peptide Formation. *Cell*. 1999;97(3):395–406.
- 215. Smale G, Nichols NR, Brady DR, Finch CE, Horton WE. Evidence for Apoptotic Cell-Death in Alzheimers-Disease. *Exp Neurol.* 1995;133(2):225–230.
- 216. Guillozet-Bongaarts AL, García-Sierra F, Reynolds MR, Horowitz PM, Fu Y, Wang T, Cahill ME, Bigio EH, Berry RW, Binder LI. Tau truncation during neurofibrillary tangle evolution in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2005;26(7):1015–1022.
- 217. Rissman RA, Poon WW, Blurton-Jones M, Oddo S, Torp R, Vitek MP, LaFerla FM, Rohn TT, Cotman CW. Caspase-cleavage of tau is an early event in Alzheimer disease tangle pathology. *J Clin Invest*. 2004;114(1):121–130.
- 218. Mukaetova-Ladinska EB, Garcia-Siera F, Hurt J, Gertz HJ, Xuereb JH, Hills R, Brayne C, Huppert FA, Paykel ES, McGee M. Staging of cytoskeletal and βamyloid changes in human isocortex reveals biphasic synaptic protein response during progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Pathol*. 2000;157(2):623–636.
- 219. Oddo S. Amyloid deposition precedes tangle formation in a triple transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2003;24(8):1063–1070.
- 220. Rapoport M, Dawson HN, Binder LI, Vitek MP, Ferreira A. Tau is essential to beta-amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2002;99(9):6364–6369.
- 221. Hong M, Zhukareva V, Vogelsberg-Ragaglia V, Wszolek Z, Reed L, Miller BI, Geschwind DH, Bird TD, McKeel D, Goate A, Morris JC, Wilhelmsen KC, Schellenberg GD, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. Mutation-specific functional impairments in distinct tau isoforms of hereditary FTDP-17. *Science*. 1998;282(5395):1914–1917.
- 222. Hutton M, Lendon CL, Rizzu P, Baker M, Froelich S, Houlden H, Pickering-Brown S, Chakraverty S, Isaacs A, Grover A, Hackett J, Adamson J, Lincoln S, Dickson D, Davies P, Petersen RC, Stevens M, de Graaff E, Wauters E, van Baren J, Hillebrand M, Joosse M, Kwon JM, Nowotny P, Che LK, Norton J, Morris JC, Reed LA, Trojanowski J, Basun H, Lannfelt L, Neystat M, Fahn S, Dark F, Tannenberg T, Dodd PR, Hayward N, Kwok JBJ, Schofield PR, Andreadis A, Snowden J, Craufurd D, Neary D, Owen F, Oostra BA, Hardy J, Goate A, van Swieten J, Mann D, Lynch T, Heutink P. Association of missense and 5'-splice-site mutations in tau with the inherited dementia FTDP-17. *Nature*. 1998;393(6):702–705.
- 223. Poorkaj P, Bird TD, Wijsman E, Nemens E, Garruto RM, Anderson L, Andreadis A, Wiederholt WC, Raskind M, Schellenberg GD. Tau is a candidate gene for chromosome 17 frontotemporal dementia. *Ann Neurol*. 1998;43(6):815–825.
- 224. Arrasate M, Pérez M, Armas-Portela R, Avila J. Polymerization of tau peptides

into fibrillar structures. The effect of FTDP-17 mutations. *FEBS Letters*. 1999;446(1):199–202.

- 225. Goedert M, Spillantini MG. Tau mutations in frontotemporal dementia FTDP-17 and their relevance for Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2000;1502(1):110–121.
- 226. Hasegawa M, Jakes R, Crowther RA, Lee VM, Ihara Y, Goedert M. Characterization of mAb AP422, a novel phosphorylation-dependent monoclonal antibody against tau protein. *FEBS Letters*. 1996;384(1):25–30.
- 227. Goedert M, Crowther RA, Spillantini MG. Tau mutations cause frontotemporal dementias. *Neuron*. 1998;21(5):955–958.
- 228. Grover A, Houlden H, Baker M, Adamson J, Lewis J, Prihar G, Pickering-Brown S, Duff K, Hutton M. 5' splice site mutations in tau associated with the inherited dementia FTDP-17 affect a stem-loop structure that regulates alternative splicing of exon 10. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274(21):15134–15143.
- 229. Lewis J, McGowan E, Rockwood J, Melrose H, Nacharaju P, Van Slegtenhorst M, Gwinn-Hardy K, Murphy MP, Baker M, Yu X, Duff K, Hardy J, Corral A, Lin LW, Yen HS, Dickson WD, Davies P, Hutton M. Neurofibrillary tangles, amyotrophy and progressive motor disturbance in mice expressing mutant (P301L) tau protein. *Nat Genet*. 2000;25(4):402–405.
- 230. Ramsden M, Kotilinek L, Forster C, Paulson J, McGowan E, SantaCruz K, Guimaraes A, Yue M, Lewis J, Carlson G, Hutton M, Ashe HK. Age-dependent neurofibrillary tangle formation, neuron loss, and memory impairment in a mouse model of human tauopathy (P301L). *J Neurosci*. 2005;25(46):10637– 10647.
- 231. Sahara N, Lewis J, DeTure M, McGowan E, Dickson DW, Hutton M, Yen SH. Assembly of tau in transgenic animals expressing P301L tau: alteration of phosphorylation and solubility. *J Neurochem*. 2002;83(6):1498–1508.
- 232. Ghoshal N. Tau conformational changes correspond to impairments of episodic memory in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Exp Neurol*. 2002;177(2):475–493.
- 233. Mitchell TW, Mufson EJ, Schneider JA, Cochran EJ, Nissanov J, Han LY, Bienias JL, Lee VMY, Trojanowski JQ, Bennett DA. Parahippocampal tau pathology in healthy aging, mild cognitive impairment, and early Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol*. 2002;51(2):182–189.
- 234. Hasegawa M. beta-amyloid and tau protein. *Psychogeriatrics*. 2004;4(s2):S62–S69..
- 235. Braak H, Braak E. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. *Acta Neuropathol*. 1991;82(4):239–259.
- 236. Delacourte A, David JP, Sergeant N, Buée L, Wattez A, Vermersch P, Ghozali F, Fallet-Bianco C, Pasquier F, Lebert F, Petit H, Di Menza C. The biochemical pathway of neurofibrillary degeneration in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 1999;52(6):1158–1165.
- 237. Beach TG, Sue LI, Scott S, Sparks DL. Neurofibrillary tangles are constant in aging human nucleus basalis. *Alzheimers Reports*. 1998;1(6):375–380.
- 238. Small SA, Duff K. Linking Aβ and Tau in Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease: A Dual Pathway Hypothesis. *Neuron*. 2008;60(4):534–542.

- 239. Tiraboschi PP, Hansen LAL, Masliah EE, Alford MM, Thal LJL, Corey-Bloom JJ. Impact of APOE genotype on neuropathologic and neurochemical markers of Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*. 2004;62(11):1977–1983.
- 240. Glodzik-Sobanska L, Pirraglia E, Brys M, de Santi S, Mosconi L, Rich KE, Switalski R, Louis LS, Sadowski MJ, Martiniuk F, Mehta P, Pratico D, Zinkowski RP, Blennow K, de Leon MJ. The effects of normal aging and ApoE genotype on the levels of CSF biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2009;30(5):672–681.
- 241. Golombowski S, Müller-Spahn F, Romig H, Mendla K, Hock C. Dependence of cerebrospinal fluid Tau protein levels on apolipoprotein E4 allele frequency in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Lett.* 1997;225(3):213–215.
- 242. Ghebremedhin E, Schultz C, Braak E, Braak H. High frequency of apolipoprotein e4 allele in young individuals with very mild Alzheimer's disease-related neurofibrillary changes. *Exp Neurol*. 1998;153(1):4–4.
- 243. Beach TG, Kuo YM, Spiegel K, Emmerling MR, Sue LI, Kokjohn K, Roher AE. The cholinergic deficit coincides with A beta deposition at the earliest histopathologic stages of Alzheimer disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* 2000;59(4):308–313.
- 244. Mann DM. Pyramidal nerve cell loss in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurodegeneration*. 1996;5(4):423–427.
- 245. Francis PT, Sims NR, Procter AW, Bowen DM. Cortical pyramidal neurone loss may cause glutamatergic hypoactivity and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease: investigative and therapeutic perspectives. *J Neurochem*. 1993;60(5):1589–1604.
- 246. Perry EK, Tomlinson BE, Blessed G, Bergmann K, Gibson PH, Perry RH. Correlation of cholinergic abnormalities with senile plaques and mental test-scores in senile dementia. *BMJ*. 1978;2(6150):1457–1459.
- 247. Lowe SL, Bowen DM, Francis PT, Neary DD. Ante mortem cerebral amino acid concentrations indicate selective degeneration of glutamate-enriched neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *NSC*. 1990;38(3):571–577.
- 248. Rossor MN, Garrett NJ, Johnson AL, Mountjoy CQ, Roth M, Iversen LL. A post-mortem study of the cholinergic and GABA systems in senile dementia. *Brain*. 1982;105(Pt 2):313.
- 249. Perry EK, Blessed G, Tomlinson BE, Perry RH, Crow TJ, Cross AJ, Dockray GJ, Dimaline R, Arregui A. Neurochemical activities in human temporal-lobe related to aging and Alzheimer-type changes. *Neurobiol Aging*. 1981;2(4):251–256.
- 250. Francis PT, Palmer AM, Snape M, Wilcock GK. The cholinergic hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: a review of progress. *J Neurol, Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1999;66(2):137–147.
- 251. Birks J. Cholinesterase inhibitors for Alzheimer's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2006;(1).
- 252. Rogers SL, Farlow MR, Doody RS, Mohs R, Friedhoff LT. A 24-week, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Donepezil Study Group. *Neurology*. 1998;50(1):136–145.
- 253. Rösler M, Anand R, Cicin-Sain A, Gauthier S, Agid Y, Dal-Bianco P, Stähelin HB, Hartman R, Gharabawi M. Efficacy and safety of rivastigmine in patients

with Alzheimer's disease: international randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*. 1999;318(7184):633–638.

- 254. Tariot PN, Solomon PR, Morris JC, Kershaw P, Lilienfeld S, Ding C. A 5month, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of galantamine in AD. The Galantamine USA-10 Study Group. *Neurology*. 2000;54(12):2269–2276.
- 255. Awad N, Gagnon M, Messier C. The relationship between impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes, and cognitive function. *J Clin Exp Neuropsycol*. 2004;26(8):1044–1080.
- 256. Gregg EW, Yaffe K, Cauley JA, Rolka DB, Blackwell TL, Narayan KMV, Cummings SR. Is diabetes associated with cognitive impairment and cognitive decline among older women? *Arch Intern Med.* 2000;160(2):174–180.
- 257. Stewart R, Liolitsa D. Type 2 diabetes mellitus, cognitive impairment and dementia. *Diabetic Med.* 16:93–112.
- 258. Allen KV, Frier BM, Strachan MWJ. The relationship between type 2 diabetes and cognitive dysfunction: longitudinal studies and their methodological limitations. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2004;490(1-3):169–175.
- 259. Narayan KM, Boyle JP, Thompson TJ, Sorensen SW, Williamson DF. Lifetime risk for diabetes mellitus in the United States. *JAMA*. 2003;290(14):1884–1890.
- 260. Harris MI, Flegal KM, Cowie CC, Eberhardt MS, Goldstein DE, Little RR, Wiedmeyer H-M, Byrd-Holt DD. Prevalence of diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance in US adults: the third national health and nutrition examination survey, 1988–1994. *Diabetes Care*. 1998;21(4):518–524.
- 261. Cowie CC, Rust KF, Byrd-Holt DD, Eberhardt MS, Flegal KM, Engelgau MM, Saydah SH, Williams DE, Geiss LS, Gregg EW. Prevalence of diabetes and impaired fasting glucose in adults in the US population: national health And nutrition examination survey 1999–2002. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(6):1263–1268.
- 262. Association A. 2013 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2013;9(2):208–245.
- 263. Gurland BJ, Wilder DE, Lantigua R, Stern Y, Chen JM, Killeffer E, Mayeux R. Rates of dementia in three ethnoracial groups. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 1999;14(6):481–493.
- 264. Biessels GJ, van der Heide LP, Kamal A, Bleys RLAW, Gispen WH. Ageing and diabetes: implications for brain function. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2002;441(1-2):1–14.
- 265. Saltiel AR, Kahn CR. Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature*. 2001;414(6):799–806.
- 266. Gasparini L, Xu H. Potential roles of insulin and IGF-1 in Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Neurosci.* 2003;26(8):404–406.
- 267. Seaquist ER, Damberg GS, Tkac I, Gruetter R. The effect of insulin on in vivo cerebral glucose concentrations and rates of glucose transport/metabolism in humans. *Diabetes*. 2001;50(10):2203–2209.
- 268. Schwartz MW, Porte D. Diabetes, Obesity, and the Brain. *Science*. 2005;307(5):375–379.
- Zhao WQ, Chen H, Quon MJ, Alkon DL. Insulin and the insulin receptor in experimental models of learning and memory. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2004;490(1-3):71–81.

- 270. Plata-Salamán CR. Insulin in the cerebrospinal fluid. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 1991;15(2):243–258.
- 271. Banks WA. The source of cerebral insulin. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2004;490(1-3):5–12.
- 272. Schechter R, Whitmire J, Holtzclaw L, George M, Harlow R, Devaskar SU. Developmental regulation of insulin in the mammalian central nervous system. *Brain Res.* 1992;582(1):27–37.
- 273. Schechter R, Beju D, Gaffney T, Schaefer F, Whetsell L. Preproinsulin I and II mRNAs and insulin electron microscopic immunoreaction are present within the rat fetal nervous system. *Brain Res.* 1996;736(1-2):16–27.
- 274. Schechter R, Abboud M. Neuronal synthesized insulin roles on neural differentiation within fetal rat neuron cell cultures. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res*. 2001;127(1):41–49.
- 275. Unger J, McNeill TH, Moxley RT, White M, Moss A, Livingston JN. Distribution of insulin receptor-like immunoreactivity in the rat forebrain. NSC. 1989;31(1):143–157.
- 276. Adamo M, Raizada MK, LeRoith D. Insulin and insulin-like growth factor receptors in the nervous system. *Mol Neurobiol*. 1989;3(1-2):71–100.
- 277. Combettes-Souverain M, Issad T. Molecular basis of insulin action. *Diabetes Metab.* 1998;24(6):477–489.
- 278. Grünblatt E, Salkovic-Petrisic M, Osmanovic J, Riederer P, Hoyer S. Brain insulin system dysfunction in streptozotocin intracerebroventricularly treated rats generates hyperphosphorylated tau protein. *J Neurochem*. 2007;101(3):757–770.
- 279. Yan LM, Nairn AC, Palfrey HC, Brady MJ. Glucose regulates EF-2 phosphorylation and protein translation by a protein phosphatase-2A-dependent mechanism in INS-1-derived 832/13 cells. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(20):18177– 18183.
- 280. Taniguchi CM, Emanuelli B, Kahn CR. Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2006;7(2):85–96.
- 281. Barth AI, thke ISN, Nelson WJ. Cadherins, catenins and APC protein: interplay between cytoskeletal complexes and signaling pathways. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*. 1997;9(5):683–690.
- 282. Anderton BH. Alzheimer's disease: Clues from flies and worms. *Curr Biol*. 1999;9(3):0–0.
- 283. Woodgett JR. Molecular cloning and expression of glycogen synthase kinase-3/factor A. *EMBO J.* 1990;9(8):2431.
- 284. Busciglio J, Lorenzo A, Yeh J, Yankner BA. β-Amyloid fibrils induce tau phosphorylation and loss of microtubule binding. *Neuron*. 1995;14(4):879–888.
- 285. Ferreira A, Lu Q, Orecchio L, Kosik KS. Selective phosphorylation of adult tau isoforms in mature hippocampal neurons exposed to fibrillar Abeta. *Mol Cell Neurosci*. 1997;9(3):15–15.
- 286. Takashima A, Murayama M, Murayama O, Kohno T, Honda T, Yasutake K, Nihonmatsu N, Mercken M, Yamaguchi H, Sugihara S, Wolozin B. Presenilin 1 associates with glycogen synthase kinase-3β and its substrate tau. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 1998;95:9637–9641.
- 287. Craft S, Asthana S, Schellenberg G, Cherrier M, Baker LD, Newcomer J,

Plymate S, Latendresse S, Petrova A, Raskind M, Peskind E, Lofgreen C, Grimwood K. Insulin metabolism in Alzheimer's disease differs according to Apolipoprotein E genotype and gender. *Neuroendocrinology*. 1999;70(2):146–152.

- 288. Messier C. Diabetes, Alzheimer's disease and apolipoprotein genotype. *Experimental gerontology*. 2003;38(9):941.
- 289. Qiu WQ, Walsh DM, Ye Z, Vekrellis K, Zhang JM, Podlisny MB, Rosner MR, Safavi A, Hersh LB, Selkoe DJ. Insulin-degrading enzyme regulates extracellular levels of amyloid beta-protein by degradation. *J Biol Chem*. 1998;273(49):32730–32738.
- 290. Vekrellis K, Ye Z, Qiu WQ, Walsh D, Hartley D, Chesneau V, Rosner MR, Selkoe DJ. Neurons regulate extracellular levels of amyloid beta-protein via proteolysis by insulin-degrading enzyme. *J Neurosci*. 2000;20(5):1657–1665.
- 291. Zhao L, Teter B, Morihara T, Lim GP, Ambegaokar SS, Ubeda OJ, Frautschy SA, Cole GM. Insulin-degrading enzyme as a downstream target of insulin recpetor signaling cascade: implications for Alzheimer's disease intervention. *J Neurosci*. 2004;24(49):11120-11126.
- 292. Cook DG, Leverenz JB, McMillan PJ, Kulstad JJ, Ericksen S, Roth RA, Schellenberg GD, Jin L-W, Kovacina KS, Craft S. Reduced hippocampal insulindegrading enzyme in late-onset Alzheimer's disease is associated with the apolipoprotein E-ε4 allele. *Am J Pathol*. 2003;162(1):313–319.
- 293. Perez A, Morelli L, Cresto JC, Castaño EM. Degradation of soluble amyloid beta-peptides 1-40, 1-42, and the Dutch variant 1-40Q by insulin degrading enzyme from Alzheimer disease and control brains. *Neurochem Res.* 2000;25(2):247–255.
- 294. Hosokawa M, Dolci W, Thorens B. Differential sensitivity of GLUT1 and GLUT2 expressing Ab Cells to streptozotocin. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2001;289(5):1114-1117.
- 295. Szkudelski T. The mechanism of alloxan and streptozotocin action in B cells of the rat pancreas. *Physiol Res.* 2001;50(6):537–546.
- 296. Kadowaki T, Kasuga M, Akanuma Y, Ezaki O, Takaku F. Decreased autophosphorylation of the insulin receptor-kinase in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. *J Biol Chem.* 1984;259(22):14208–14216.
- 297. Duelli R, Schröck H, Kuschinsky W, Hoyer S. Intracerebroventricular injection of streptozotocin induces discrete local changes in cerebral glucose utilization in rats. *Int J Dev Neurosci*. 1994;12(8):737–743.
- 298. Hoyer S, Henneberg N, Knapp S, Lannert H, Martin E. Brain glucose metabolism is controlled by amplification and desensitization of the neuronal insulin receptor. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 1996;777:374–379.
- 299. Lannert HH, Hoyer SS. Intracerebroventricular administration of streptozotocin causes long-term diminutions in learning and memory abilities and in cerebral energy metabolism in adult rats. *Behav Neurosci.* 1998;112(5):1199–1208.
- 300. Nitsch R, Hoyer S. Local action of the diabetogenic drug, streptozotocin, on glucose and energy metabolism in rat brain cortex. *Neurosci Lett.* 1991;128(2):199–202.
- 301. Park CR. Cognitive effects of insulin in the central nervous system. *Neurosci*

Biobehav Rev. 2001;25(4):311-323.

- 302. Shoham S, Bejar C, Kovalev E, Weinstock M. Intracerebroventricular injection of streptozotocin causes neurotoxicity to myelin that contributes to spatial memory deficits in rats. *Exp Neurol*. 2003;184(2):1043–1052.
- 303. Weinstock M, Shoham S. Rat models of dementia based on reductions in regional glucose metabolism, cerebral blood flow and cytochrome oxidase activity. *J Neural Transm.* 2004;111(3):347–366.
- 304. Kim B, Backus C, Oh S, Hayes JM, Feldman EL. Increased Tau Phosphorylation and Cleavage in Mouse Models of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. *Endocrinology*. 2009;150(12):5294–5301.
- 305. Qu Z, Jiao Z, Sun X, Zhao Y, Ren J, Xu G. Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes on tau phosphorylation in the rat brain. *Brain Res.* 2011;1383:300–306.
- 306. Lester-Coll N, Rivera EJ, Soscia SJ, Doiron K, Wands JR, la Monte de SM. Intracerebral streptozotocin model of type 3 diabetes: relevance to sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis*. 2006;9(1):13–33.
- 307. Jung SW, Han O-K, Kim S-J. Increased expression of β amyloid precursor gene in the hippocampus of streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice with memory deficit and anxiety induction. *J Neural Transm.* 2010;117(12):1411–1418.
- 308. Plaschke K, Kopitz J, Siegelin M, Schliebs R, Salkovic-Petrisic M, Riederer P, Hoyer S. Insulin-resistant brain state after intracerebroventricular streptozotocin injection exacerbates Alzheimer-like changes in Tg2576 AbetaPPoverexpressing mice. J Alzheimers Dis. 2010;19(2):691–704.
- 309. Salkovic-Petrisic M, Osmanovic-Barilar J, Brückner MK, Hoyer S, Arendt T, Riederer P. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy in streptozotocin rat model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a long-term follow up study. *J Neural Transm*. 2011;118(5):765–772.
- 310. Griffin WS, Stanley LC, Ling C, White L, MacLeod V, Perrot LJ, White CL, Araoz C. Brain interleukin 1 and S-100 immunoreactivity are elevated in Down syndrome and Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1989;86(19):7611–7615.
- 311. Rogers J, Luber-Narod J, Styren SD, Civin WH. Expression of immune systemassociated antigens by cells of the human central nervous system: Relationship to the pathology of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*. 1988;9:339–349.
- 312. Rozemuller JM, Eikelenboom P, Stam FC. Role of microglia in plaque formation in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Virchows Archiv B*. 1986;51(1):247–254.
- 313. Beard CM, Waring SC, O'Brien PC, Kurland LT, Kokmen E. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use and Alzheimer's disease: a case-control study in Rochester, Minnesota, 1980 Through 1984. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 1998;73(10):951–955.
- 314. Breitner JC, Gau BA, Welsh KA, Plassman BL, McDonald WM, Helms MJ, Anthony JC. Inverse association of anti-inflammatory treatments and Alzheimer's disease: initial results of a co-twin control study. *Neurology*. 1994;44(2):227–232.
- 315. McGeer PL, Mcgeer E, Rogers J, Sibley J. Anti-inflammatory drugs and Alzheimer disease. *Lancet*. 1990;335(8696):1037.

- Rich JB, Rasmusson DX, Folstein MF, Carson KA, Kawas C, Brandt J. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 1995;45(1):51–55.
- 317. in't Veld BA, Ruitenberg A, Hofman A, Launer LJ, van Duijn CM, Stijnen T, Breteler MMB, Stricker BHC. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the risk of Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med*. 2001;345(21):1515–1521.
- 318. McGeer PL, McGeer EG. NSAIDs and Alzheimer disease: Epidemiological, animal model and clinical studies. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2007;28(5):639–647.
- 319. McGeer PL, Rogers J. Anti-inflammatory agents as a therapeutic approach to Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*. 1992;42(2):447.
- 320. Zotova E, Nicoll JA, Kalaria R, Holmes C, Boche D. Inflammation in Alzheimer's disease: relevance to pathogenesis and therapy. *Alzheimers Res Ther*. 2010;2(1):1–1.
- 321. Tuppo EE, Arias HR. The role of inflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*. 2005;37(2):289–305.
- 322. Graeber MB, Streit WJ, Kreutzberg GW. Axotomy of the rat facial nerve leads to increased CR3 complement receptor expression by activated microglial cells. *J Neurosci Res.* 1988;21(1):18–24.
- 323. Kreutzberg GW. Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci.* 1996;19(8):312–318.
- 324. Rubio-Perez JM, Morillas-Ruiz JM. A review: inflammatory process in Alzheimer's disease, role of cytokines. *Sci World J.* 2012;756357-756372.
- 325. Meager A. Cytokines: interleukins. *Encyclopedia of molecular cell biology and molecular medicine*. 2004.
- 326. Meager A. Viral inhibitors and immune response mediators: the interferons. *Encyclopedia of molecular cell biology and molecular medicine*. 2005.
- 327. Kim YS, Joh TH. Microglia, major player in the brain inflammation: their roles in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Exp Mol Med*. 2006;38(4):333.
- 328. Davalos D, Grutzendler J, Yang G, Kim JV, Zuo Y, Jung S, Littman DR, Dustin ML, Gan WB. ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. *Nat Neurosci.* 2005;8(6):752–758.
- 329. Liao H, Bu WY, Wang TH, Ahmed S, Xiao ZC. Tenascin-R plays a role in neuroprotection via its distinct domains that coordinate to modulate the microglia function. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(9):8316–8323.
- 330. Nimmerjahn A, Kirchhoff F, Helmchen F. Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science*. 2005;308(5726):1314–1318.
- 331. Colton CA, Gilbert DL. Production of superoxide anions by a CNS macrophage, the microglia. *FEBS Letters*. 1987;223(2):284–288.
- 332. Moss DW, Bates TE. Activation of murine microglial cell lines by lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma causes NO-mediated decreases in mitochondrial and cellular function. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2001;13(3):529–538. d
- 333. Eikelenboom P, Bate C, Van Gool WA, Hoozemans JJM, Rozemuller JM, Veerhuis R, Williams A. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease and prion disease. *Glia*. 2002;40(2):232–239.
- 334. Cagnin A, Brooks DJ, Kennedy AM, Gunn RN, Myers R, Turkheimer FE, Jones

T, Banati RB. In-vivo measurement of activated microglia in dementia. *Lancet*. 2001;358(9280):461–467.

- 335. Vehmas AK, Kawas CH, Stewart WF, Troncoso JC. Immune reactive cells in senile plaques and cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2003;24(2):321–331.
- 336. McGeer PL, Itagaki S, Tago H, McGeer EG. Reactive microglia in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type are positive for the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR. *Neurosci Lett.* 1987;79(1-2):195–200.
- 337. Veerhuis RR, Van Breemen MJM, Hoozemans JMJ, Morbin MM, Ouladhadj JJ, Tagliavini FF, Eikelenboom PP. Amyloid beta plaque-associated proteins C1q and SAP enhance the Abeta1-42 peptide-induced cytokine secretion by adult human microglia in vitro. *Acta Neuropathol*. 2003;105(2):135–144.
- 338. Conde JRJ, Streit WJW. Microglia in the aging brain. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. 2006;65(3):199–203.
- 339. Sheng JG, Mrak RE, Griffin WS. Enlarged and phagocytic, but not primed, interleukin-1 alpha-immunoreactive microglia increase with age in normal human brain. *Acta Neuropathol*. 1998;95(3):229–234.
- 340. Rozovsky I, Finch CE, Morgan TE. Age-related activation of microglia and astrocytes: in vitro studies show persistent phenotypes of aging, increased proliferation, and resistance to down-regulation. *Neurobiol Aging*. 1998;19(1):97–103.
- 341. Stuesse SL, Cruce WL, Lovell JA, McBurney DL, Crisp T. Microglial proliferation in the spinal cord of aged rats with a sciatic nerve injury. *Neurosci Lett.* 2000;287(2):121–124.
- 342. Vaughan DW, Peters A. Neuroglial cells in the cerebral cortex of rats from young adulthood to old age: an electron microscope study. *J Neurocytol*. 1974;3(4):405–429.
- 343. Gao HM, Bin B Liu, Zhang W, Hong JS. Critical role of microglial NADPH oxidase-derived free radicals in the in vitro MPTP model of Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J.* 2003;17(13):1954–1956.
- 344. Huh Y, Jung JW, Park C, Ryu JR, Shin CY, Kim WK, Ryu JH. Microglial activation and tyrosine hydroxylase immunoreactivity in the substantia nigral region following transient focal ischemia in rats. *Neurosci Lett.* 2003;349(1):63– 67.
- 345. McGeer PL, Schwab C, Parent A, Doudet D. Presence of reactive microglia in monkey substantia nigra years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine administration. *Ann Neurol*. 2003;54(5):599–604.
- 346. Block ML, Zecca L, Hong JS. Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. *Nature Rev Neurosci*. 2007;8(1):57–69.
- 347. Akira SS, Uematsu SS, Takeuchi OO. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*. 2006;124(4):19–19.
- 348. McKimmie CS, Fazakerley JK. In response to pathogens, glial cells dynamically and differentially regulate Toll-like receptor gene expression. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2005;169(1-2):116–125.
- 349. Jack CS, Arbour N, Manusow J, Montgrain V, Blain M, McCrea E, Shapiro A, Antel JP. TLR signaling tailors innate immune responses in human microglia and

astrocytes. J Immunol. 2005;175(7):4320-4330.

- 350. Gao HM, Jiang J, Wilson B, Zhang W, Hong JS, Bin BL. Microglial activationmediated delayed and progressive degeneration of rat nigral dopaminergic neurons: relevance to Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*. 2002;81(6):1285–1297.
- 351. Gibbons HM, Dragunow M. Microglia induce neural cell death via a proximitydependent mechanism involving nitric oxide. *Brain Res.* 2006;1084(1):1–15.
- 352. Ling Z, Gayle DA, Ma SY, Lipton JW, Tong CW, Hong J-S, Carvey PM. In utero bacterial endotoxin exposure causes loss of tyrosine hydroxylase neurons in the postnatal rat midbrain. *Mov Disord*. 2002;17(1):116–124.
- 353. Ling Z, Zhu Y, Tong CW, Snyder JA, Lipton JW, Carvey PM. Progressive dopamine neuron loss following supra-nigral lipopolysaccharide (LPS) infusion into rats exposed to LPS prenatally. *Exp Neurol*. 2006;199(2):499–512.
- 354. Glezer I, Lapointe A, Rivest S. Innate immunity triggers oligodendrocyte progenitor reactivity and confines damages to brain injuries. *FASEB J*. 2006;20(6):750–752.
- 355. Plassman BL, Havlik RJ, Steffens DC, Helms MJ, Newman TN, Drosdick D, Phillips C, Gau BA, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Burke JR, Guralnik JM, Breitner JC. Documented head injury in early adulthood and risk of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Neurology*. 2000;55(8):1158–1166.
- 356. Nandoe RDS, Scheltens P, Eikelenboom P. Head trauma and Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis*. 2002;4(4):303–308.
- 357. Roberts GW, Gentleman SM, Lynch A, Murray L, Landon M, Graham ID. Beta amyloid protein deposition in the brain after severe head injury: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1994;57(4):419–425.
- 358. Goldgaber D, Harris HW, Hla T, Maciag T, Donnelly RJ, Jacobsen JS, Vitek MP, Gajdusek DC. Interleukin 1 regulates synthesis of amyloid beta-protein precursor mRNA in human endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1989;86(19):7606–7610.
- 359. Li YY, Liu LL, Kang JJ, Sheng JGJ, Barger SWS, Mrak RER, Griffin WSW. Neuronal-glial interactions mediated by interleukin-1 enhance neuronal acetylcholinesterase activity and mRNA expression. *J Neurosci*. 2000;20(1):149–155.
- 360. Rogers JT, Leiter LM, McPhee J, Cahill CM, Zhan S-S, Potter H, Nilsson LN. Translation of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein mRNA is up-regulated by interleukin-1 through 5'-untranslated region sequences. *J Biol Chem*. 1999;274(10):6421–6431.
- 361. Griffin WS, Sheng JG, Royston MC, Gentleman SM, McKenzie JE, Graham DI, Roberts GW, Mrak RE. Glial-neuronal interactions in Alzheimer's disease: the potential role of a 'cytokine cycle' in disease progression. *Brain Pathol.* 1998;8(1):65–72.
- 362. Alvarez A, Muñoz JP, Maccioni RB. A cdk5–p35 stable complex is involved in the β-amyloid-induced deregulation of cdk5 activity in hippocampal neurons. *Exp Cell Res.* 2001;264(2):266–274.
- 363. Quintanilla RA, Orellana DI, González-Billault C, Maccioni RB. Interleukin-6 induces Alzheimer-type phosphorylation of tau protein by deregulating the

cdk5/p35 pathway. Exp Cell Res. 2004;295(1):245-257.

- 364. Sheng JG, Zhu SG, Jones RA, Griffin WST, Mrak RE. Interleukin-1 Promotes expression and phosphorylation of neurofilament and tau proteins in vivo. *Exp Neurol*. 2000;163(2):388–391.
- 365. Kinney JW, Starosta G, Crawley JN. Central galanin administration blocks consolidation of spatial learning. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* 2003;80(1):42–54.
- 366. Sabbagh JJ, Heaney CF, Bolton MM, Murtishaw AS, Ure JA, Kinney JW. Administration of Donepezil Does Not Rescue Galanin-Induced Spatial Learning Deficits. *Int J Neurosci.* 2012;122(12):742–747.
- 367. Paxinos G, Watson C. *The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates*. 2nd ed. Orlando: Academic Press
- 368. Kitazawa M. Lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation exacerbates tau pathology by a cyclin-dependent kinase 5-mediated pathway in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci.* 2005;25(39):8843–8853.
- 369. Herber DL, Roth LM, Wilson D, Wilson N, Mason JE, Morgan D, Gordon MN. Time-dependent reduction in Aβ levels after intracranial LPS administration in APP transgenic mice. *Exp Neurol*. 2004;190(1):245–253.
- 370. Malm TM, Koistinaho M, Pärepalo M, Vatanen T, Ooka A, Karlsson S, Koistinaho J. Bone-marrow-derived cells contribute to the recruitment of microglial cells in response to β-amyloid deposition in APP/PS1 double transgenic Alzheimer mice. *Neurobiol Dis*. 2005;18(1):134–142.
- 371. Wait R, Chiesa G, Parolini C, Miller I, Begum S, Brambilla D, Galluccio L, Ballerio R, Eberini I, Gianazza E. Reference maps of mouse serum acute-phase proteins: Changes with LPS-induced inflammation and apolipoprotein A-I and A-II transgenes. *Proteomics*. 2005;5(16):4245–4253.
- 372. Scholtzova H, Kascsak RJ, Bates KA, Boutajangout A, Kerr DJ, Meeker HC, Mehta PD, Spinner DS, Wisniewski T. Induction of Toll-like receptor 9 signaling as a method for emeliorating Alzheimer's disease-related pathology. *J Neurosci*. 2009;29(6):1846–1854.
- 373. Roth J, McClellan JL, Kluger MJ, Zeisberger E. Attenuation of fever and release of cytokines after repeated injections of lipopolysaccharide in guinea-pigs. J Physiol. 1994;477 (Pt 1):177–185.
- 374. Peloso ED, Florez-Duquet M, Buchanan JB, Satinoff E. LPS fever in old rats depends on the ambient temperature. *Physiol Behav.* 2003;78(4-5):651–654.
- 375. Webel DM, Finck BN, Baker DH, Johnson RW. Time course of increased plasma cytokines, cortisol, and urea nitrogen in pigs following intraperitoneal injection of lipopolysaccharide. *J Anim Sci.* 1997;75(6):1514–1520.
- 376. Kemna E. Time-course analysis of hepcidin, serum iron, and plasma cytokine levels in humans injected with LPS. *Blood*. 2005;106(5):1864–1866.
- 377. Laye S, Parnet P, Goujon E, Dantzer R. Peripheral administration of lipopolysaccharide induces the expression of cytokine transcripts in the brain and pituitary of mice. *Mol Brain Res.* 1994;27(1):157–162.
- 378. Godbout JP. Exaggerated neuroinflammation and sickness behavior in aged mice after activation of the peripheral innate immune system. *The FASEB Journal*. 2005.
- 379. Qin L, Wu X, Block ML, Liu Y, Breese GR, Hong J-S, Knapp DJ, Crews FT.

Systemic LPS causes chronic neuroinflammation and progressive neurodegeneration. *Glia*. 2007;55(5):453–462.

- 380. Henry CJ, Huang Y, Wynne A, Hanke M, Himler J, Bailey MT, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP. Minocycline attenuates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced neuroinflammation, sickness behavior, and anhedonia. *J Neuroinflammation*. 2008;5(1):15.
- 381. Kim WG, Mohney RP, Wilson B, Jeohn GH, Liu B, Hong JS. Regional difference in susceptibility to lipopolysaccharide-induced neurotoxicity in the rat brain: Role of microglia. *J Neurosci*. 2000;20(16):6309–6316.
- 382. Arimoto T, Bing G. Up-regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase in the substantia nigra by lipopolysaccharide causes microglial activation and neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol Dis.* 2003;12(1):35–45.
- 383. Hammond R. On the delay-dependent involvement of the hippocampus in object recognition memory. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* 2004;82(1):26–34.
- 384. Reger ML, Hovda DA, Giza CC. Ontogeny of rat recognition memory measured by the novel object recognition task. *Dev Psychobiol*. 2009;51(8):672–678.
- 385. Rampon C, Tang YP, Goodhouse J, Shimizu E, Kyin M, Tsien JZ. Enrichment induces structural changes and recovery from nonspatial memory deficits in CA1 NMDAR1-knockout mice. *Nat Neurosci.* 2000;3(3):238–244.
- Caterini F, Sala SD, Spinnler H, Stangalino C, Turnbull OH. Object recognition and object orientation in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychology*. 2002;16(2):146– 155.
- 387. Ohno M, Sametsky EA, Younkin LH, Oakley H, Younkin SG, Citron M, Vassar R, Disterhoft JF. BACE1 deficiency rescues memory feficits and cholinergic dysfunction in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*. 2004;41(1):27–33.
- 388. Martinez-Coria H, Green KN, Billings LM, Kitazawa M, Albrecht M, Rammes G, Parsons CG, Gupta S, Banerjee P, LaFerla FM. Memantine improves cognition and reduces Alzheimer's-like neuropathology in transgenic mice. *Am J Pathol.* 2010;176(2):870–880.
- 389. Cohen RM, Rezai-Zadeh K, Weitz TM, Rentsendorj A, Gate D, Spivak I, Bholat Y, Vasilevko V, Glabe CG, Breunig JJ, Rakic P, Davtyan H, Agadjanyan MG, Kepe V, Barrio JR, Bannykh S, Szekely CA, Pechnick RN, Town T. A transgenic Alzheimer rat with plaques, tau Pathology, behavioral impairment, oligomeric Abeta, and frank neuronal loss. *J Neurosci*. 2013;33(15):6245–6256.
- 390. Vorhees CV, Williams MT. Morris water maze: procedures for assessing spatial and related forms of learning and memory. *Nature protocols*. 2006;1(2):848–858.
- 391. Beiko J, Candusso L, Cain DP. The effect of nonspatial water maze pretraining in rats subjected to serotonin depletion and muscarinic receptor antagonism: a detailed behavioural assessment of spatial performance. *Behav Brain Res.* 1997;88(2):201–211.
- 392. Wolfer DP, Stagljar-Bozicevic M, Errington ML, Lipp H-P. Spatial memory and learning in transgenic mice: fact or artifact? *News Physiol Sci.* 1998;13:118–122.
- 393. D'Hooge R, De Deyn PP. Applications of the Morris water maze in the study of learning and memory. *Brain Res Rev.* 2001;36(1):60–90.
- 394. Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ. Aβ oligomers–a decade of discovery. *J Neurochem*.

2007;101(5):1172–1184.

- 395. Huang HJ, Liang KC, Chen CP, Chen CM, Hsieh-Li HM. Intrahippocampal administration of Aβ1–40 impairs spatial learning and memory in hyperglycemic mice. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* 2007;87(4):483–494.
- 396. Morris RG, Anderson E, Lynch GS, Baudry M. Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. *Nature*. 1986;319(6056):774–776.
- 397. Sabbagh JJ, Heaney CF, Bolton MM, Murtishaw AS, Kinney JW. Examination of ketamine-induced deficits in sensorimotor gating and spatial learning. *Physiol Behav.* 2012;107(3):355–363.
- 398. Snyder EM, Nong Y, Almeida CG, Paul S, Moran T, Choi EY, Nairn AC, Salter MW, Lombroso PJ, Gouras GK, Greengard P. Regulation of NMDA receptor trafficking by amyloid-beta. *Nat Neurosci*. 2005;8(8):1051–1058.
- 399. Kelly BL, Ferreira A. beta-Amyloid-induced dynamin 1 degradation is mediated by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in hippocampal neurons. *J Biol Chem*. 2006;281(38):28079–28089.
- 400. De Felice FG, Velasco PT, Lambert MP, Viola K, Fernandez SJ, Ferreira ST, Klein WL. Aβ oligomers induce neuronal oxidative stress through an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-dependent mechanism that is blocked by the Alzheimer drug memantine. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(15):11590–11601.
- 401. Decker H, Jürgensen S, Adrover MF, Brito-Moreira J, Bomfim TR, Klein WL, Epstein AL, De Felice FG, Jerusalinsky D, Ferreira ST. N-Methyl-d-aspartate receptors are required for synaptic targeting of Alzheimer's toxic amyloid-β peptide oligomers. *J Neurochem*. 2010;115(6):1520–1529.
- 402. Iwakiri M, Mizukami K, Ikonomovic MD, Ishikawa M, Hidaka S, Abrahamson EE, DeKosky ST, Asada T. Changes in hippocampal GABABR1 subunit expression in Alzheimer's patients: association with Braak staging. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2005;109(5):467–474.
- 403. Farber NB, Newcomer JW, Olney JW. The glutamate synapse in neuropsychiatric disorders. Focus on schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease. *Prog Brain Res.* 1998;116:421–437.
- 404. Stellwagen D. Differential regulation of AMPA receptor and GABA receptor trafficking by tumor necrosis factor. *J Neurosci*. 2005;25(12):3219–3228.
- 405. Zeise ML, Espinoza J, Morales P, Nalli A. Interleukin-1 β does not increase synaptic inhibition in hippocampal CA3 pyramidal and dentate gyrus granule cells of the rat in vitro. *Brain Res.* 1997;768(1):341–344.
- 406. Wang S, Cheng Q, Malik S, Yang J. Interleukin-1β inhibits γ-aminobutyric acid type A (GABAA) receptor current in cultured hippocampal neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2000;292(2):497–504.
- 407. Aupperle KR, Bennett BL, Boyle DL, Tak P, Manning AM, Firestein GS. NF-κB regulation by IκB kinase in primary fibroblast-like synoviocytes. *J Immunol*. 1999;163(1):427–433.
- 408. Paresce DM, Ghosh RN, Maxfield FR. Microglial cells internalize aggregates of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid β-protein via a scavenger receptor. *Neuron*. 1996;17(3):553–565.
- 409. Liu Y. LPS receptor (CD14): a receptor for phagocytosis of Alzheimer's amyloid

peptide. Brain. 2005;128(8):1778-1789.

- 410. Tahara K, Kim HD, Jin JJ, Maxwell JA, Li L, Fukuchi KI. Role of toll-like receptor signalling in A uptake and clearance. *Brain*. 2006;129(11):3006–3019.
- 411. DiCarlo G, Wilcock D, Henderson D, Gordon M, Morgan D. Intrahippocampal LPS injections reduce Abeta load in APP+PS1 transgenic mice. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2001;22(6):1007–1012.
- 412. Herber DL, Mercer M, Roth LM, Symmonds K, Maloney J, Wilson N, Freeman MJ, Morgan D, Gordon MN. Microglial activation is required for Aβ clearance after intracranial injection of lipopolysaccharide in APP transgenic mice. J Neuroimmune Pharm. 2007;2(2):222–231.
- 413. Quinn J, Montine T, Morrow J, Woodward WR, Kulhanek D, Eckenstein F. Inflammation and cerebral amyloidosis are disconnected in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroimmunology*. 2003;137(1):32–41.
- 414. Lee YS, Morinaga H, Kim JJ, Lagakos W, Taylor S, Keshwani M, Perkins G, Dong H, Kayali AG, Sweet IR, Olefsky J. The Fractalkine/CX3CR1 system regulates beta cell function and insulin secretion. *Cell*. 2013;153(2):413–425.

### Curriculum Vitae Andrew S. Murtishaw

(702) 217-5922 Email: Andrew.Murtishaw@unlv.edu

#### **Professional Information:**

University of Nevada, Las Vegas 4505 S Maryland Pkwy Box 455030 Las Vegas, NV 89154-5030 Phone (702) 895-5523

# Education:

Ph.D. student in Experimental Psychology, Neuroscience emphasis (2011 – present; expected date of graduation: May 2016). University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Las Vegas, NV 89154

B.A. Psychology with Biology minor (May 2011). University of Nevada, Las Vegas, Las Vegas, NV 89154

# **Teaching Experience**

- Psychology 101 (Fall 2013, 2 courses; Spring 2014, 2 courses)
  - Full responsibility for all aspects of the course, including preparing lectures, giving lectures, grading, and holding office hours. *Class size: 35*

# Research Skills/Techniques:

- Extensive experience with the appropriate care and use of animal subjects, including rats, mice, and ground squirrels;
- Skilled in research design, implementation, and data analysis in animal learning;
- Expertise in several behavioral tasks with rodents including the Morris water maze, Barnes maze, radial arm maze, cued and contextual fear conditioning, acoustic startle, pre-pulse inhibition, open field, novel object recognition, odor recognition, tail flick nociception task, and general screening to examine basic sensory function and reflexes;
- Experienced in rodent breeding and sexing;
- Experienced in aseptic surgical techniques;
- Proficient in stereotaxic surgical procedures, including chronic cannula placement and osmotic mini-pump implantation in rats;
- Experienced in multiple wound closure techniques associated with stereotaxic surgery, including suture closure and dental acrylic application;
- Considerable expertise in neural tissue collection, including transcardiac perfusion and dissection of specific brain structures;

- > Experienced in the frozen sectioning of neural tissue for histological analyses;
- Extensive experience utilizing immunohistochemistry techniques, including the use of DAB and immunofluorescence;
- Proficient in light and fluorescent microscopy, including conventional and confocal microscopes;
- Expertise in tissue homogenization and protein concentration assays;
- Skilled in western blotting and gel electrophoresis techniques;
- Trained on multiple western blot imaging techniques, including the Typhoon variable mode imaging system, the Odyssey IR Imaging system, and the UVP imaging system;
- > Trained in labeling techniques for demonstration of neurogenesis utilizing BrdU;
- Experienced in programming of software for behavioral testing;
- Proficient with ELISA technique and interpretation;
- Expertise in annotative work, including detailed annotation of the central nervous system.

### **Research Experience**

- Aug. 2011-Present: Doctoral student and graduate assistant in a behavioral neuroscience laboratory under the direction of Dr. Jefferson Kinney. Our lab primarily investigates the neurobiology of learning and memory with an emphasis on the biological basis of neurological/psychological diseases such as Alzheimer's disease and schizophrenia.
- Jan. 2009-July 2011: Undergraduate research assistant in a behavioral neuroscience laboratory under the direction of Dr. Jefferson Kinney.
- Summer 2007: Research assistant for the FACE (Free-Air-Carbon dioxide-Emission) project under the supervision of Dr. Stan Smith and Dr. Dene Charlet. FACE project was a joint effort between the Department of Energy and UNLV, to study the effects of carbon dioxide levels on the desert ecosystem.

# **Publications:**

- **Murtishaw, A.S.**, Heaney, C.H., Bolton, M.M., Sabbagh, J.J., Langhardt, M.A., and Kinney, J.W. An acute inflammatory response improves learning and memory deficits and reduces pathological markers in a diabetic animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *Submitted to Neurobiology of Aging*, May 2014. (Impact factor=6.166)
- Hensleigh, E., Murtishaw, A.S., Treat, M., Heaney, C.H., Bolton, M.M., Sabbagh, J.J., Kinney, J.W., and van Bruekelen, F. The effect of torpor on spatial memory in ground squirrels (*Spermophilus lateralis*) throughout a hibernation season. *Submitted to Animal Behavior*, May 2014. (Impact factor=3.405)

- Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., **Murtishaw, A.S.,** and Kinney, J.W., Magcalas, C.M., and Kinney, J.W. Postnatal alterations in GABA<sub>B</sub> receptor tone produce behavioral deficits and protein level differences in adulthood. *Submitted to Developmental Neuroscience*, June 2014. (Impact factor=3.41)
- Sabbagh, J.J., Murtishaw, A.S., Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., Langhardt, M.A., and Kinney, J.W. Chronic ketamine produces altered distribution of parvalbuminpositive cells in the hippocampus of adult rats. *Neuroscience Letters* 2013; 550: 69-74. (Impact factor=2.146)
- Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., Sabbagh, J.J., **Murtishaw, A.S.,** and Kinney, J.W. Deficits in emotional learning and memory in an animal model of schizophrenia. *Behavioral Brain Research* 2012; 233(1):35-44. (Impact factor=3.327)
- Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Murtishaw, A.S., Sabbagh, J.J., Magcalas, C.M., and Kinney, J.W. Baclofen administration alters fear extinction and GABAergic protein levels. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* 2012; 98(3):261-71. (Impact factor=3.860)
- Sabbagh, J.J., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Murtishaw, A.S., Ure, J.A., and Kinney, J.W. Differences in the effects of galanin and donepezil following changes in cholinergic tone. *International Journal of Neuroscience* 2012; 122(12):742-7. (Impact factor=1.216)
- Sabbagh, J.J., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., **Murtishaw, A.S.** and Kinney, J.W. Examination of spatial learning deficits in an animal model of schizophrenia. *Physiology and Behavior* 2012; 107(3):355-63. (Impact factor=3.160)

#### **Poster Presentations:**

- Murtishaw, A.S., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Belmonte, K.D., Hagins, P., Langhardt, M.A., and Kinney, J.W. Chronic inflammation in a diabetic model of Alzheimer's disease. Poster at the International Behavioral Neuroscience Society annual meeting Las Vegas, NV, Summer 2014.
- Belmonte, K.D., Murtishaw, A.S., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Kinney, J.W. An acute inflammatory response in a diabetic model of Alzheimer's disease. Poster presented at the Nevada IDeA Network of Biomedical Research Excellence Undergraduate Research Opportunity Program Poster Symposium, Summer 2013.
- Belmonte, K.D., **Murtishaw, A.S.**, Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Kinney, J.W. An acute inflammatory response in a diabetic model of Alzheimer's disease. Poster presented at the McNair Scholars Summer Research Program Poster Symposium, Fall 2013.

- Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., **Murtishaw, A.S.,** Langhardt, M.A., Kinney, J.W. Developmental alteration of GABA<sub>B</sub> receptor function results in behavioral deficits in adulthood. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting San Diego, CA 2013.
- Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., **Murtishaw, A.S.,** Kinney, J.W. The effects of baclofen and phaclofen on performance in the Morris water maze. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting San Diego, CA 2013.
- Langhardt, M.A., Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., **Murtishaw, A.S.**, Nagls, S., Kinney, J.W. Evaluation of ketamine-induced changes in spatial working memory and GABAergic systems. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting San Diego, CA 2013.
- Langhardt M.A., Bolton, M.M., **Murtishaw, A.S**., Heaney, C.F., Kinney, J.W. Ketamine Induced Deficits in Working Memory with Relevance to Schizophrenia. Oral presentation at the 21<sup>st</sup> Annual University of California, Berkeley McNair Scholars Symposium, August 2013.
- Langhardt, M.A., Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., **Murtishaw, A.S**., Kinney, J.W. (2013) Ketamine-induced deficits in working memory with relevance to schizophrenia. Poster presented at the 2013 UNLV McNair Scholars Research Symposium.
- Murtishaw, A.S., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Langhardt, M.A, Belmont, K.C.D, Kinney, J.W. An acute LPS-induced inflammatory response in a diabetic model of Alzheimer's disease. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting San Diego, CA 2013.
- Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., Sabbagh, J.J., **Murtishaw, A.S**., Magcalas, C.M., Kinney, J.W. Comparison of postnatal ketamine dosage on behavioral deficits in adulthood. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting New Orleans, LA 2012.
- Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Murtishaw, A.S., Sabbagh, J.J, Magcalas, C.M., Kinney, J.W. Changes in GABAB receptor tone in development produce behavioral deficits in adulthood. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting New Orleans, LA 2012.
- Magcalas, C.M., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., **Murtishaw, A.S**., Sabbagh, J.J., and Kinney, J.W. Alterations in GABA<sub>B</sub> in development produce behavioral and protein changes in adulthood. Poster presented at the Undergraduate Research Opportunity Program session, (Nevada InBRE), UNLV August 2012.
- Murtishaw, A.S., Sabbagh, J.J., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Magcalas, C.M., Langhardt, M.A., Kinney, J.W. Ketamine-induced behavioral impairments and alterations in hippocampal GABAergic neuron distribution. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting New Orleans, LA 2012.
- Sabbagh, J.J., **Murtishaw, A.S**., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Magcalas, C.M., Kinney, J.W. Chronic calcium dysregulation produces cognitive deficits and biochemical changes relevant to Alzheimer's disease. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting New Orleans, LA 2012.
- Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., Sabbagh, J.J., **Murtishaw, A.S**., Kinney, J.W. Comparison of an adult and developmental animal model of schizophrenia. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting Washington, D.C. 2011.
- Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., Murtishaw, A.S., Sabbagh, J.J, Kinney, J.W. An investigation of the effects of alterations in GABAB receptor function on learning and memory. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting Washington, D.C. 2011.
- Sabbagh, J.J., Bolton, M.M., Heaney, C.F., **Murtishaw, A.S**., Kinney, J.W. Deficits in emotional learning and memory in an animal model of schizophrenia. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting Washington, D.C. 2011.
- Heaney, C.F., Sabbagh, J.J., Bolton, M.M., Murtishaw, A.S., Santa-Ana, I., Kinney, J.W. An investigation of alterations in GABAergic tone in an animal model of schizophrenia. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting San Diego, CA 2010.
- Sabbagh, J.J., Heaney, C.F., Bolton, M.M., **Murtishaw, A.S.**, Ure, J.A., Kinney, J.W. Donepezil and galanin interactions in learning and memory and a model of cholinergic loss. Poster presented at Society for Neuroscience annual meeting, San Diego, CA 2010.

## **Oral Presentations:**

**Murtishaw, A.S.** Chronic inflammation in a diabetic model of Alzheimer's disease. Department of Psychology Research Highlights. University of Nevada, Las Vegas, March 2014.

**Murtishaw, A.S.** LPS-induced chronic inflammation in a model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. GPSA Research Forum, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, March 2014

- **Murtishaw, A.S.** Ketamine-induced behavioral impairments and alterations in hippocampal GABAergic neuron distribution. GPSA Research Forum, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, May 2013.
- **Murtishaw, A.S.** Acute inflammation in a diabetic model of Alzheimer's disease. Department of Psychology Proseminar, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, February, 2013.
- Murtishaw, A.S. GABAergic alteration and behavioral impairments from ketamine: A possible mechanism for efficacy in treatment resistant depression? Department of Psychology Proseminar, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, May 2013.

# Service:

- > Organizing committee for first annual Las Vegas Brain Bee (Spring 2014).
- Honors Thesis Committee Member for Krystal Belmonte (Spring 2014-Fall 2014).
- Mentor for undergraduate recipients of Nevada IDeA Network of Biomedical Research Excellence Undergraduate Research Opportunity Program (Summer 2013, Krystal Belmonte; Summer 2014, Patrick Hagins).
- Mentor for undergraduate McNair Scholars (Summer 2013, Krystal Belmonte).
- Head of Organizing Committee for LGBT Social to be held at Society for Neuroscience 2014 Annual Conference (Fall 2013-Present).
- Founding member and Board member of Nevada Brain Bee Association (Fall 2013-Current).
- Serve as a member of Q:UNLV. Q:UNLV is a council steered by UNLV's Vice President to promote diversity and inclusion for the LGBTQ staff and faculty at UNLV (2012-current).
- Organized outreach program as part of Society for Neuroscience Brain Awareness week of presentations elementary schools across Las Vegas (2012, 2013, 2014).
- Supervision and training of undergraduate research assistants on several techniques, including the Morris water maze, radial arm maze, Barnes maze, cued and contextual fear conditioning, acoustic startle, neural tissue collection, cryostat sectioning, western blotting, ELISA, and immunohistochemistry.
- Founding member of the University of Nevada, Las Vegas Graduate Neuroscience Association (2011 – present).
- Teaching and guidance of undergraduate students as a graduate student member of the University of Nevada, Las Vegas Neuroscience Journal Club (2009-2011).

# Awards:

International Behavioral Neuroscience Society 2014 Conference Presentation Winner, 2<sup>nd</sup> place.

- Awarded a travel grant from the University of Las Vegas Graduate and Professional Student Association to attend and present at the 2014 Society for Neuroscience annual conference in New Orleans, LA.
- Awarded a travel grant from the University of Las Vegas Graduate and Professional Student Association to attend and present at the 2014 Society for International Behavioral Neuroscience Society in Las Vegas, NV.
- Dean's Graduate Research Stipend Award (Summer 2014)
- > UNLV GPSA 2014 Research Forum Outstanding Presentation, 2<sup>nd</sup> place.
- Awarded a travel grant from the University of Las Vegas Graduate and Professional Student Association to attend and present at the 2013 Society for Neuroscience annual conference in San Diego, CA.
- Awarded a travel grant from the University of Las Vegas Graduate and Professional Student Association to attend and present at the 2012 Society for Neuroscience conference in New Orleans, LA.

# Memberships in Professional and Scientific Societies:

- Member of International Society of Neuroimmunology (2014 Current)
- Member of PsychoNeuroImmunology Research Society (2014 Current)
- Member of Alzheimer's Association International Society to Advance Alzheimer's Research and Treatment (2014 – Current)
- Member of National Organization of Gay and Lesbian Scientists and Technical Professionals (2013 – Current)
- Member of International Behavioral Neuroscience Society (2013 Current)
- Member of Sierra Nevada chapter of the Society for Neuroscience (2009 Current).
- Member of Society for Neuroscience (2008 Current);

# **Professional References**

Dr. Jefferson W. Kinney, Assistant Professor Department of Psychology University of Nevada, Las Vegas 4505 S. Maryland Parkway, Box 455030 Las Vegas, NV 89154-5030 Phone: (702) 895-4766 Email: jefferson.kinney@unlv.edu

Dr. Mark Ashcraft, Department Chair Department of Psychology University of Nevada, Las Vegas 4505 S. Maryland Parkway, Box 455030 Las Vegas, NV 89154-5030 Phone: (702) 895-0175 Email: mark.ashcraft@unlv.edu